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Authorized Representatives

Mr. Zhang Lidian
Mr. Li Dongming

Company Secretary

Ms. Ho Siu Pik

Principal Place of Business in the PRC

Yashili Industrial City

Chaoan Avenue

Chaozhou City

Guangdong 515638

The People’s Republic of China (the "PRC")

Principal Place of Business in
Hong Kong

Suites 801-2, 8th Floor
Top Glory Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong®

Room 1614, 16th Floor
Times Square Tower 2
1 Matheson Street
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong'

Company’s Registered Address

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Rooms 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Investor Relations Department

Office of the Board

Investor Enquiry Hotline

+86-768-5820546
+852-2845 1230

Investor Enquiry Email Address

ir@yashili.com

Stock Code

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 01230

Company’s Website

www.yashili.hk
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Principal Bankers

Industrial & Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Westpac Banking Corporation, Hong Kong
Bank of China, Chao'an Branch

Legal Advisers

Hong Kong law
Sullivan & Cromwell

Cayman law
Conyers, Dill & Pearman

Auditors

Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants

(1) As at 25 March 2015.

[2) Appointed on 6 June 2014.

(3] Resigned on 6 June 2014.

[4) Moved out on 18 November 2014.
[5) Moved in on 18 November 2014.

[6) Re-designated as a non-executive director and Vice-Chairman on 7 January 2015.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Yashili International
Holdings Ltd (the "Company” or “Yashili"), | hereby present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 20714 to all shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

2014 was an important year that marked the Group’s reform and
transformation and witnessed the Group’s progress in becoming an
international contender. In the wake of the industry’s tumultuous
transformation in 2013, the Group adjusted its strategies proactively in
2014. Specifically, by maintaining a steadfast and diligent business
attitude, the Group managed to intensify its reformative efforts and
consolidate its internal integrity, in an attempt to achieving a
breakthrough. Meanwhile, the Group was more open and candid in
seeking out international collaborations and succeeded in joining forces
with other powerful players. Such deeds have laid down a solid business
foundation whereby the Group could look to accomplish its five-year
strategic plan and become a leading international pediatric milk powder
enterprise.

With the earnest support from COFCO and China Mengniu Dairy
Company Limited (a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code: 2319) ("Mengniu
Dairy”) and its subsidiaries (the "Mengniu Group”), in October 2014,
Yashili, China Mengniu International Company Limited ("Mengniu
International”] and Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd ("“Danone Asia”)
entered into a subscription agreement. Following the transaction,
Danone Asia has become Yashili's second largest shareholder. Through
this collaboration, the Group could utilize the world-class leading
technology and expertise of Danone SA, Danone Asia and other
companies directly or indirectly controlled by Danone SA (the “Danone
Group”) regarding the pediatric milk formula industry in areas such as
product quality, safety and consumer value, to provide consumers in
China with more products that are safe, superior in quality and of
international standards. In the meantime, the Group has drawn upon
the Danone Group’s rich international experience to improve our own
operation and management standards. The three parties will seize this
opportunity to strengthen their strategic alliance on the shareholding
and operation level.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (contiNueD)
AR RIS =)

In 2014, the Group actively advanced the internal structural reform,
which established the new organizational structure led by the integrated
business division of production, supply and sales, and supported by
back-office systems of nine functional departments. At the same time,
continuous optimization was made to the authorization system to foster
a strong functional management and release the enthusiasm and
vitality towards self-management among internal management, while
enhancing the capabilities of change responsiveness and market
expansion.

In 2014, competition could be seen becoming increasingly fierce in the
milk powder industry, particularly in the pediatric milk formula industry,
and changes in channel were more obvious. Due to changes in
consumer behaviors and the impact of the rapidly expanding mobile
Internet, the traditional channels began to diminish. On the other hand,
online channels grew rapidly and the chain operation of the maternal
and child channel started to take shape. In response to such market
changes, the Group fully devoted itself to channel transformation. At
the same time, the Group also experimented with innovative marketing
models, which led the Group to invest in a membership bonus point
system. Accordingly, numerous membership stores were set up to
attract members, with an aim to increase consumer loyalty through
customized service and reaching wider population through the words-
of-mouth among consumers. Last but not least, in order to adjust to the
trend of channel development, the Group has set up a special
e-commerce team, in promoting online sales and developing channel-
specific products.

In 2014, leveraging on the Mengniu Group’s resource platform, the
Group has made tremendous brand upgrading efforts, fully committing
itself to building up an international, professional and premium brand
image. The Group also engaged in strategic collaboration with the Arla
Foods Group, and obtained endorsement from the Arla brand for the
Group’s Merla series. In order to meet domestic consumers’ rising
demand for high-end products, the Group also introduced the fully
imported “Arla Merla” products, which are expected to be launched in
April 2015. Moreover, the Group fully expedited the construction of its
New Zealand factory which was substantially completed by the end of
2014 and is expected to commence formal production in May 2015. This
ensures that the Group will adopt higher production standards and a
more sound management system so as to produce products that are
safer and superior in quality. Accordingly, the influence of the Group’s
products and brands will also be greatly enhanced.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (conrinuep)

In response to the State's increasing efforts to strengthen the
regulation and product standards of the pediatric milk powder industry,
the Group based its core value on product quality and embarked on a
mission to establish and cultivate a comprehensive quality monitoring
system that spans the entire value chain, from procurement to retail
sales. We insisted on overseeing the entire quality control process from
milk source to end product, performing layer upon layer of security
checks and inspecting every batch of products, so as to ensure the
quality and safety of our products. In April 2014, the Group engaged Mr.
who has been primarily
responsible for the quality control of our milk powders. Under his
direction, our quality control has been strictly carried out in accordance
with the technologies and standards of European dairy produce

Leif Haamann to be its Vice-President,

enterprises. As a result, the Group's level of control over the quality of
its products has been increased substantially. In October 2014, the
Group and Euroserum entered into a raw material supply collaboration
contract and formed a mutual strategic alliance, expediting the Group’s
goal to secure better quality and higher standard raw materials for its
products.

Moreover, by virtue of our persistent endeavors with regard to product
quality and safety, we have received enormous accreditation and
recognition from the industry and international institutions. In 2014, the
Group's pediatric milk powders under the Yashily brand all passed the
“mainstream brands random monthly inspection scheme” conducted by
the China Dairy Industry Association and the State’'s supervision and
inspection, and accordingly the Group was conferred the “Premium
Quality Award”. In addition, the Group’'s central laboratory, along with
137 of its inspection capacities, also passed the on-site inspection of
the China National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment
(CNAS], and received universal approval. Last but not least, all of the
Group's products under the Yashily brand were duly certified pursuant
to the BRC Global Standard for Food Safety, making the Group one of
the few BRC certified dairy producers in China.

In 2014, the overall milk powder industry experienced a slower growth
rate and new changes were observed in the industry’s market channels.
In addition, the Group was at the early stage of its channel
transformation and sales model reform. New sales models required
time and costs to fully materialize and new products were subject to
market and consumer approval and scrutiny. Consequently, the Group's
market performance in 2014 was sub-optimal, and there was room for
improvement regarding the full-year operating and financial results.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (contiNueD)
AR RIS =)

The industry is a volatile one, and China’s pediatric milk formula market
in 2015 as always, holds hidden opportunities as well as challenges.

In 2015, the domestic economy will develop further. This, along with the
influence of China’s “two children” policy and the increasing disposable
income per capita among urban residents, will induce a high-end
oriented product structure. Secondly, stricter industry standards allow
milk powder enterprises to ramp up their quality control and stricter
industry regulation could help cleanse the market environment and
regulate competitive behaviors. Moreover, more reasonable market
sentiments provide opportunities for strong and well-established
enterprises to capture competitive advantages and effective cost control
is made possible by a relatively low international raw milk powder price.
All of the said conditions will very likely provide the market
opportunities and growth potentials that will contribute to the Group’s
continuous development.

2015 is a year packed with challenges for the pediatric milk powder
industry. Will there be new changes in the industry’s landscape? Will
the trend in channel development become more apparent? And will the
competition among milk powder enterprises intensify? These are
among the many variables whose outcome remains to be seen.

The year of 2015 is the most crucial year for the Group to expedite its
reform, to leap forward and innovate, to consolidate its resources and
to materialize its well-accumulated potentials. Rallying from our
setback in 2014, we are now ever more determined to turn the tide and
achieve a rapid growth. In 2015, we look forward to more hopes and

expectations.

In order to improve the Group’s operation and management standards
and to fully utilize our corporate efficiency, in January 2015, we
appointed Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu to be the Group’s new chief executive
officer ("CEQ"). Mr. Lu is currently the non-executive chairman of
Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China, and has been with the
Danone Group and Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. ("Dumex”) for over 10
years, during which he has shown extraordinary strategic business and
market planning capabilities. On account of Mr. Lu's excellent grasp
and expertise of the PRC market for fast-moving consumer goods, we
are confident that under his leadership, Yashili will once again reach a
new vantage point and achieve a significant growth, and the Group's
results will gradually prove to be promising.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (conrinuep)

In 2015, taking “Focus, Brand, Resource” as our keywords, the Group
will make tremendous efforts to build up the core brand power of
Yashily and to increase the enterprise’s overall competitiveness. The
Group will take into consideration the advice from leading international
consultation teams and reshape and sort out the Yashily brand
accordingly, so as to create a more international and more professional
brand image. In addition, we will set our priority on our star product,
Yashily Super o -Golden series, all the while introducing more channel-
specific products in our endeavor to expand new markets and win over
favorable competitive position.

In 2015, the Group will deepen its strategic collaboration with the
Mengniu Group and the Danone Group. Specifically, we will actively
encourage the open sharing of successful experiences and promote the
comprehensive integration of superior resources. We will also create
more favorable conditions and opportunities for full-scale cooperation
among the parties and for the Group’s reform and upgrade in areas
such as supply chain, branding, channeling, product and sale. In doing
so, we look to ensure better and faster development for the Group.

Looking ahead, we will draw on the international platforms and the
resource pools of COFCO, the Mengniu Group and the Danone Group,
and combine our own advantages with various channels’ features while
following the industry’s trend. Through steadfast progress and a more
attentive, proactive and professional work ethic, we will strive to attain
a new breakthrough for the Group. All in all, we aim at achieving better
operating results and market performance in return for the continuous
support and attention from consumers, various bodies in the society
and our investors.

Sun Yiping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2015
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

H 325 09 Bil 35 SR

Year ended 31 December

BE12R3MBLEE

(All amounts in RMB million
unless otherwise stated)
Key results

Turnover
Gross profit
Operating profit

Profit attributable to equity holders

of the Company
Net operating cash flow (Note 1)
Basic earnings per share
(RMB cents) (Note 2
Diluted earnings per share
(RMB cents)
Net asset value per share
(RMBJ [Note 3]
Proposed final dividend
Dividend payout ratio

Key performance ratios

Profitability ratios
Gross profit margin
Operating profit margin
Net profit margin
Margin of profit attributable
to equity holders
Return to net asset
Net profit to total asset (Note 10)

Asset ratios

Current ratio (Note 4)

Inventory turnover days (Note 5)

Trade receivable turnover days
(Note 6)

Trade payable turnover days
(Note 7)

Debt to equity ratio [Note 8]

Gearing ratio (Note 9)

(BREFBIFIAN  IEEHE
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TEXA

S
£

5 7
EINSS L PN

A 441 2 5

EER SR EFE KT
FIREAR AT
(ARM) (i 52)
SREERT
(AR%5)
SRFAEM
(AR¥TE) (i 5E3)

R KA 8
B85 R %

FERGLR

&
ESRURS
A 0 ) R
pEZAIDERS
MR A ARG
it | &
FEEDHE
FNEREER(HE0)

EBEE
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) L EGNEE PN
(GET)
ZBHEMNFEAERY
(M5E7)
aEEEELE(HES)
BEABLE(HF)

2014

2,816.4
1,445.0
255.0

248.8
264.5

7.0

N/A RiE A

0.89
74.5
30.0%

51.3%
9.1%
8.8%

8.8%
7.8%
5.0%

2.9
191

62
55.3%
15.5%

2013

3,890.0
2,080.1
481.7

437.6
140.9

12.3

12.2

0.87
131.3
30.0%

53.5%
12.4%
11.3%

11.2%
14.1%
9.7%

1.8
179

70
45.2%
4.5%

Percentage
change

El=at]

-27.6%
-30.5%
-47.1%

-43.1%
87.7%

-43.1%

2.3%
-43.3%
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (contiNueD)

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash outflow

generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue before dilution for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by the

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue after dilution for the year.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year end.

Inventory balances at year end divided by cost of sales for the year and multiplied by
365 days.

Balances of trade and bills receivables at year end divided by turnover for the year
and multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills payables at year end divided by cost of sales for the year
and multiplied by 365 days.

Total liabilities at year end divided by equity attributable to total equity holders of the
Company at year end.

Total interest-bearing bank loans at year end divided by total assets at year end.

Profit for the year divided by total assets at year end.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Industry Review

In 2014, the world’'s economy maintained last year’s slow recovery, with
growth rate lower than expected in general and more diverse amongst
various economies. According to the forecast of International Monetary
Fund, the world’s economic growth rate in 2014 was expected at 3.3%,
which was substantially lower than previously expected and the pre-
crisis level. Political, economical and geopolitical factors all came into
play, bringing more intense impacts to the global economy, which
continued to undergo a deep adjustment period ever since the
international financial crisis.

In 2014, faced with a complicated domestic and overseas environment,
the Chinese government adhered to the principle of seeking progress
amidst stability. Reformative and innovative measures were
implemented throughout every aspect of the country’s socioeconomic
development while macroeconomic policies were kept consistent and
stable. The government managed to contrive more forward-looking and
well-directed regulatory measures and set into motion a comprehensive
in-depth reform. Meanwhile, the country’s economic transition was
accelerated with its structure both adjusted and upgraded. Overall, a
healthy economic development was maintained and the society was
kept harmonious and stable. According to the preliminary accounting
statistics announced by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the
annual Gross Domestic Product reached RMB63.6463 trillion,
representing an increase of 7.4% as compared to the previous year,
calculated by comparable prices. The annual total retail sales of social
consumer goods reached RMB26.2394 trillion, representing a nominal
growth of 12.0% from last year. Among which, retail sales of consumer
goods in urban areas amounted to RMB22.6368 trillion, representing a
growth of 11.8% as compared to the previous year. Retail sales of
consumer goods in rural areas amounted to RMB3.6027 trillion, which
increased by 12.9%. The annual consumer price increased by 2.0% as
compared to last year, in which the urban areas rose by 2.1% and the
rural areas went up by 1.8%. The annual national disposable income
per capita was RMB20,167, representing a growth of 10.1% from last
year (real growth of 8.0% after excluding price factors). In terms of
domicile, the disposable income per capita of urban residents was RMB
28,844, representing a growth of 9.0% from last year (real growth of 6.8%
after excluding price factors), while the disposable income per capita of
rural residents was RMB10,489, representing a growth of 11.2% from
last year (real growth of 9.2% after excluding price factors). The national
consumption expenditure per capita was RMB14,491, representing a
growth of 9.6% from last year (real growth of 7.5% after excluding price
factors).
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)
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In 2014, after the introduction of a series of austere control measures
in 2013, the Chinese government successively put forward a number of
incremental safety policies and measures for pediatric powder formula.
In May 2014, the China Food and Drug Administration, in accordance
with the requirements as set out under the “General Principles for the
Examination of Production License for Pediatric Milk Formula (2013)",
carried out production license inspection on 133 pediatric milk formula
producers nationwide, among which 82 producers were granted new
production licenses while the remaining 51 either failed to pass the
inspection or applied for extension or cancellation. In June 2014, the
State Council announced the “Work Scheme for the Merger and
Reorganization of Pediatric Milk Formula Enterprises”, which stated
that the goal was to procure, by the end of 2015, the formation of
approximately 10 major pediatric milk formula corporate groups
capable of generating over RMB2 billion annual sales income and that
the 10 largest state-owned brands should reach an industry
concentration level of 65%; the scheme also set out the target to be
reached by the end of 2018. Such policies and measures were all set to
enhance the concentration level and entry barrier of the pediatric milk
powder industry in China, and to strictly monitor the quality of pediatric
milk powder, thereby restoring the public's confidence in domestically
produced milk powder. In October 2014, Yashili, Mengniu International
and Danone Asia jointly entered into a subscription agreement and the
completion of which took place in February 2015, making Danone Asia
the second largest shareholder of the Group. The Danone Group's
investment in the Group helps to bring about a synergy between its
international expertise in pediatric milk powder and the Group’s well-
established sales network in China, and as a result providing more
pediatric milk powder products of international standards to domestic
consumers.

In 2014, spurred by the increasing influence of mobile Internet on
consumers’ behaviors and buying habits, the online channel has
become the most rapidly expanding channel. Meanwhile, maternal and
child channel, in particular chain maternal and child channel, showed a
substantial growth and has become the channel possessing the largest
market share. On the other hand, traditional channels could be seen
shrinking in comparison, leading to a slowdown in the growth of the
overall milk powder market. As a result, it became a general trend in
the industry for milk powder enterprises to introduce specialized
products for online sales and maternal and child channel, so as to
maintain their favorable competitive edge within the industry.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

In 2014, the market was marked by the competitive promotional and
discount activities between the existing milk powder enterprises that
successively introduced new products to win over market share, and a
number of newly established milk powder enterprises, resulting in an
increasingly intense competition in the overall milk powder market and
driving products’ selling prices down to reasonable levels. In addition,
starting from the second half of the year, the price for international
dairy product supply steadily decreased and price for raw milk powder,
in particular for whole milk powder and skim milk powder, reached the
lowest in recent years, presenting a favorable opportunity for domestic
enterprises engaging in the processing of imported raw dairy products.
While the enterprises could alleviate the pressure relating to cost, the
milk powder market would likely experience increasingly keen
competition.

2014 was a period of reform marked by numerous uncertainties for
China’s pediatric milk formula industry. Nevertheless, with the Chinese
government’s continual attention to and strict control over the quality of
milk powder, better consolidation and management of pediatric milk
powder enterprises and the market's improving competition
environment, it is expected that China’s milk powder market will gain a
positive momentum on the whole.

Corporate Profile

Established in 1983, the Group mainly focuses on the production and
sales of pediatric milk formula products and nutrition food since 1998.
In 2002, we launched the Scient brand pediatric milk formula. Our head
offices are situated in Chaozhou and Guangzhou, both located in
Guangdong province, with plants in Guangdong, Shanxi, Heilongjiang,
etc., while the factory in New Zealand is currently under preparation
and construction, and is expected to commence operation in 2015.

In 2013, the Mengniu Group entered into strategic cooperation with the
Group by way of a general offer, thereby becoming the Group’s
controlling shareholder. In 2014, the Group, Mengniu International and
Danone Asia jointly entered into a subscription agreement and the
completion of which took place in February 2015, making Danone Asia
the second largest shareholder of the Group. Through strategic
cooperation and resources integration and by taking advantage of its
complementary strengths with COFCO, the Mengniu Group and the
Danone Group, the Group is in a better position to develop into a milk
powder enterprise with a wider global presence.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)
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Our business model incorporates high brand recognition, premium
imported dairy raw materials, proprietary formulae, and the unwavering
commitment to establishing a high standard quality supervision and
quality assurance system. For aspects such as supply, production and
distribution channels, quality control measures are improved
continuously in the pursuit of becoming the world's first-class
enterprise in the research and production of pediatric milk formula. The
Group strictly follows the national standard to formulate a
comprehensive quality assurance plan, which is fully implemented on
the corporate level, and strives to provide safe and premium products
to consumers.

The Group is a leading enterprise in China’s pediatric milk formula
industry and has two well recognized brands that sell various pediatric
milk powder products that cater for the needs of different consumer
segments. We also sell four types of nutrition food, namely soymilk
powder and pediatric rice cereal under the Yashily brand, cereal under
the Zhengwei brand as well as milk powder for adults and teenagers
under the Youyi brand. The Group also has a leading position in the
soymilk powder market in China.

Business Highlights

Leveraging on the product series under well recognized brands such as
Yashily, Zhengwei and Youyi, we strive to develop reliable
nutrition products for consumers, with a view to facilitating the healthy

Scient,

growth of infants and toddlers nationwide and satisfying the nutritional
needs of adults. Our business model incorporates key factors including
premium imported dairy raw materials, proprietary formulae, advanced
manufacturing system and professional marketing team with thorough
knowledge on local consumer markets, and thus enables us to offer
products of guaranteed quality to the mass market.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

1. Introduction by products

Pediatric milk formula Products

We mainly develop pediatric milk formula products to satisfy
the health and nutritional needs of infants and toddlers
during daily feeding. Such products can serve as a major
supplementary source of nutrition to breast milk for infants
and toddlers. All of our branded pediatric milk formula
products are mainly produced from premium imported raw
materials. We are devoted to developing the pediatric milk
formula with the most ideal nutrition mix to closely cater to
the needs of infants and toddlers during different stages of
their growth and development. The Group has established
different pediatric milk formula product lines aiming at
target customers of different consumption levels. The
Group's pediatric milk formula product series, namely the
Yashily Super a-Golden series, the Ambery Golden series
and the Arla Merla series through cooperation with Arla
Foods Group, possess quality nutrition and aim at
consumers in high-end market. The Group's core products,
Yashily a-Golden series and Scient Golden series, mainly
focus on mid to high-end consumer groups, while Yashily's
Newwitt series and Scient’s Ordinary Pack Series mainly
focus on mid-end consumer groups. Yashily’'s New Formula
series mainly focuses on low to middle-end consumer
groups. In 2014, the Group developed 13 new formulae for
pediatric milk powder which passed the national QS
inspection, creating the condition for enriching our product
lines in the market.

Nutrition food

The Group also sells four types of nutrition food, namely
milk powder for adults and teenagers under the Youyi brand,
soymilk powder, nutritious pediatric rice cereal and cereal
under the Yashily, and cereal series under the Zhengwei
brand. Some of these products contain special nutritional
profiles, catering to consumers with special needs while
other products are suitable for the general population. In
2014, the Group continued to make numerous improvement
and optimization efforts on the quality of its products, so as
to continue to meet the needs of consumers.
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Reforming marketing model and channel
transformation

The year of 2014 marked the first year of the Group’s reformed
marketing model. Following an innovative and break-through
seeking approach, the Group has launched a service system
featuring a membership bonus point system. The Group strived to
establish a direct communication short cut with consumers by
means of information platforms and data support; to enhance our
specific service capability through an enormous data base and a
customized CRM system; and to extend our reach to wider
consumer segments by carrying out words-of-mouth marketing
among targeted consumers. By the end of 2014, the Group has set
up more than 27,000 membership stores, with members reaching
over 1,100,000. In 2014, the Group has launched more than 6,600
consumer-communication events, and organized more than 220
baby nursing feature events nationwide in collaboration with the
country’'s leading baby nursing experts, with more than 5,300
participants. During the events, we had face-to-face interactions
with the consumers and we exerted great efforts in promoting
and spreading the knowledge of healthy gestation, child rearing
and teaching. The Group has put into action its commitment to the
maternal and child undertaking, and greatly improved the Yashily
brand’s influence and market recognition.

In respect of channel building, the Group, by backing on its strong
and comprehensive sales network, continued to cover all regions
in Mainland China, with channel networks fortified in third-tier
and rural cities and deeper business penetration into first- and
second-tier cities. Meanwhile, the Group has adjusted its channel
expansion strategy in accordance with the development trend of
channels within the industry. In 2014, in the aspect of maternal
and child channel, particularly chain maternal and child channel,
the Group has launched over 20,000 maternal and child stores in
total, laying down the ground work for the sale of existing
products and the introduction of new products. Moreover, the
Group introduced exclusive product series “#35%{# (Le Pei Jian)”
for the chain maternal and child channel at the end of the year, in
order to support the development of the maternal and child
channel. As for online channels, the Group has set up a specialist
team dedicated to the expansion of e-commerce business, and
introduced the specially designed online product “a-Golden
Pack+" which is distinguished from its offline counterpart, in an
attempt to achieve positive market performance. Meanwhile, by
combining the features of online sales, the Group organized and
encouraged distributors to actively partake in online commerce,
and explored new mutually beneficial models with distributors, in
hope of creating new potentials for future profit growth.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

In respect of system management, the Group continued to
optimize its sales management system and incentive system in
order to motivate internal business staff as well as external
distributors. Moreover, by employing the EMP information
platform and membership bonus point system, the Group
succeeded in managing and overseeing its sales turnover figures,
expenses, results indicators and services in a precise and specific
manner, which did not only enhance the Group’s level of control
over its distributors and service quality to consumers, but also
guaranteed the effective, thorough and smooth implementation of
its sales strategies. Accordingly, our product distribution and
marketing efforts were also expedited.

Strengthening quality monitoring and control

We are dedicated to creating and continuously improving a
comprehensive system of quality control spanning across the
entire value chain from procurement to retail sales. As dairy
material is the key ingredient in pediatric milk formula, we have
carefully selected reputable suppliers located outside of China
such as Fonterra Limited and Synlait Milk Limited of New Zealand,
to secure reliable and high-quality raw materials for the Group. In
October 2014, the Group and Euroserum entered into a raw
material supply collaboration contract and formed a mutual
strategic alliance, promoting the Group’'s goal to secure better
quality and higher standard raw materials. For daily inspection,
the Group’'s head offices as well as all subsidiaries spend a
tremendous amount of money every year on purchasing various
advanced inspection equipment, including High Performance
Liquid Chromatography and Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer.
The Company conducts strict self-inspection on every batch of
products. The number of samples for each batch of products is no
less than 5, and a total of 64 inspections are carried out for each
batch of milk powder. Following layers of inspection, the Group
can assure its product safety and engage in high quality production
in accordance with international standards.

E 51 R E 73 il )

EgeRTH AKETHELHEE
BEBRMBERESH - AMBAE
BABURINBREBREGN - WHE
BEMPERFEMEBERO AR B
RTREZRHERBEE AWE
REZE ARERER BALRE
BE RS THEHBNEEKFEM
HHBENRBEE RETHER
RH SR ERMEGRAT METE
an At 388 A T 35 R

mEEEEEER
AREBRHIBEUR —ERRBETE
MEBEKEEENZ2OEEELRR
WAE SRR -BHRIAGMERENR
RAEDHOEZRGD  AEBERBKME
2 (i B 32 S B9 3 78 B8 18 K PR (Fonterra
Limited) ~ ¥ %€ 5 (Synlait Milk Limited)
SEMEHERALNEEIEM/A EMN
BEMERERRM-2014F108 K"EHH
BONILE (A R) %8 —HREHE EH
AR TEHEBEAEERE -
ESHTAEENERUNFRELFEES
MESBZENERRE - EB ERA
P AEERHFERESFRAREER
EREESBILEARADMRERES
MBERHEEEE RTFREESF AR
RIBEBHRITHSEHEE R S AE
MMBMETDRSD - HER T
LIRS BEGSE HRLE &
RIZBEREEREZSEMNEEE
E o

21



22

Yashili International Holdings Lid Annual Report 2014

We insist that the quality management of all products from milk
source to end products shall strictly follow the following five
principles: (1) procure premium imported dairy raw materials and
impose strict check upon delivery of raw materials; (2] adopt
nutritional and safe formulae that are comprehensive and sound
and use advanced production facilities of international standards
for production; (3] impose stringent quality management
procedures and a strict inspection system, and use advanced and
superior inspection equipment; (4) strictly enforce systematic
management on the whole supply chain from raw materials to
production and from inspection to distribution; and (5)
continuously attract outstanding talents to conduct production
management in a highly efficient manner.

In August 2010, the Group became the first to establish a Food
Quality and Safety Committee (the “Committee”), which was
formed by worldwide experts and reports to the Board directly.
The Committee is a regulatory body on food safety, comprising six
leading and renowned experts from the United States, New
Zealand, Australia, China and Hong Kong, covering academic
fields such as food research, dairy industry research, food
supervision, microorganism and physical and chemical research
as well as pediatric nutrition. The Committee introduced an
industry-leading operation model and offered strategic guidance
on the relevant standards and procedures of the Group. The
Committee also provided industry information related to food
safety and quality control, and assessed the quality control system
of the Group. As such, the Group’s quality and safety management
structure was assured to be of the world’s leading standards. The
Committee was also able to at any time conduct independent
investigation on the Group’s quality and safety structure. In
December 2014, the Committee inspected our milk powder
production units and laboratories, and provided professional
guidelines on the Group’s production management, quality control
and product research and development direction.

In April 2014, the Group recruited Mr. Leif Haamann, aka “the
strictest brain”, from Denmark to be our Vice-President, who has
been primarily responsible for the quality control of the Group’s
milk powders. In accordance with the technologies and standards
of European dairy manufacturers, the Group’s level of control over
the quality of its products increased substantially.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

In July 2014, the Group successfully passed the regulatory
assessments of management systems, including, amongst others,
ISO9001, ISO14001, OHSAS18001, HACCP and GMP.

In November 2014, all of the Group’s products successfully
obtained BRC certificates, making the Group one of the few BRC
certified dairy manufacturers in China.

In December 2014, our central laboratory's 137 inspection
capabilities all passed the on-site inspection of the China National
Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment (CNAS), and
received recognition.

In 2014, the Group's pediatric milk powders under the “Yashily”
brand all passed the “mainstream brands random monthly
inspection scheme” conducted by the China Dairy Industry
Association and the State’s supervision and inspection, and
accordingly the Group was conferred the “Premium Quality Award
in 2014".

Accelerating the upgrading and re-shaping of
our brand

In respect of brand building, the Group hired Ms. Bai Baihe as our
new spokesperson of the Yashily brand, and delivered to audience
the loving and caring image of the Yashily brand through the
television advertisement based on the theme of “love with your
heart (BE A1), significantly increasing the brand’s influence.

In 2014, the Group adjusted its brand advertising and promotion
strategies. Specifically, the Group focused on promoting, both
online and offline, products under the “Super a-Golden” series
and the “a-Golden” series as well as on achieving multi-
dimensional and cross coverage by means of broadcasting via
CCTV, satellite television channels, provincial and local channels,
and displaying on the Internet and printed media, which greatly
enhanced the Yashily brand's and products popularity and
reputation.

In 2014, “Yashily Moms & Babies Love with Your Heart”, the
Group’s large-scale interactive and integrated brand promotion
and marketing event, succeeded in gaining more exposure and
participation. Meanwhile, with the launch of “Yashily Moms &
Babies Bonus Points Mall” (vip.yashili.cn)” and APP downloads
from mobile terminals, the Group successfully attracted more
new members and achieved higher exchange of product bonus
points, which did not only provided more material benefits for
consumers but also improved the Group’s communication with its
members.
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In 2014, the Group put greater emphasis on the importance of
content marketing and allocated more resources to Internet-
based media. In order to adapt to the shift in young mothers’
media preference, the Group continuously improved the operation
of its “Two Ws” (Weibo and WeChat) platforms and maintained the
release of quality content updates, which involved fresh and
interesting contents aimed at attracting consumers, thus forming
a remarkable fan base that supports the Yashily brand. Moreover,
the Group launched lovely and lively animations to illustrate
Yashily’s advantages in terms of the quality of its milk source,
production management, quality traceability, etc. The Group also
produced a warm and touching microfilm about family bonding
and universal love, inciting resonance among parents of the
younger generations. The Group also significantly enhanced the
brand’s image by securing the sole title sponsorship of major web
series.

Due to our brand-building and our continuous brand influence
over the years, the Group was bestowed the title of "Key
Enterprise of One-stop Service in Guangdong Province 2013-2015"
(2013-2015F EEREEBERBEHEH) and "500 Most
Valuable Brands in China” (FE&xA BEME50058). In the fifth
selection of China’s industry iconic brands, the Group was
nominated and ranked No. 4 in domestic dairy industry with a
brand value of RMB12.626 billion.

New product research and development and
structural optimization

In respect of pediatric milk powder, as at November 2014, the
Group has successively completed new product development for
13 pediatric milk formula series, among which the new products
of the "#41%{2 (Le Pei Jian)”, "B &2 (Bei Zhi Jian)” and "H %58 (Bei
Zhi Neng)” series under the Yashily brand were launched by the
end of 2014. The remaining new products stood ready to
commence production successively, and the relevant promotion
and sales would be conducted accordingly depending on market
demand. Furthermore, we have replaced cow's milk fat with
vegetable oil and OPO lipid, and the resulting fatty acid profile was
more akin to that of breast milk; casein phosphopeptides were
added to certain new products to facilitate calcium absorption;
prebiotics and probiotics were added to certain new products to
improve the bowel health of infants and toddlers. The Group also
effectively enhanced its R&D standard by improving the
procedures and adopting advanced quality control methods for its
research and development.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

For the pediatric rice cereal, we have conducted further research
and development to enhance the brand new high-protein series of
nutrition milk rice cereal for infants and toddlers. The rice cereal
series’ overall content of premium cow milk proteins has been
increased to better satisfy the nutritional needs of infants and
toddlers. The pediatric milk rice cereal has successfully
commenced production and been made for sale.

In respect of the milk powder for adults, we have completed the
relevant research and development procedures including the
development of new raw materials, experiments on product
preservation, formula creation as well as ascertaining the main
indicators and consumer propositions for the products. The Group
has also developed adult milk powders featuring plant sterol and
high quality functional cow milk proteins, with the ability to
improve cardio-cerebrovascular conditions and bone health as
the products” main functional proposition, so as to better meet
the needs of consumers and improve the overall quality of milk
powder for adults under the Yashily brand.

As market competition for soymilk powder and dissolvable cereal
products remained intense, the Group considerably enriched the
flavors of its soymilk powders by improving the production
process and formula, and commenced the full production of the
newly-enriched soymilk powders. For cereals, through innovation
and improving upon five existing mixed nuts oatmeal series, the
Group managed to enhance their appeal to consumers, and
develop new oatmeal products in three different flavors as a
reserve, expanding the Group's product profile and strengthening
its competitive edge in respect of dissolvable food products.
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Business Prospects

Influences of policies

In 2015, it is expected that the world's economic growth will
maintain its recovery trend, with growth rate higher than the last
year. Although domestic economy still faces challenges in
general, it should nevertheless be able to maintain a medium to
high tier growth with the support from economic fundamentals
and reformative factors.

With the increasing attention and concern by the general public
and consumers to the food industry, particularly the pediatric milk
powder industry, it is expected that the Chinese government will
continue to implement regulatory measures and policies in order
to enhance the product safety and quality of the milk powder
industry, especially those of the pediatric formula sector.
Moreover, the government will encourage and facilitate
collaboration and integration among corporates in the dairy
industry, while more actively engaging in straightening and
eliminating sub-standard medium to small scale enterprises. By
rectifying and standardizing corporate governance of dairy
manufacturers and the industry order in such a manner, the
government seeks to promote the healthy development of the
milk powder industry.

In addition, the “two children for single-child parent policy”
continued to be made applicable and implemented across the
country. Meanwhile, economic conditions and consumers’
disposable income also improved steadily. Such circumstances
will indirectly encourage parents of the right age to raise a second
child and the country’s birth rate will remain relatively stable as a
result. Under the State’s new criteria and policies, the production
conditions and competitive environment of the domestic pediatric
milk powder industry will become more and more agreeable, and
so too will consumers’ confidence. Both factors will help
contribute to the healthy development of the milk powder
industry.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

Industry trend

By virtue of the country’s consistently stable birth rate and the
progressive implementation “two children for single-child parent
policy”, China’'s baby care market, particularly the pediatric milk
powder market, has grown significantly. It is expected that China’s
birth rate in 2015 will be similar to that of last year, and the
overall milk powder industry’s sales growth will slow down.
Presently, the pediatric milk powder market faces diverse
developmental directions. Specifically, overseas online shopping
and overseas intermediate purchase will become the new buying
trend and consumers’ changing product demand structure will
cause the high-end and ultra high-end products to become the
driving factor for the overall category growth.

In 2015, the advent of mobile Internet will further transform
consumers’ purchasing behaviors and consumption habits. Online
channels continue to show a rapid and substantial growth, laying
down pressure on traditional channels, which face a grim
prospect on account of their slackened growth and dwindling
business scale. The maternal and child channel, by virtue of its
specific, convenient and multi-product profile channel advantages
and sales features, has become the largest channel in the market
and will continue to be preferred by consumers. As a result, its
sales turnover is expected to maintain a steady growth. However,
due to limited store scale, cash flow issues and sub-optimal
management standard, the operation and profitability of some
individual maternal and child stores will slowly dwindle while
maternal and child chain stores will make further progress.

Due to a drop in raw milk powder price and a shift in the
competitive environment in China, competition among milk
powder enterprises also became more intense. Milk powder
enterprises thus began to adopt an array of approaches and
measures such as changing operating strategy, fortifying
operation and management, introducing diverse products,
reinforcing channel exploration and mergers and acquisitions, in
hope of improving operating status and winning a favorable
market space and competitive position.
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Eq 43 itifr ()

Corporate strategies

In 2015, the Group, in consideration of the influence of policies
and the change of the industry trend, will adopt more proactive
and effective strategies of development, such as devoting to
operation model reform and channel transformation, intensifying
its efforts in brand upgrading and re-shaping, continuing to
enhance the level of quality control, strengthening the research
and development and promotion of its new products,
strengthening project construction and resources integration and
strengthening structural reform and incentive mechanism. We
will also continue to capture more market shares and increase
our overall profitability in order to develop into a stronger and
bigger enterprise. Our major initiatives will be as follows:

— Intensifying the Reform of Operation Model and
the Exploration of Channel Transformation
With COFCO, the Mengniu Group and the Danone Group
having made strategic investments and the New Zealand
factory ready to commence production, the year of 2015 will
be a crucial year for the Group, in terms of the consolidation
of internal and external resources, further reformative and
innovative endeavors and the realization of the Group's well-
accumulated potentials. Taking “Focus, Brand, Resource”
as our keywords, the Group will put tremendous efforts in
building the core brand power of Yashily and increasing its
products” market competitiveness. “Focus” is set on three
aspects, namely the key brands, key channels and key
products of the Yashily brand, respectively; “Brand” is
carried across through our key product “Super o -Golden”
to appeal to the target consumers’ rising demand for high-
end products in the milk formula industry, thus building a
high-end brand image for Yashily; “Resource” from various
platforms including the Mengniu Group, the Danone Group,
Yashili and New Zealand are consolidated to wholeheartedly
forge an international Yashily brand.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

In respect of product branding, in 2015, the Yashily brand
will be our core of products and the Group will identify
target consumer segments and explore market potentials.
The Group will also, in accordance with its brand strategy,
mobilize its premium resources in terms of research and
development, quality control, supply, etc. to enhance the
professional standards of branding, channels, consumer
research, and to optimize its online and offline product
structure. At the same time, the Group also seeks to enrich
and perfect the Yashily brand’s product line and to build up
a pediatric milk powder enterprise image of international
standards that centers on the Yashily “Super o -Golden”
series across all channels while meeting the demand of
others product in various channels. In 2015, the Group
collaborated with Arla Group in bringing in fully-imported
“Arla Merla” products, to satisfy domestic consumers’ need
for high-end products. In 2015, the Group will further build
up a professional, premium and international brand image
at the industry, channel and consumer levels, thereby
increasing core products’ competitiveness and creating
strong brand assets.

In respect of channel exploration, the Group will cope with
the industry’'s channel development trend with its rich
experience in channel management and its strong terminal
control capability. In 2015, the Group will adopt a channel
strategy which puts the promising maternal and child
channel as the main focus and e-commerce as auxiliary
while fortifying the Group’s competitive edge in the mall &
supermarket channel. From product planning, market
promotion, channel management, expense co-management
to consumer feedback, the Group will operate all of its
channels in a comprehensive and multi-facet manner, and
further increase its investment into the maternal and child
channel in various means. Meanwhile, the Group will
monitor and manage its channel products through
professional marketing teams and systematic technologies
and software, ensuring the prompt promotion, distribution
and circulation of its products. The Group will a
its distributors with reliable data services and support
platforms, thus ensuring more precise channel operation
and distributor management. In addition, the Group will
continue to improve and optimize its marketing approach

lso provide

based on the membership bonus point system and the CRM
system, so as to enhance its marketing exactitude and
consumer and brand loyalty, and in turn consolidates and
enhances the Group’'s channel management and
competitiveness.
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In respect of team building, the Group will consolidate
internal resource allocation pursuant to the development
strategy of its products and channels. The Group will also
optimize the establishment of functional teams and divisions
and strive for more diverse and professional team building.
In the meantime, by employing competitive incentive
management system and remuneration package, the Group
will manage its teams in a concise and precise manner,
thereby more effectively promoting rapid sales growth and
obtaining better market performance.

Strengthening Brand Upgrading and Re-shaping
Brand competition is the integrated competition comprising
quality management and brand power. In 2015, in response
to the exponential development of the mobile Internet and
the shift in consumers’ media preference, the Group will
focus on the publicity of the Yashily core brand value.
Specifically, by conducting multiple-layers of advertising
and promotion that combine traditional media with new
media and cover both online and offline media, the Group
will seek to reach target consumer groups in their
fragmentized leisure hours. The Group will also look to
enhance customer loyalty through its mature channel
operating and advertising capabilities, thereby supporting
the continuous sales growth of existing products.

In respect of traditional media, the Group will carefully
select superior broadcasting platform. In particular, the
Group will strive for better precision and exactitude when
choosing sales platforms in key regions. The Group will fully
utilize the features of the television medium and niche
advertising when conducting mass advertising of the brand.

In respect of new media, the Group will adopt an innovative
advertising approach. Specifically, the Group will put greater
emphasis on content output from Two Ws and on creative
marketing such as Internet videos, cementing the synergy
between Internet videos and newer media such as baby-
rearing mobile terminals. Thus, the Group can expect to
effectively increase the influence of the Yashily brand on
parents of the younger generations.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

In respect of brand re-shaping, the Group will make greater
efforts to collaborate with reputable advertising and
consultation companies in bringing in more advanced ideas
and professional advice. The Group will participate
throughout the brand building and product sorting process,
especially with regard to products from the Yashily Super
o -Golden series, the Ambery series and the Arla Merla
series. Furthermore, the Group will conduct branding layout
and management in relation to the New Zealand factory and
its products. All in all, the goal is to refine the core value of
products and facilitate innovative product research and
development, thereby accomplishing the re-shaping and
upgrading of our brands.

In 2015, the Group will keep up its integrated branding
efforts. Specifically, the Group will collect market
information and consumer opinions and conduct
complementary and synchronized online and offline
marketing, so as to deepen target consumer groups’
impression of the brand. The Group will make use of various
branding activities and media combo to facilitate the launch
of new products. Moreover, the Group will deliver to
consumers a ‘vigorous & healthy” brand image, thus
accumulating brand assets and enhancing brand reputation.

Improving quality control and monitoring

The Group will continue to improve the quality control of its
products. By passing four major security systems, namely
100% imported milk source, the International Quality
Supervision and Food Safety Committee, a state-level
parenting specialist team and the adoption of strict national
and international standard, the Group seeks to provide
quality, safe and premium products to the mass consumer
market. By adhering to the strict quality control over every
end product from milk source to end product inspection and
maintaining thorough monitoring on the whole supply chain
from procurement to production and to distribution, the
Group ensures every product is fresh and 100% up to
standards.

At the same time, the Group will continue to actively
participate in international activities and projects that are
conducive to the enhancement of product quality and safety.
The Group will raise the level of its food safety control in line
with international standard. The Group will also continue to
strengthen the cooperation with independent third-party
authorities, supervision and inspection authorities, in order
to play its part in promoting the healthy and orderly
development of the entire China’s dairy industry.
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Enhancing product research and development and
new product promotion

In 2015, the Group will continue to increase its investment in
product research and development while consolidating and
optimizing the product structure. Moreover, the Group will
also boost the production technology and optimize product
formula, altogether in an attempt to provide consumers in
China with more product series that are of higher quality
and safety standards.

In respect of pediatric milk powder, the Group plans to
continuously consolidate and improve its new products and
launch new products. We will also develop probiotics milk
powder and supplement packs, so as to enrich the product
types and meet the demands of consumers of different
consumption levels.

In respect of pediatric rice cereal, in order to enrich our
product types, the Group will extensively explore
supplementary food ingredients which could meet the
requirements of supplementary for infants and toddlers.
The Group will develop more flavors for its nutritious milk
rice cereals so as to enrich product variety.

For milk powder for adults, particularly in respect of milk
powder for middle-aged and elderly people, the Group will
mainly focus on developing two new product series aiming
at improving the bowel health, digestion, absorption and
bone health of middle aged and elderly people. For the
upgrading of Youyi adult series milk powder, additives such
as Galactooligosaccharides (GOS) will be added to improve
bowel health.

In respect of cereal and soymilk powder, the Group will
develop new products with high market potential and
continue to improve existing products. We will also upgrade
and continuously improve the formula of cereal and
dissolvable type product in accordance with the ongoing
changes in market demands.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)
E 12 [B51 58 8 13 i )

PORE fm b B A iR

20154 REEKRHENRHE
mitENRANE  ZEMTE
TENEMERE RARET
2 BltERET RTEEE
ERPFEEZEEEETELEZNRT

B e

B R SE - B
ERETRENRIL  EERE
572 S b AR B R N i
HODHRBRE YEERS
B OUARE TR E KT EEE
SEES

BHRAMITE  REHREY
RBERAFTOEHEERK  ME
FELZORMERD AR NEE
B g e

BRADHITE  EEREFENHH
Em TEREEIRFTEFE
B2 R - B R B B 2 R A
MERIFER: HEERER
B RN B ) HE 1T DR B FL AR
EEPRBERFENERITR -

EENEBBAE BREAT
BEAGFES THRERE
% ARRETE 205
B HERHBESRTRS
PR 5 B -



HrMERZERERAS 2014FFR

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

Strengthening overseas project construction and
resource integration

In 2015, the Group will push forward the completion, trial
production and formal production of our New Zealand
factory, and oversee the whole production process in
accordance with New Zealand’s high regulation standards
on pharmaceuticals. Consequently, the Group can ensure
the production of products of superior quality and higher
safety standards to meet the needs of domestic consumers,
and thus continue to fortify and expand the Group's
competitive edges over other producers in China.

In 2015, the Group will continue to leverage on the Mengniu
Group, COFCO and the Danone Group for their strong
support and more advanced platforms. In addition, the
Group will conduct thorough research and assessment on
the businesses of Dumex and Mengniu Arla in order to fully
utilize the synergy and strive to obtain the highest level of
support from and collaboration with them in areas such as
branding, resources, management and technology.
Meanwhile, the Group will take in the international
collaboration experience of the Danone Group and Arla
Foods, in order to increase the influence and market
competitiveness of the Group’'s brands and to better
promote more rapid and vigorous corporate growth.

Strengthening structural reform and the
establishment of incentive mechanism

In 2015, the Group will continue with last year's work on
strengthening structural reform and consolidating
professional consultation institutions. The Group will also
leverage on advanced management platform and technology
system to optimize our first class structural organization.
Efforts will be made continuously to fine tune the
management of basic level management personnel and key
business personnel and to boost our organizational climate.
Last but not least, authorization procedures and duty
allocation will be carried out more effectively in order to
establish a mechanism which effectively connects different
departments and reacts rapidly to changes. The Group will
also strive hard to enhance its professional organizing
capabilities in making market decisions and improve the
overall efficiency and management standard of the
organization.
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In 2015, the Group will further speed up the establishment
of our incentive mechanism and strengthen internal
objective management and comprehensive budget planning,
in hope of expediting the Company’s objectives through an
effective incentive mechanism. The Group will also lay down
a dynamic functional platform to support the Company’s
business development. In addition, through measures such
as adjusting the remuneration structure and boosting sales
incentives, the Group hopes to ensure better performance
orientation and to raise the morale as well as the executive
power of our staff, thus expediting the Group's operational
and management objectives and our sales target.

Management system

In 2015, the Group will actively respond and promptly adjust in
order to reform and improve the corporate governance
mechanism. In respect of our operation, the Group will enhance
the accountability and delegation procedures in order to shorten
the decision-making process. We will formulate a specific
incentive system which is performance-oriented and could
enhance our control, so as to prevent risks and further improve
the operation management system which matches responsibility
with power and benefit with control. For the financial aspect, the
Group will deepen its budget management and financial support
management and extend its control to basic business units, while
at the same time enhancing the rigidity of budgets to promote the
enhancement of business execution. In respect of human
resources management, the direction of the human resource
strategy for the coming three years has been specified, with
organization and talent development, human capital investment
as well as employer brand-building as the three core components.
The Group will also enhance the roles of remuneration incentives
and performance development in the establishment of our core
human resources systems. Meanwhile, in line with our
development pace, the construction of Yashili Business School is
accelerated, and the talent training system, with core value of
performance enhancement, would be continuously optimized.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

Public Relations and Emergency Control

With the maintenance of an active and effective means of promotion, we
disseminate relevant information to external parties in a public and
transparent manner. We also maintain good communication with all
promotion departments and authorities to update the latest company
information on a timely basis, as well as taking an active role in
participating in various social welfare and charitable events.

We have internally established a set of complete emergency control
system and response mechanism, and addressed complaints from
consumers and issues concerned by the media via our emergency
control centre in a timely and accurate manner. Meanwhile, we are
highly concerned with the potential problems reflected by the market,
and provide good service to consumers in advance to prevent the
occurrence of emergency. We have established a news centre to pay
close attention to the trend and news of the industry as well as the
issues raised by the media, in order to make timely response to any
incidents within the industry. We eliminated negative impacts and
maintained a well-recognized reputation in the industry through the
effective communication with and disclosure of information to the
public and media.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2014, the Group has a total of 4,961 (31 December
2013: 6,126) full-time employees. The total employee cost for the year
was approximately RMB330.2 million (2013: RMB393.1 million).

The Group put great emphasis on motivating our staff, and we have
established and maintained a performance review system and a
remuneration incentive system that are based on staff's performance
and competence. In 2015, the Group will establish a performance,
competence and conduct based remuneration and performance
incentive system and a HR management based career development
system, fully linking employees’ income and personal development to
their contribution to the Company. As such, not only was the Group able
to give clear incentive directions to our staff, the Group was also able to
provide guidance on staff's career development and point out any room
for improvement. Coupled with basic salary and basic incentives such
as performance-based bonus, welfare and benefits as well as long-
term incentive of share option schemes, the Group altogether seeks to
attract and retain more outstanding talents.
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The Group upholds the concept of “talents are the most invaluable
asset of the Company” and the core values of “passion, responsibility,
innovation, win-win”, so as to boost the morale of the Company’s entire

staff and bring in a brighter future.

In line with the Company’s strategies and business development, we
developed a systematic training program based on job duties and
career paths, in order to support results growth. In response to the
Internet learning trend, the Group established the E-learning and
based on PC and mobile

terminals respectively, thus creating a diverse online and offline

M-learning online learning platforms,
learning experience.

With the capital injection from international enterprises, the Group has
further enhanced its structural efficiency and advanced the structural
establishment of HR strategy centre, HR support and sharing centre
and HR business partners, thereby ensuring fast responding and highly
effective HR services and support.

Looking forward to 2015, the Group will, on the basis of its existing
corporate structure, establish a human resources management system
based on functions and the marketing and manufacturing subdivisions
of various business departments, in an attempt to achieving
comprehensive human resources budget and planning. Under the
remuneration and performance incentive system based on
performance, competence and conduct and a HR management based
career development system, the Group seeks to further support our
strategic and business development in conjunction with the long-term
incentive plan which is in line with the Group’s strategic plan and other
key projects such as the promotion of the Yashili Business School.

Corporate Governance and Investor Relations

The Group considers that the effective communication with investors
and prospective investors is the essential element for enhancing
investor relations and allowing investors to understand the business
performance and strategies of the Group. The Group maintains good
communication and exchanges with investors through various channels
and means such as on-site receptions, telephone conferences and non-
trade roadshows, etc.

To foster effective communication, the Group has set up a website
(www.yashili.hk], which contains the latest information on our financial
information, practices on corporate governance and other data available
for public inspection.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

Corporate Citizen and Social Responsibilities

As the country’s renowned milk powder enterprise, the Group maintains
a very high sense of social responsibilities and has been actively
participating in various charitable activities, such as poverty alleviation
and helping the poor and the disabled. In 2014, we donated money to
Chaozhou Chaoan Civil Affairs Bureau on “Poverty Alleviation Day in
Guangdong”. On “World Milk Day”, we donated materials and money to
China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation. On “National Assistance to
Poor and Handicapped Day”, we donated materials to Chaozhou Jide
Charity. On “Guangdong Poverty Alleviation Day & Guangzhou Charity
Day”, we donated money to Guangzhou Luogang Charity Association. In
addition, the Group launched "Yashili Operation Firefly”, to call for
financial support online for underprivileged children under the age of 12
across the country. The operation received public attention and
response and was able to provide more succor for those in need. The
Group also actively engaged in disaster relief efforts in Ludian and
Jinggu, Yunnan. Our relief teams arrived at the affected areas as fast as
possible to delivery relief supplies directly to the victims and helped
them through the hard time. The Group was also conferred the “2014
Salute of the South — Public Welfare Award for the Year”, which helped
display a responsible corporate citizen image of the Group and the
Group in turn received attention and recognition from various sectors.

In 2014, the Group donated money and materials with a total value of
approximately RMB2.7 million to charitable initiatives.
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Financial Review

Turnover

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group's revenue amounted
to RMB2,816.4 million (2013: RMB3,890.0 million), representing a 27.6%
decrease compared to the same period last year.

Yashily pediatric milk MR B2 TR T A

formula products

Scient pediatric milk MR EYH R
formula products

Nutrition food products EERM

Others HA

Total et

As of 31 December 2014, sales revenue from our Yashily pediatric milk
formula products amounted to RMB1,832.9 million (2013: RMB2,660.7
million), representing a decrease of 31.1% from last year. Sales revenue
from our Scient pediatric milk formula products amounted to RMB437.9
million (2013: RMB660.5 million), representing a decrease of 33.7%
from last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, sales revenue from our nutrition
food products amounted to RMB533.8 million (2013: RMB546.2 million),
representing a decrease of 2.3% from last year.

The decrease in the Group’s sales revenue was mainly due to the fact
that (i) the growth rate of the milk powder industry was slow; and (ii) the
Group began to rationalize its sales channel and reform its marketing
models since the first half of 2014, to which our distributors and
consumers might need time to adjust.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continueD)
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Revenue by city tiers

Yashily pediatric milk formula

First-tier cities!” — g m
Second-tier cities? — g
Third-tier cities and others" =mETm kALY
Total 8=t

Scient pediatric milk formula

First-tier cities!” — R m"
Second-tier cities? —
Third-tier cities and others® R ALY
Total st

Notes:

(1) Include directly-controlled municipalities, provincial capital cities and capital

cities of autonomous regions such as Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,

Chongging, Nanchang and Shijiazhuang.

(2) Include prefecture-level cities such as Dongguan, Nanyang, Jiujiang,

Mianyang and Foshan.

(3) Include county-level cities such as Jinjiang, Yunmeng, Bozhou, Kunshan and

Luohe.

The above sales are classified based on the tier of the cities where

the distributors are registered.

2014
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Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group recorded gross profit
of RMB1,445.0 million (2013: RMB2,080.1 million], representing a
decrease of 30.5% from last year, and gross profit margin was 51.3%
(2013: 53.5%). The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly
attributable to the adoption of the points accumulation model by the
Group in the first half of 2014, instead of the previous way of free gifts
which were included in selling and distribution expenses directly. The
relevant expenditure of the points accumulation model was deducted
from gross profit margin and thus resulted in the corresponding
decrease in gross profit margin. Besides, the increase in the average
cost of raw milk powder as compared with that of the same period last
year also led to the decreased gross profit.

Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group has incurred selling
and distribution expenses of RMB1,106.8 million (2013: RMB1,393.8
million), representing a decrease of 20.6% from last year, which was
mainly due to a decrease in sales amount. The percentage ratio of
selling and distribution expenses to income increased to 39.3% (2013:
35.8%), which was mainly due to the decrease in sales income which is
not matched by a parallel decrease in relatively fixed expenses
including staff cost and market expense.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2014, administrative expenses
amounted to RMB193.2 million (2013: RMB219.2 million), representing
a decrease of 11.9% from last year, which was mainly due to the
amortization charges of option decreasing to nil for 2014 and a
reduction in functional division expenses as a response to drop in
results.

Net finance income

As at 31 December 2014, net finance income amounted to RMBb4.7
million (2013: RMB95 million). The decrease in net finance income was
mainly because of the payment of special dividend in 2013, leading to
the decline in the amount of wealth management products and term
deposits of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

Income tax expenses

As at 31 December 2014, the Group has provided for income tax
expenses of RMB60.9 million (2013: RMB137.4 million], and the effective
income tax rate was 19.7% (2013: 23.8%). The reduction of income tax
expense was mainly due to accounting gain from the disposal of Yashili
(Zhengzhou) and of Yashili International Investment Limited by the
Group, for which the assessable amount for income tax was the
difference between the consideration and the actual original investment,
which resulted in a lower corresponding income tax payable. In
addition, the Group has declared not to use the domestic profit
generated in or prior to 2013 for the future payment of dividend
overseas. The withholding income tax of approximately RMB12.5 million
provided in 2013 for payment of dividend overseas for the PRC was
reversed in the current period. During the year, no provision was made
for withholding income tax for overseas profit distribution.

Inventory

As at 31 December 2014, the Group's inventory balance amounted to
RMB717.9 million (31 December 2013: RMB886.2 million). The decrease
was mainly attributable to the decrease in the price of raw milk powder
and the Group's strategic reduction of raw material stockpile.

Other financial assets

As at 31 December 2014, other financial assets include conservative
wealth management products of RMB1,140.0 million which were
principal guaranteed and with anticipated annualised yields of 2.8% to 6%
(31 December 2013: 5.1% to 5.8%), and also include were wealth
management products purchased through COFCO Trust Co., Ltd. of
RMB150.0 million with anticipated annualised yield of 9.5% which were
not principal guaranteed.

Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2014, the Group's trade receivables amounted to
RMB43.5 million (31 December 2013: RMB32.1 million). In 2014, the
trade receivable turnover days were 6 days (2013: 3 days). The increase
in the balance was mainly due to the increase in direct sales stores in
malls and supermarkets and the corresponding increase in the credit
limit granted.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2014, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2013: nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2014, total capital commitment of the Group
amounted to RMB303.2 million (31 December 2013: RMB994.0 million),
which was mainly attributed to the factory construction in New Zealand.
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Provision for doubtful debts

As at 31 December 2014, we had provision for doubtful debts of RMB1.2
million (2013: RMB1.3 million). The provision was made for impaired
receivables relating to customers that were in default or delinquency of
payments. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over such amounts. The Group regularly reviewed aging
of receivables and considered making provision based on a number of
factors such as whether the debtors encounter significant financial
difficulties, the probability that the debtor will file for bankruptcy or be
subject to financial reorganization, and the possibility of default or
delinquent payments.

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of
inventories

As at 31 December 2014, we had provisions for impairment of
inventories of RMB2.5 million (2013: Nil). In addition, we also recorded
losses on disposal of inventory of RMB5 million (2013: RMB0.3 million),
which were primarily due to the disposal of deteriorated inventory and
disposal of unused packaging materials.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2014, bank deposits and certain property, plant and
equipment with aggregate value of approximately RMB163.0 million (31
December 2013: RMB271.0 million) were pledged by the Group to
secure certain borrowings and issuance of letter of credit. Details are
set out in the relevant notes to the annual financial statements.

Also, total assets with an aggregate amount of RMB986 million of
Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd were under general security
agreement, to obtain a long term loan amounted to RMB468 million as
at 31 December 2014.

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company

The profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Group amounted to
RMB?248.8 million, a 43.1% decrease compared to the preceding year.
The decrease was mainly due to the drop in gross profit margin and the
increase in proportion of selling and distribution expenses.

Liquidity and capital resources

As the Company was successfully listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange
in the second half of 2010, the liquidity of the Group was enhanced. The
net proceeds from listing was RMB1,965.8 million (after the deduction
of exchange loss arising from the exchange of a portion of the listing
proceeds and related expenses).
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continuep)

Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2014, our operation generated
RMB264.5 million (2013: net cash of RMB140.9 million). The increase in
net operation cash inflow was mainly attributed to the depletion of
previous inventory.

Investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2014, net cash outflow used in
investing activities amounted to RMB1,052.2 million, which mainly
involved the acquisition of financial assets, factories in New Zealand
and equipment.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2014, net cash inflow generated from
financing activities amounted to RMB422.9 million, mainly attributable
to loans acquired amounting to RMB714.8 million, repayments of
interest-bearing bank loans of RMB155.7 million and dividend paid
amounting to RMB131.3 million.

Loans and borrowings

As at 31 December 2014, the Group's loans and borrowings amounted
to RMB762.6 million (31 December 2013: RMB201.5 million]. The
annualised interest rate for borrowings is from LIBOR+0.85% to
LIBOR+1.65%, which are secured by deposit or wealth management
products with yields from 3% to 4.125% per annum. As at 31 December
2014, the Group's gearing ratio, which is calculated by total interest-
bearing bank loan at year end divided by total assets at year end, was
15.5% (31 December 2013: 4.5%).
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Application of net IPO Proceeds

The net proceeds from initial public offering were approximately
RMB1,965.8 million, after deduction of related expenses. We have
utilised such net proceeds in the manner consistent with that disclosed

in the Company’s prospectus dated 30 October 2010 under the section

headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”,

and hence the net

proceeds utilised up to 31 December 2014 was as follows:

Item

Expansion of production capacity
for pediatric milk formula
and nutritional food products

Acquisition of integrated dairy
companies engaged in the production
of raw milk and raw milk powder
and establishment of
vertically-integrated production
facilities overseas

Promotional activities in television
networks and popular baby nursing
forums as well as major magazines,
newspapers and other printing media

Enhancement on our research
and development capabilities

Total
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is dedicated to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance with an emphasis on a diligent Board, sound internal
control, increasing transparency and accountability to
Shareholders. The Board acknowledges that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group and
its shareholders.

and

Save as disclosed below, the Board is of the view that the Company has
applied the principles as set out in the Corporate Governance Code [the
“CG Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2014 contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”], except that certain Directors were
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 5
June 2014 and extraordinary general meetings of the Company held on
18 February 2014 and 28 November 2014 respectively due to other
business engagements.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and
to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that they
comply with statutory and professional standards and align with the
latest development.

The Board of Directors

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management
and conduct of the Group’s business, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The directors of
the Company (the "Directors”] take decisions objectively in the interest
of the Company. The Board has delegated to the senior management
the authority and responsibility for the daily management and operation
of the Group. In addition, the Board has established board committees
and has delegated to these board committees various responsibilities
as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.
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TESIBHHES @

Board composition

The Board currently comprises nine members, consisting of four non-
executive directors, two executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2014 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive directors

Ms. Sun Yiping (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Lidian (Vice-Chairman] (appointed and ceased as the CEQ
of the Company on 5 June 2014 and 7 January 2015 respectively
and re-designated as a non-executive director and Vice-Chairman
of the Board on 7 January 2015)

Mr. Bai Ying (appointed on 6 June 2014)

Mr. Wu Jingshui

Mr. Ding Sheng (resigned on 6 June 2014)

Executive directors
Mr. Li Dongming (Vice President]
Mr. Zhang Yanpeng

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

The list of Directors [by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. The independent non-executive directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the directors including relationships
among the members of the Board are set out under "Directors and
Management Biographies” on pages 60 to 67 of this Annual Report.

All Directors, including the non-executive directors and the independent
non-executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. Through active participation at
board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interest and serving on board committees, all non-executive
directors make various contributions to the effective direction of the
Company.
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The Chairman, Vice Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

From 5 June 2014 to 6 January 2015, Mr. Zhang Lidian has been served
as the CEO. As at the date of this Annual Report, the positions of
Chairman, Vice-Chairman and CEO are held by Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr.
Zhang Lidian and Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (who was appointed on 7
January 2015) respectively. The Chairman provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board.
The CEO focuses on the Company's business development and daily
management and operations generally. The Board considers that the
responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO respectively are clear and
distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not necessary.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executives directors representing at least
one-third of the Board (there are three independent non-executive
directors out of nine directors) with at least one independent non-
executive director processing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive directors
are independent.

Non-executive Directors

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election,
whereas code provision A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment and that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, Mr. Ding Sheng resigned as
a non-executive director on 6 June 2014. Mr. Bai Ying was appointed as
a non-executive director on 6 June 2014. Mr. Zhang Lidian was re-
designed as a non-executive director on 7 January 2015.
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Each of the current non-executive directors is appointed for a specific
term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation once every
three years.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development of Directors

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director's responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key
plant sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Each of the Directors is required to from time to time familiarize
himself/herself with his/her responsibilities as a director and with the
conduct, business activities and development of the Company. They are
continually updated on the statutory and regulatory regime and the
business environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefing and professional development for directors will be
arranged where necessary.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Internally-facilitated briefings for directors will be arranged
where appropriate. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company organized two
training sessions for all directors on directors’ duties and
responsibilities/corporate governance/update on Listing Rule
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(1)

(2)

(3)

Relevant required trainings related to the Share Options Scheme

Seminar on the pricing policy of continuing connected
transactions and guidelines on related information summary

Trainings on the Company's general principles on director
appointment and the continuous responsibilities of directors of
listed issuers
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision of all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interest), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to
ensuring that board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’'s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

Board Committees

the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination

The Board has established three committees, namely,

committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference which are posted on the websites of the
Company (www.yashili.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk]
and are available to shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The audit committee was established on 8 October 2010 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
The committee comprises two independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway (Chairman] and Mr. Mok Wai Bun
Ben and one non-executive director, namely Mr. Wu Jingshui (including
one independent non-executive director who possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise).

EEENRE

EEeREEEARAMBEREENR
B RRELNEEMAREREE B
REENEE AREZENEREERSG B
ARB(LRAETRNaERE) W5
ER ZEEFREMEAYBREES
"o

ARAMBEEERE TRREEHSRE
BEEE YEMEBAAEROBERE
fE o

FMEESEHAREEMMAEHEEER U
REARMERES LERE  UEERE
TEEeRFAMEBEBEIREER - &
EE-RUNBEBRAT RMESTERL
ERBEBRBISEER MEBABAR
A HHE -

EEZEg

E=zgeeoRY-—_BZEe BERZEZE
T - FMHEZEGRREREZE L AREZR
FEEERARRQRAZEB ARG BES
ZEeHOHEHEEMBEDE W
R 7] 48 5k (www.yashili.hk) K 5 22 Fir 48
(www.hkexnews.hk) * B AR B A] K ER o

BEREESg

KRB ER210F10HABHK L EZE 8
g WE ST LW ARRAIE 321166 F E K
BHE ZZESKEREMBBLIEH
TEEEZEHLEE(EF) REGR K £
AR —BIRTEERFKEE(EFRRE
—HEBEEEEER KGR AN B
BEEEEMENBIIENITES) -



HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

- S

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (conTiNuED)

The roles and functions of the audit committee are set out in its terms
of reference. The primary duties of the audit committee are mainly to
make recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors, review the financial statements, provide material
advice in respect of financial reporting and oversee internal control
procedures of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the audit committee held
four meetings and reviewed the Group’s interim and annual results and
interim and annual reports, significant issues on the financial reporting
and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems, scope of work and appointment of external auditors,
connected transactions and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties and re-appointment of the
external auditors.

The audit committee also met the external auditors twice without the
presence of the executive directors.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee was established on 8 October 2010. It
currently comprises two non-executive directors namely Ms. Sun Yiping
and Mr. Zhang Lidian and three independent non-executive directors
namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben [Chairman), Mr. Cheng Shoutai and Mr.
Lee Kong Wai Conway.

The roles and functions of the remuneration committee are set out in
its terms of reference. Its main duties are to evaluate and make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and

structure relating to all directors and senior management of the Group.

The remuneration committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages as well as
the annual bonuses of the executive directors and the senior
management during the year ended 31 December 2014. In addition, the
remuneration committee reviewed the service agreement of the new
non-executive directors, Mr. Bai Ying who was appointed as a non-

executive director on 6 June 2014.

The remuneration committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2014.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 8 October 2010.
The committee comprises one non-executive Director namely Ms. Sun
Yiping (Chairman], and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr. Cheng Shoutai.

The roles and functions of the nomination committee are set out in its
terms of reference. The principal duties of the nomination committee
include reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of directors, and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive directors.

In respect of code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, the Board has, on 24
March 2014, approved the board diversity policy. In assessing the Board
composition, the nomination committee would take into account various
aspects set out in the board diversity policy, including but not limited to
business experience, skills, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments, the Company’'s needs and other relevant
statutory requirements and regulations.

In the year 2014, the nomination committee reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and considered the qualifications of retiring
Directors standing for election at the annual general meeting held on 5
June 2014 and recommended the appointment of Mr. Bai Ying as a non-
executive Director.

The nomination committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2014.

Board Proceedings

Board practices and conduct of meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to directors in advance. Notice of regular
board meetings is served to all directors at least 14 days before the
meeting. For other board and committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least three days before each
board meeting or committee meeting to keep directors apprised of the
latest development and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior management

where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular board meetings
and where necessary, other board and committee meetings, to advise
on business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory
and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The Company’'s memorandum and articles of association contain
provisions requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving transactions in
which such directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are
normally circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and final versions are open for director’s inspection.
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Directors’ Attendance Records

The attendance records of each director at the board, board committee

meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the
year ended 31 December 2014 are set out below:

EEHEEENTE

=
1%

EHFEARRREE2014F12A31H
BEROZEETE EEZEECH

= BHE B

BERKGHREEETIAT

Number of Attendance in Person/Number of Meeting(s)

BEHERE GFRE

Extra-
Annual ordinary
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General General
Board  Committee Committee ~ Committee  Meeting®  Meeting"”
[ B =R
Name of Director EENE Exe ENRZE® FHZEE REZEE AEAEY £IigY
Ms. Sun Yiping BN L 4f4 - 1/1 1/1 1/1 0/2
Mr. Ding Sheng” TEEE® 2/2 - - - 0/1 0/1
Mr. Zhang Lidian o ) 88 5% A 44 - Al - 11 1/2
Mr. Bai Ying'" SRS 2/2 - - - - 0/1
Mr. Wu Jingshui REKREE 3/4 2/4 - - 0/1 0/2
Mr. Li Dongming FTRARE 4fb - - - 1/1 1/2
Mr. Zhang Yanpeng oK WS o &= 4f4 - - - 0/1 1/2
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben REHEE 3/4 4/4 11 11 1/1 1/2
Mr. Cheng Shoutai B REE A — (A 17 0/1 0/2
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway  ZB %% 4 4fh N - N 2/2

Notes: B 5

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Appointed on 6 June 2014, two board meetings and one extraordinary general

meeting of the Company were held on or after his appointment.

Resigned on 6 June 2014, two board meetings, an annual general meeting and one
extraordinary general meeting of the Company were held on or before his
resignation.

The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 5 June 2014.

The extraordinary general meetings of the Company were held on 18 February 2014
and 28 November 2014 respectively.

Apart from regular board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting

with the non-executive directors (including independent non-executive

directors) without the presence of the executive directors during the
year 2014.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”] set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as the Group's code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. All directors have confirmed that throughout
the year ended 31 December 2014, they have complied with the Model
Code.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the "Employees Written
Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished inside information of the Company. No
incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the
employees was noted by the Company.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of directors and senior
management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the
directors for the year ended 31 December 2014 are set out in Note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The details of the five individuals with highest emoluments are set out
in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the four members of the senior management fell
within the following bands:
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Employee Written Guidelines, and
the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
corporate governance report.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in
respect of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2014.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern.
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Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Company’'s
assets and reviewing the effectiveness of such system on an annual
basis.

During the year under review, the Board, through the audit committee,
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Company, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management aspects of the Group including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of all staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget
of the Company's accounting and financial reporting function.

External Auditors and Auditors’ Remuneration

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 90 to 91 of this Annual Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, Certified Public
Accountants, are set out below:
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Fee paid/payable

Category of services PR % 38 5Bl e EREA
RMB'000

AR F T

Annual audit service FEEZRG 1,530
Interim review services o B2 B AR 75 300

Company Secretary

Ms. Ho Siu Pik is the company secretary of the Company. Following the
resignation of Mr. Wu Xiaonan as the secretary, Ms. Ho has become the
sole company secretary of the Company with effect from 25 March
2014. As Ms. Ho is a director of the Corporate Services Department of
Tricor Services Limited and is not an employee of the Company,
accordingly, the Company is endeavoring to identify a suitable candidate
to fill the role of the other joint company secretary left vacant by Mr. Wu
Xiaonan who resigned on 25 March 2014. During the period prior to the
appointment of a new joint company secretary, Ms. Ho will contact the
management of the Company through Mr. Xiao Kaiqging, the Chief
Officer of Investment Management Division, when necessary.
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Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the nomination
committee, remuneration committee and audit committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees, are available to

answer shareholders’ questions at general meetings.

The Company has not made any changes to its memorandum and
articles of association in the year 2014. The Company’s memorandum
and articles of association is available on the websites of the Company
(www.yashili.hk] and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk].

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.yashili.hk), where up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available for public access.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each separate substantial issue at general meetings,
including the election of directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person
for election as a director are available on the Company’s website (www.
yashili.hk].
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposal at General Meeting

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any
one or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s] himself (themselves] may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send

written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the Company:

Address:

ik EEMREE TITE2625 R 08188012 F
Tel B - +852 28451230

Fax BE : +852 2845 1231

Email B : ir@yashili.com

Contact person:  Mr. Li Dongming, executive director

i UNE WITEEFTRAXLE

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may bel to the above address and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders” information may be disclosed as required by law.
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During the year under review, the Board consists of nine directors, of
whom four are non-executive directors, two are executive directors and
three are independent non-executive directors.

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Sun Yiping

Aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive director and the Chairman
of the Board of the Company, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 24 July
2013. Ms. Sun graduated from China Agricultural University (formerly
known as Beijing Agricultural Engineering University] with a Bachelor's
degree with specialisation in food engineering and a Master’'s degree
with specialisation in agricultural products processing engineering. She
also holds an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from
the Olin School of Business of the University of Washington in the
United States. She joined the COFCO in 1993 and was involved in the
management of COFCO’s investment in Coca-Cola bottling business. In
1997, she became the deputy general manager of Swire Guangdong
Coca-Cola Limited and the general manager of Hainan Coca-Cola
Beverages Co., Ltd. in 2002. Ms. Sun concurrently became the general
manager of Zhanjiang COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Ltd. in 2005. Ms.
Sun currently serves as a CEO and an executive director of Mengniu.
Prior to joining Mengniu as CEO, Ms. Sun was the deputy general
manager of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed in
Shenzhen (Stock Code: 31). Throughout her nearly 20 years of work
experience, Ms. Sun has acquired extensive management experience in
the sale and marketing of branded food, processing of food and oil, and
real estate as well as more than ten years of extensive management
experience in the fast-moving consumer goods industry.
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Mr. Zhang Lidian

Aged 50, was appointed as an executive director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 3 June 2010. From 7
January 2015, Mr. Zhang was re-designated as a non-executive director
and vice-chairman of the Board of the Company. Mr. Zhang is one of the
co-founders of our Group. From June 2014 to 6 January 2015, Mr.
Zhang has been served as the CEO of the Company. Mr. Zhang has over
20 years of experience in food and dairy industry and is primarily
responsible for the overall corporate strategic planning and business
development of our Group. Mr. Zhang has also been serving as the
president of Guangdong Yashili Group Company Limited ("Yashili
(Guangdong)”) since March 1998, as a director of Shanxi Yashili Dairy
Co., Ltd. ("Yashili (Shanxi)") since its incorporation in March 2006 and as
a director of Scient (China) Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd. (formerly known
as Scient (Guangzhou) Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd.] since March 2002.
From June 1990 to January 2003, Mr. Zhang was the deputy general
manager at Guangdong Yashili Food Co., Ltd. Currently, Mr. Zhang is
holding a number of positions with various organizations. He serves as
a representative of the twelfth National People’'s Congress of the
People’'s Republic of China (E+—EZ2BIARKEKRAEHKEK), a member
of the China Committee of the International Dairy Federation, vice
chairman of the China Dairy Industry Association (FEIF &R T RS
Bl =), executive president of the Guangdong Chamber of Private
Enterprise (BREARZLEEEEHITER) and honorary chairman of
the Chaozhou Chamber of Commerce in Guangdong Province (54 %
M EHEE K] Mr. Zhang has also received a number of awards,
including the National Labor Medal (2Bl —#8)52%) and the award
of National Model Worker in Light Industry (& BI8% T #7725 8)1E45).
Mr. Zhang received a Master’'s degree of Business Management from
Sun Yat-sen University (A [ X 22]) in March 2007. Mr. Zhang is the uncle
of Mr. Zhang Yanpeng, an executive director of the Company.
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Mr. Bai Ying

Aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on
6 June 2014. Mr. Bai graduated with a Master’'s degree from Inner
Mongolia Agricultural University and holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from China Europe International Business
School. Mr. Bai was the Vice President of Inner Mongolia Mengniu Diary
(Group) Co., Ltd. ("Inner Mongolia Mengniu“] and the general manager
of UHT milk division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. He has been working
in the dairy industry for almost 20 years and has extensive management
experience in the dairy business. In 2010, Mr. Bai was elected as
“Progressive Staff of Hohhot” and “Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region
Labour Model” for the second time. Mr. Bai was elected as a committee
member in the third session of the Standing Committee (Enlarged)
meeting of the Third Young Federation of the Central Enterprises held
on 12 October 2013. Mr. Bai currently serves as an executive director
and the Chief Operation Officer of Mengniu since 15 July 2008 and 6
June 2014 respectively. He is a Senior Vice President in Operation of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Mr. Wu Jingshui

Aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive director and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 24 July 2013. Mr. Wu is a non-
executive director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (stock code:
1117) ("Modern Diary”]) and China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (stock
code: 1432] (the above companies are all listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange). Mr. Wu was appointed as the vice president (finance)
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu in March 2010. Mr. Wu served as the
executive director, from March 2010 to 25 March 2014, of Mengniu. Mr.
Wu also served as the chief financial officer of Mengniu from March
2010 to August 2013. Before April 2008, Mr. Wu served as the financial
general manager of liquid milk division and the chief financial officer of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and has extensive experience in financial
management. In 2010, Mr. Wu was honoured as a “Labour Model
(Progressive Staff] of Hohhot™ (FEAIERTH A5 B)RED (S THEE)). Mr.
Wu graduated from Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute ([R5 & & T
¥ 8%) majoring in industrial enterprise financial accounting and holds
a Master’s degree from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University [R5 &
B KRE] and a Master of Business Administration degree from China
Europe International Business School (FFBUEIER TR E2FT). Mr. Wu also
holds a senior accountant qualification.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Li Dongming

Aged 45, was appointed as an executive director and Vice President of
the Company on 24 July 2013 and 17 September 2013 respectively. On
25 March 2014, Mr. Li was also appointed as the authorized
representative of the Company. Mr. Li has been engaged in investment
and related work for over 20 years with extensive experiences in merger
and acquisition, restructuring, consolidation and strategic management.
Mr. Li joined COFCO in January 2006 and has worked as the deputy
general manager of COFCO Cereal Way Food Co., Ltd., and as the
director of Mengniu Investment Cooperation Centre. He is currently the
head of the M&A Division of the Strategic Department of COFCO, where
he is responsible for the merger and acquisition, restructuring,
transformation and listing works. Mr. Li had worked as the general
manager of the Fund Department of Hainan Hong Kong and Macao
International Trust and Investment Corporation, the chief economist of
Yingda International Trust and Investment Corporation, the deputy
general manager of the Investment Banking Department of Industrial
Securities Co., Ltd., and the executive deputy general manager of
Ningxia Islamic International Trust and Investment Corporation. Mr. Li
holds a Bachelor's degree in financial engineering from Hunan
University and a Master’'s degree in economics from Central China
Normal University.

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng

Aged 38, an executive director of the Company and deputy general
manager of Scient (China), is mainly responsible for the management of
various departments of Scient (Chinal, including general office, finance
department, procurement department, plants, research and
development department as well as storage and delivery department. In
January 2003, Mr. Zhang acted as the special assistant to the marketing
head of Yashili (Guangdong). From June 2003 to July 2004, Mr. Zhang
was the sales manager of eastern Guangdong of Yashili (Guangdong]).
From August 2004 till now, Mr. Zhang acts as the deputy general
manager of Scient (China). Mr. Zhang graduated from Sichuan
Education Institute (F9)I1IZ8E Zp3) in 1999, majoring in marketing and
was awarded the Bachelor’'s degree in economics. In 2001, Mr. Zhang
studied overseas in the Auckland Business School in New Zealand. Mr.
Zhang graduated from the University of Electronics and Technology (&
FREHEAE] in 2010 with a Master’s degree in engineering. Mr. Zhang is
nephew of Mr. Zhang Lidian, a non-executive director.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company, and a
member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee
of the Company on 15 November 2013. Mr. Mok was appointed as an
executive director of Max Sun Enterprises Ltd. in Hong Kong since 2013
and served as a senior consultant for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited in 2012. Mr. Mok had served as a general manager of Beijing
Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2011. From 1993 to 2001, he
was a general manager of Hangzhou BC Foods Company Limited and
Nanjing BC Food Company Limited. Mr. Mok also served at Swire
Beverages Limited and was responsible for overseeing the general
manager of bottling plant of Swire Beverages Limited in China. Mr. Mok
was awarded a Bachelor’s degree of Economics from McGill University,
Canada in 1975.

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 15 November 2013. Mr. Cheng is also a member of each of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Cheng is a qualified lawyer of the People’'s Republic of
China, the chief partner and director of Tahota Law Firm, a law firm
based in China. He also serves as a director of the All China Lawyers
Association (FEZBEEMBPEIESE) , an arbitrator of the China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission (CIETAC) (#
BB EEE SHEEZELMELE) . a vice president of the eighth
Sichuan Province Lawyers Association (P0)I[8 % \[E@Fpe a2 )
and a member of the All-China Youth Federation (FE2BESFHA S
% 8) and the Sino-Global Legal Alliance (FiEEFEBEEEZEEE)
respectively. Mr. Cheng holds a Doctorate's degree in civil and
commercial law from Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics (FAR BT AZ).
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Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company on 27 November 2013. Mr. Lee has over 30
years of experience in public accounting and auditing, corporate
finance, merger and acquisition and initial public offerings. Mr. Lee
served at Ernst & Young from September 1980 to September 2009. Mr.
Lee was a partner of Ernst & Young and held key leadership positions in
the development of Ernst & Young in China. Mr. Lee is a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants
respectively. Since 2007, Mr. Lee has been a member of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan Province.

Mr. Lee is an independent non-executive director of Chaowei Power
Holdings Limited (stock code: 951), Modern Dairy, China Rundong Auto
Group Limited (stock code: 1365), GCL New Energy Holdings Limited
(stock code: 451), GOME Electrical Appliances Holdings Limited(stock
code: 493), NVC Lighting Holding Limited [stock code: 2222), Tibet 5100
Water Resources Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1115), West China Cement
Limited (stock code: 2233), WH Group Limited (stock code: 288] (the
above companies are all listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange), and CITIC Securities Company Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6030) as well as the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600030]). Mr. Lee also serves as a non-executive
director of Merry Garden Holdings Limited (stock code: 1237) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. Lee was
an independent non-executive director of China Taiping Insurance
Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 966) from October 2009 to August 2013.
Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of Sino Vanadium
Inc. (a company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange, stock code: SVX)
from September 2009 to December 2011.

Mr. Lee graduated from Kingston University (formerly known as
Kingston Polytechnic) in London with a Bachelor's degree in Arts in July
1980 and further obtained his postgraduate diploma in business from
Curtin University of Technology in Australia in February 1988.
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Senior Management

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (appointed on 7 January 2015)
Aged 46, was appointed as the CEO of the Company on 7 January 2015.
He is currently the non-executive chairman of Danone Early Life
Nutrition Greater China, and has been with the Danone Group and
Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over 10 years. During the tenure at the
Danone Group, he demonstrated strong strategic business and market
planning capabilities. With strong leadership, management skills and
in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu contributed significantly to the
success of the Danone Group's baby nutrition business in the PRC.
Prior to joining the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9 years with Johnson &
Johnson (China] Company Limited. Mr. Lu has over 18 years of
experience in sales and marketing and has been serving in general
manager or executive level roles for over 6 years. He has an excellent
grasp and the in-depth knowledge of the PRC market for
pharmaceutical products and fast-moving consumer products. Mr. Lu
obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree from Shanghai Fudan University.

Mr. Xie Xunpeng

Aged 43, was appointed as vice-president of the Company on 7 January
2014 and is responsible for marketing. Prior to this, Mr. Xie was the
general manager of sales & marketing of Yashili (Guangdong) and was
primarily responsible for sales and marketing of the whole Group. Mr.
Xie has been the general manager of sales & marketing of Yashili
(Guangdong) since 2008. From 2006 to 2007, he was our deputy general
manager of sales & marketing. From 2003 to 2005, he was our
provincial manager in charge of sales in Shanxi province. From 1999 to
2002, he was our regional manager in charge of sales in Shanxi, Hunan
and Hubei provinces. From 1993 to 1998, he was a sales person of
Yashili (Guangdong), then was promoted to and then progressed to be a
provincial manager.

Mr. Leif Haamann

Aged 58, is the vice-president of the Company and responsible for
quality works. Mr. Haamann has more than 30 years of management
experience within the Dairy Industry and Infant Formula manufacture.
Mr. Haamann holds a master’'s degree in Dairy Engineering and
Technology from University of Copenhagen, Denmark. Mr. Haamann
has worked with machine and process R&D for GEA Niro. Mr. Haamann
has been responsible for Quality and Production Development for
Dumex, worldwide for several years. From 1994, Mr. Haamann has
been responsible for production of Infant Formula for both Arla Foods
in Denmark and Mengniu Arla in China. Mr. Haamann is born and
educated in Denmark.
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Ms. Wen Jieping

Aged 38, is the chief financial officer and the general manager of the
financial management center of our Company. Ms. Wen joined the
Group in May 2011 and is primarily responsible for the internal financial
controlling and overseas investment projects. Prior to this, Ms. Wen
was the department head and a senior manager of the audit department
of KPMG (Guangzhou office). She graduated from Guangdong University
of Foreign Studies with a combined bachelor degree in International
Commerce English and Accounting in 2001. Ms. Wen is a member of
the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Ho Siu Pik

Aged 51, was appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company
on 20 June 2012. Following the resignation of Mr. Wu Xiaonan as the
secretary, Ms. Ho has become the sole company secretary of the
Company with effect from 25 March 2014. Ms. Ho is a director of
Corporate Services Division of Tricor Services Limited and a fellow
member of both The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
Ms. Ho has over 20 years of experience in the company secretarial area.
She is currently the joint company secretary of China Molybdenum Co.,
Ltd., China Polymetallic Mining Limited and China Rundong Auto Group
Limited and the company secretary of Natural Beauty Bio-Technology
Limited, Sun Art Retail Group Limited and Goodbaby International
Holdings Limited, all are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2014.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year under
review.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 214 of this
annual report.

Final Dividends

The Board recommended a final dividend of RMB1.57 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2014 to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members on 12 June 2015, subject to approval
by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be
held on 5 June 2015.

The total dividends for the year ended 31 December 2014, which
represent the proposed final dividend, amounted to approximately
RMB74.5 million and represented approximately 30.0% of the profit of
the Company for the year. The payment of the proposed final dividend
will be in cash.

Such proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014
represented a payout ratio of 30.0%. In the opinion of the Directors,
such distribution is in compliance with the Articles of Association
adopted by the Company on 8 October 2010, which states that dividend
may be declared and paid out of the profits of the Company, realised or
unrealised, or from any reserve set aside from profits which the
Directors determine is no longer needed. With the sanction of an
ordinary resolution, dividend may also be declared and paid out of share
premium account or any other fund or account which can be authorised
for this purpose in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, subject
to the provisions of the Memorandum of Association or Articles of
Association and provided that immediately following the distribution or
paying dividend the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.
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Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year under
review are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

As at 31 December 2014, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately RMB2,035.2 million, which may be
distributed provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Charitable Donations

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB2.7 million.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group held property,
plant and equipment of approximately RMB612.5 million. Movements in
property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2014 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2014 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

On 30 October 2014, the Company, Mengniu International and Danone
Asia entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”] pursuant to which, among other things, Danone Asia has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue 1,186,390,074 ordinary shares (the “Shares”)
of HK$0.10 each in the issued share capital of the Company [the
“Subscription Shares”) at the subscription price of HK$3.70 per
Subscription Share (the “Share Subscription”]). Completion of the Share

Subscription took place on 12 February 2015.
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The aggregate gross proceeds of the Share Subscription are
HK$4,389,643,273.80. The Company intends to leverage on its strategic
partnership with Danone Asia and utilize the net proceeds from the
Share Subscription to expand and strengthen its pediatric milk formula
business, which may include strategic investments by the Company
with a view to enhancing the Company’s technology, brand, production
capacity and distribution channels in the pediatric milk formula
industry.

For further details on the Share Subscription, please refer to the joint
announcement of the Company dated 31 October 2014.

Directors

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2014 and as of the
date of this annual report were:

Non-executive directors:

Ms. Sun Yiping (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Lidian (Vice-Chairman) [re-designated as a
non-executive director and Vice-Chairman on 7 January 2015)

Mr. Bai Ying (appointed on 6 June 2014)

Mr. Wu Jingshui

Mr. Ding Sheng [resigned on 6 June 2014)

Executive directors:

Mr. Li Dongming (Vice President]

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng

Mr. Zhang Lidian (Vice-Chairman) [re-designated as a
non-executive director and Vice-Chairman on 7 January 2015)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive directors are independent in accordance
with the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles of Association adopted by the
Company on 8 October 2010, any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after
his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting, and
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 60 to 67 of this annual report.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed below, there was no contract of significance to which
the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of the year ended
31 December 2014.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Directors in the Board has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years which will
continue thereafter unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the
terms of the service contract, including by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other. No Director
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 31 December 2014, the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company and their respective associates had the following interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong] ("SFO”]) which have been notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests and short positions which the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company are taken and deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO, or which are required to be and are recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules:

(i) Directors’ interests in the shares of Mengniu
Dairy (being a holding company of the Company):

R2014F 128318 ARAIEEREBIT
BAEBEREESENBHBEARARRRE
B EE(EERAEBEMNETEFFR
HERG([EHREBEED]) EXVELD /%
D RO RESTHEARIEE %&Hﬂ
i"i1M§'J§€XV*B%7&8“* AMEG AR

=

BRXAREDEIOAR (BREAR T%%&I
xﬂﬂl]\,@\ﬁ?}ih%&,ﬁﬁ S 15 B B 5% 15

XWERRERBEENERLIRE) XA
THNMREZESF MNP GRIIFEIGEFE
METMHOREEIARE  HRBTRELT
MEAIPTE R ESTRIZA MG AR F) M B
PREER SRR T ¢

) ESREFIXARE

Approximate

Number of percentage of the
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares issued share capital
HE#RTRAE
EEpE B REEMtE EERHE BMAOBEDE
Sun Yiping Beneficial owner 8,229,657 0.42%
BRFE Em#AA
Bai Ying'" Beneficial owner 4,744,684 0.24%
Sk EnlEAA
Wu Jingshui Beneficial owner 2,400,000 0.12%
RF|K EnEAA
Note: MHT -

(1) Mr. Bai Ying was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 6
June 2014.

(1) HEELER2014F6R6BEZEAARRA
FHMITEE -
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(ii) Directors’ interests in the shares and underlying

SEESHRE @

lii) ESRA DA R R EEE

shares of the Company: Rz
Approximate
percentage of the
Number of issued share capital
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares of the Company
EARAF
EEITRAE
EEpnE B e ZEREE BRBEI
Zhang Lidian Beneficial owner 344 0.00%

55 T S EnEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, none of the Directors ~ Br £ XX FT# #& & 4 - 72014124318 ¢

or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which
had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, at no time was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age] to hold any interest or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO).

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme [the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010, and adopted a share option scheme
(the "Share Option Scheme”] on 8 October 2010.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
motivating eligible participants to optimize their future contributions to
the Group and/or reward them for their past contributions, attracting
and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going relationships with
such eligible participants who are significant to and/or whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or
success of the Group.

ARPEZEXRTBITRAEMEREAQA
RERBEAE(EERESRBEHROIFEXV
)RR  HEROKESTHEE REE
EHEA AR BIRIEE 5 R B & 0] 5 352 1%
FENBRMALENEMERIORE
HRELETRAUMEHFRETRC NG A
NA R R PR RS SIORE -

R EXHEEESIN  REMER A2 -
HER AR SKE A TR A ER] L EM
ZH BEARANEZTREIETHRAR
(BRRENEBRABTAERNFZ)R
ARRHEBKEIE(EERBSFRPEHK
FIEXVED) B - RO KESFTHE
ERERIORR -

BRESE

ARATE 2010510 A 8 H £R 4 BE A% ke =1 21
([BX A AMABEEMERETS]) XK2010
FI0A8H MR T 2 (BB RTE])) -

BREFE ZHBOT

ARBEHEMBRETSE - EBOSAE
BEBZ2EE SHUAKENREER
ERRER/IRBEESRENER - K3
GBI NEMT AR FEZEEAEH
MERE ERARDMEBEERLHE
BEENIEEENNAERZ2EENR
BRI o
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The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue as at 1 November 2010 (the “Listing Date"), that is, 350,000,000
Shares, which represented approximately 7.38% of the Company's
shares in issue as at the date of this report. No option may be granted
to any participant of the Share Option Scheme such that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period up to
the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share
capital from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board
and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay
the Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant on or before the 28
days after the offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than
whichever is the highest of:

(a]  the nominal value of a share;

(b)  the closing price of a share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c)  the average closing price of a share as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Listing Date, after which no further options will be
granted or offered.

On 23 July 2013, Mengniu International made a voluntary general offer
to option holders of the Company ("Option Offer”], to cancel the
outstanding options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and the Share Option Scheme. Please refer to the composite offer and
response document issued by the Company, Mengniu Dairy and
Mengniu International relating to, among other things, the Option Offer
dated 23 July 2013 for further details.

EATE R IR R AT 8 R AN & B AF ] H A
FrES TEREME B EM A g7
EaBRMHEE  AHTEBBER200F1
A1B(EMBBDE#ETRMNI0% B
350,000,000f% Bz 10 + #8E R A E B K
NAEIBBEITRDIAT38%  KRABETE
MEM —ZEREFE2HEATREER
B-RFEEAMNBEREOERE A E12(E
AEBETEDE S R AR E Mm%
TRiETFETHROBLEBBADRTE
BEITIRAB1%

BRENREBREASNGANRERTS
EETMHEACTAKERETURITE ETF
HBE L H R I0F c RERER BT
FERITEFZERFEBRENIR - BAE
AEZ2EAEZLHBBRBREZATIER
REBEBREARARAHMMI0E T - B
BOTEEHESS2RBBETE D
BERTI=ZFFNEE

(a) M mEE:

bl RENEBMEBTEBIMEBARER
PO B U T B+ R

) ERZHRHMAEZEARBIAMA
SHBERMI KD FHRTE -

BhRETESH LT ABESI0FHBER
BREEN RZUEE ST8E-FK
HE iR 2 A -

MR2013F 74238 RFEBIER ARG ZE
EEEARDABBEE2EWEZ L ([HE
O UEEE R MBS B R ES
IR EE TR LN RITERE-
E—TFTHBBE2HARR RFEALEES
ST EEBEA0BFE/IABEAEBE(ET B
BVHEBHZEEKRBELN KB EXXH-
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On 13 August 2013 (being the final closing date of the Option Offer], the
Option Offer was accepted in respect of 52,088,266 options. The
underlying options together with all the rights attached thereto were
cancelled and given up and all the outstanding options automatically
lapsed upon acceptance of the Option Offer.

No option was granted by the Company nor was there any outstanding
option granted by the Company from 1 January 2014 to 31 December
2014.

Accordingly, as at 31 December 2014, there is no outstanding option
granted by the Company.

Arrangement for Directors to Purchase Shares
or Debentures

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “"Share Option Schemes” above,
at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of the Company or
any other body corporate.

SEESHRE @

R2013F8AIBH(ANEZH Z R EEH LI
HE)  BE52,088 266 Bl 2 HAEZE A2
WM NEEENEENE  HEEE
EEMRSZAMERFANEHTHEEIRE " M
FiBRITERENRE SR -

B2014%1 810 £2014%E 128318 XA
AITERTBHE THECANBEARAK
R R TTF BRAE -

A R2014F12 A318 » KRR ER Y
ERIARITEHARE -

EESRERNIBESTNRZH

B EXBEREE | —BRABREESIN &N
NREBERFAENEREREMESTRHE
EERENEBRARAKFNTRELEN
AHEBEEBARARRNRODKEFNT A
HAes - MR FIHRETEEMZSEN X
ARw - EER AR KETA TR A E
AIVEMZY BEEEARERBEARF
SEMEMEABROBNDRERE S (B
mRER) T AR -
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

So far as is known to the Director or chief executives of the Company,
as at 31 December 2014, the persons or corporations (other than
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interest or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporation(s) which were required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under

MARAEEXNEBITHRABNA R
2014F12A31MH - RARA K EBEEE
MED REERODTFHEEREFESFMHE
GBI EXVEL B2 03D E A B I E T A
NRMEZIAE  ACRBAREBEZFLFNR
BEGEHEIIEREEFENECMAN
BERIABMATSHEE (LIEARARRESE

section 336 of the SFO were as follows: HEETHRAB)WAT :
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares shareholding®
16 B
=X B EEMtE EEREE BHE D"
Mengniu Dairy" Interests in a controlled corporation 2,422,150,437 68.05%
SHAEY XEGDEBE O E R
Mengniu International” Beneficial owner 2,422,150,437 68.05%
SHEERY BEHREARA
Danone SA® Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
Eae RESEE SN E R
Danone Baby and Medical Holding"” Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
REGDEBE O E S
Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV© Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
REHEE O E R
Nutricia International BV®! Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
RESEE SR
Danone Asia" Beneficial owner 1,186,390,074 25.00%
ERg MY ERnEBA
Zhang International Investment Ltd."” Beneficial owner 303,462,119 8.53%
REKBEBEREER AR BEHREARA
Temasek Holdings (Private] Limited" Interests in a controlled corporation 220,225,000 6.19%
REHEE SR
Temasek Capital [Private) Limited" Interests in a controlled corporation 220,225,000 6.19%
REGDEBE S
Seletar Investments Pte Ltd" Interests in a controlled corporation 220,225,000 6.19%
REHEE SO E R
Dunearn Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd”  Beneficial owner 220,225,000 6.19%

BEmlEAA



HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

- S

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (conTiNuED)

Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2014, Mengniu Dairy holds 99.95% interest in Mengniu

International.
(2) As at 31 December 2014, Mengniu International directly holds the relevant Shares.

(3] As at 31 December 2014, Danone SA holds 100% interest in Danone Baby and
Medical Holding. Danone Baby and Medical Holding holds 100% interest in Danone
Baby and Medical Nutrition BV. Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV holds 100%
interest in Nutricia International BV. Nutricia International BV holds 100% interest in

Danone Asia .

(4) Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, Danone Asia is deemed to be interested in
the relevant Shares as at 31 December 2014. However, as at 31 December 2014,
completion of the Share Subscription has not yet taken place. The Share Subscription
completed on 12 February 2015.

(5 Zhang International Investment Ltd. was held by Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr. Zhang Likun,
Mr. Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo and Ms. She Lifang as their

wholly-owned investment holding company to hold their shares in our Company.

(6) As at 31 December 2014, Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited holds 100% interest in
Temasek Capital (Private) Limited. Temasek Capital (Private] Limited holds 100%
interest in Seletar Investments Pte Ltd. Seletar Investments Pte Ltd holds 100%

interest in Dunearn Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd.

(7) As at 31 December 2014, Dunearn Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd directly holds the

relevant Shares.

(8) The total issued Shares as at 31 December 2014 was 3,559,170,222.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, the Directors are not
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2014.

SEESHRE @

GER

(M R2014ERANE SHAEFETFEERN
99.95%## 7 ©

(2) M2014F12A318 - RHBEBEEEFAEEBARS

(3) MR2014412 A31H + i 2 #F A Danone Baby and Medical
Holding #9100%## % ° Danone Babyand Medical Holding 5 &
Danone BabyandMedical Nutrition BV &Y 10042 © Danone Baby
and Medical Nutrition BV4¥ 7 Nutricia International BV #) 100%
% %5 ° Nutricia International BV# A 2 8% 22 M #9100%

(4) RIERE W EEDMNNR2014F12831BHE
EW*H%%H&%EM&E%ﬁc SR > 2014412 A
TH BRORBEERTK - RGO RBER2015F2

ﬁ 2BFEMA -

6] REBERKREBRQFBRMELLE KA 0L
ERMEBALEE RFMELE RAKEERS
BRELIRHA FRAREZZ2EREERATIN
FAERERARE Z B -

(6) 72014412 A 31 H * Temasek Holdings (Private)
Limited # & Temasek Capital (Private) Limited #7 100%
# 2 ° Temasek Capital [Private) Limited % 7 Seletar
Investments Pte Ltd 8 100%# z ° Seletar Investments
Pte Ltd ¥ 75 Dunearn Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd 9

100% 4% °

(7) 20149 12 A31 H *Dunearn Investments
(Mauritius) Pte Ltd B # #F B M B AR 19 ©

(8) 201412 A31H - BB 1T #8 28 733,559,170,222

fi% °

Br EXPTIREEAE SN IA2014F12A31H - &
EFTNBCMEMDA LTI ZERERF]
SEMEBEENRO MABROTHEE A
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Connected Transactions

The equny transfer agreement in relation to
interests in H’Eiﬂ[ﬁﬁ')‘l‘l]*%unﬁlﬁ’z}j (Yashili
(Zhengzhou) Nourishment Co., Ltd.*] (“Yashili
(Zhengzhou)”)

On 5 January 2014, Yashili International Group Limited and #E%
BB EEABBR AR (Yashili International Group Limited*) (“Yashili
(Guangdong)”] (together, the “Sellers”) entered into an equity
transfer agreement (together with the amendment and
supplement thereto on 17 March 2014, the “Equity Transfer
Agreement”] to sell 100% of the equity interests in Yashili
(Zhengzhou] to China Mengniu Investment Co. Ltd. ("Mengniu
Investment”) and WhiteWave Hong Kong Ltd. ("WhiteWave")
(together, the "Purchasers”) for a consideration of RMB376.66
million (equivalent to approximately HK$482.90 million) (the
“Transaction”), payable in cash by the Purchasers to the Sellers
on the date of completion of the Transaction (the “Completion”).

The principal asset of Yashili (Zhengzhou) is a factory located in
Henan Province, PRC, which is currently under construction and

ll be principally engaged in the manufacture, packaging and
distribution of nutritious products. The Purchasers will acquire
Yashili (Zhengzhou) through a joint venture company incorporated
under the laws of the PRC by the Purchasers and held as to 51%
by Mengniu Investment and 49% by WhiteWave (the “Joint Venture
Company”).

Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, held 68.05%
of the shares of the Company and was a substantial shareholder
of the Company as at the date of the Transaction. Therefore,
Mengniu Dairy is a connected person of Company. The Joint
Venture Company will be an indirect subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy
and an associate of Mengniu Dairy. Accordingly, the Transaction
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

* For identification purpose only
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The supplemental loan agreement

On 16 May 2014, Yashili (Guangdong), X BiEHREGR A A (Aspen
Ventures Ltd.*] ("Aspen Ventures’] and Yashili (Zhengzhou)
entered into a supplemental loan agreement (the "Supplemental
Loan Agreement”] to amend the terms of the shareholder loans
which were previously granted to Yashili (Zhengzhou) by Yashili
(Guangdong), i.e. [i] an outstanding interest-free loan of an
aggregate principal amount of RMB87.47 million provided by
Yashili (Guangdong) to Yashili (Zhengzhou) for the purpose of
supporting the construction of the Yashili (Zhengzhou) project (the
“First Shareholder Loan”); and (i) an outstanding loan of an
aggregate principal amount of RMB40 million provided by Yashili
(Guangdong) to Yashili (Zhengzhou) on 6 March 2014 by way of an
entrustment loan through Industrial and Commercial Bank,
Chao’an branch as the lender for the purpose of supporting the
ongoing operations of Yashili (Zhengzhou) during the transitional
period prior to the Completion, which bears interest at a rate of 5.6%
per annum calculated daily from 6 March 2014 (the "Second
Shareholder Loan”) (together with the First Shareholder Loan, the
“Shareholder Loans").

Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, it was agreed that
Yashili (Zhengzhou) shall repay the Shareholder Loans (plus any
interests accrued thereon) to Yashili (Guangdong) within two
business days after the completion date of the Transaction, which
shall be no later than the 25th business day following the
satisfaction (or waiver, if applicable] of each of the conditions
precedent of the Equity Transfer Agreement (the “ Completion
Date”).

Pursuant to the Supplemental Loan Agreement, Yashili (Zhengzhou)
agreed:

(1) that in the event Yashili (Zhengzhou) fails to repay the First
Shareholder Loan by the second business day after the
Completion Date, fees shall be charged on the First
Shareholder Loan at a rate of 5.6% per annum and
calculated daily from the second business day after the
Completion Date;

(2)  thatin the event Yashili (Zhengzhou) fails to repay the First
Shareholder Loan by the end of the third month after the
Completion Date (the "Prescribed Three Months" Period”),
fees shall be charged on the principal relating to the First
Shareholder Loan at a rate of 11.2% per annum and
calculated daily from the end of the Prescribed Three
Months’ Period;

* For identification purpose only

SEESHRE @

WA BRI E

PR2014F5 8168 » EEF(E®R) ~ X
BEEREEARAR(NEEERE]D R
HEF (BN T LB E R/
TERBER]D  LEFTHELA(ER)
ERHABHELTAN(BN REOREE
HE G BB ELTF(ER) AX
LA (EMN) 18 8 &% m LA
(M) IREAS BT A ARKSLT
BETHNAREERBER(E —£R
HEZD  RIELF(ER) B
£ F) (BB ) B 52 5K A 48 0% B A0 35
BEEBR0LFIAHBR IEmIET
BMETITUERBERAN)UEZRERE
NAELF(EMNARERNSREL
ARBONBETNAEEER  EF
FIE56%BE2014F3 868 BIE AT A
([F-2REEF]) (ERFE—ERE

B3 TRERER]D -

RIFREE RS - LR B LA (5
M) BN HEERXE A HEMEZE
ERAARAELIN(ER)EERRER
(ERBLEFZ2ERMMB) B H
BZREBRTEERREE R Z
BIER G EEZR (HFH R (HER)
BEDBEEER(XEAHD -

RIBEMIAERWE - LR (ZIM) R

=
T

(1) fisi 7 = A (EB M) R BE R 32 & B B
BRE_FEEEXARNEEE R
REF AHEARE -ZERRE
AXMEXREAHRE —[fEX
B AR F A R 5.6% U K1z B &t
EWER:

(2)  fi A A (BB M) R BE R A2 &I B &
BE=MABR(EE=EAH
MDAEESE —ERREFR 8
HERE -EMREFTHBELE
XN EHEE=EAHEEREE
BENKN2%WEMEZBEE
ME A

79



80

Yashili International Holdings Lid Annual Report 2014

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (contiNuED)
SEBRT @

(3)  that in the event Yashili (Zhengzhou] fails to repay the
Second Shareholder Loan by the end of the Prescribed
Three Months™ Period, interests shall be charged on the
principal and overdue interest amount relating to the
Second Shareholder Loan at a rate of 11.2% per annum and
calculated daily from the end of the Prescribed Three
Months’ Period; and

(4)  that Aspen Ventures shall procure Yashili (Zhengzhou] to
repay the Shareholder Loans (plus any interests and fees
accrued thereon] by the end of the Prescribed Three
Months’ Period.

As of the date of the Supplemental Loan Agreement, Yashili
(Zhengzhou) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Aspen Ventures.
Aspen Ventures is held as to 51% by China Mengniu (HK) Co Ltd, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, which is in turn a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, Yashili
(Zhengzhou] and Aspen Ventures are connected persons of the
Company by virtue of them being associates of Mengniu Dairy for
the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As such, the
entering into of the Supplemental Loan Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The equity transfer agreement in relation to
interests in Yashili International Investment
Limited (“Yashili International Investment”)

On 19 September 2014, Yashili International Ltd. ("Yashili (BVI]")
entered into an equity transfer agreement with Zhang
International Investment Ltd. ("Zhang International”) to sell 100%
of the equity interests in Yashili International Investment to Zhang
International for a consideration of RMB213.4 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$269.2 million), all of which is to be payable in
cash (the “Disposal’]. Yashili International Investment’s only asset
is 100% of the equity interest in Yashili (China) Co., Ltd.* (FEZ=F|(F
H)ER AT ("Yashili (China”) and the principal asset of Yashili
(China) is a piece of land located in Zhu Jiang New Town, Shantou,
PRC with a gross area of 10,193.30 square meters of which was
acquired by Yashili (China) at a consideration of RMB86 million.
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Zhang International is owned as to 18% by Mr. Zhang Lidian, 18%
by Mr. Zhang Lihui, 18% by Mr. Zhang Likun, 18% by Mr. Zhang
Liming, 18% by Mr. Zhang Libo, and 10% by Ms. She Lifang. Mr.
Zhang Lidian was an executive Director as at the date of the equity
transfer agreement. Each of Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr. Zhang Likun,
Mr. Zhang Liming and Mr. Zhang Libo is a brother of Mr. Zhang
Lidian and therefore an associate of Mr. Zhang Lidian. Ms. She
Lifang is a sister-in-law of Mr. Zhang Lidian and therefore a
deemed connected person of Mr. Zhang Lidian. As Mr. Zhang
Lidian, together with Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang
Liming, Mr. Zhang Libo and Ms. She Lifang together can exercise
or control the exercise of more than 50% of the voting power at
the general meetings of Zhang International, Zhang International
is a connected person of the Company. As Yashili (BVI) is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, the Disposal constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company pursuant to Chapter14A of
the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Connected Persons

(a)

WEERKIREBPMR AT (Shantou Zhang's Investment
Co., Ltd*) (“Zhang’s Investment (Shantou)”)

The entire equity interest in Zhang's Investment (Shantou) is held
in equal shares by 11 individuals, of which Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr.
Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo, Mr. Zhang Lihui
and Ms. She Lifang are the shareholders of Zhang's Investment
(Shantou). Mr. Zhang Lidian is a Director of the Company and is
therefore a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. In addition, Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang
Liming, Mr. Zhang Libo and Mr. Zhang Lihui are brothers of Mr.
Zhang Lidian and Ms. She Lifang is a sister-in-law of Mr. Zhang
Lidian. Given the close relationships among Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr.
Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo, Mr. Zhang Lihui
and Ms. She Lifang, the Directors consider it is appropriate to
aggregate their interests in Zhang's Investment (Shantou] in
determining whether they together have a majority control over
Zhang's Investment (Shantou). Since Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang
Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo, Mr. Zhang Lihui and
Ms. She Lifang together can exercise more than 50% of the voting
power at general meetings of Zhang's Investment (Shantou), the
Directors therefore consider it is appropriate to treat Zhang's
Investment (Shantou) as a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

*  For identification purpose only
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(b)

(c)

ERF®ERREMR DT (Haoweijia Food Co., Ltd.*)
(“Haoweijia Food”)

Haoweijia Food is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhang's
Investment (Shantou). Since Zhang's Investment (Shantou) is a
connected person of the Company as detailed above, the Directors
consider it is appropriate to treat Haoweijia Food as a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Inner Mongolia Mengniu

Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds
68.05% of the shares of the Company and is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a
connected person of the Company. As Inner Mongolia Mengniu is
a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a
connected person of the Company.

Continuing connected transactions

1.

The New Haoweijia Purchase Agreement

Haoweijia Food is a manufacturer of preserved fruit products in
China. On 8 October 2010, B8H# TR RMAMRAE (Shangha
Yashili Food Co., Ltd*] ("Yashili (Shanghai]”], a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Haoweijia purchase
agreement (the "Haoweijia Purchase Agreement”’] with Haoweijia
Food, pursuant to which Yashili (Shanghai] will purchase
preserved fruit products from Haoweijia Food from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2012. As one of the distributors of Haoweijia
Food, Yashili (Shanghai) generates revenue by purchasing such
preserved fruit products from Haoweijia Food and reselling them
to third-party customers. Pursuant to he Haoweijia Purchase
Agreement, the prices at which Yashili (Shanghai] purchases
preserved fruit products from Haoweijia Food are the same as
such prices at which Haoweijia Food sells its preserved fruit
products to independent third parties. The Haoweijia Purchase

Agreement expired on 31 December 2012.

On 28 December 2012, Yashili (Shanghail entered into the new
Haoweijia purchase agreement (the “New Haoweijia Purchase
Agreement”) with Haoweijia Food with terms substantially the

same as those in the Haoweijia Purchase Agreement and a
contract duration from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the purchase from
Haoweijia Food under the New Haoweijia Purchase Agreement
was RMBO0.5 million, which was less than the cap of RMB6,500,000
as disclosed in the Company's announcement ([the

“Announcement”) dated 24 March 2014.

* For identification purpose
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The New Haoweijia Sales Agreement

On 8 October 2010, MZHBBEBENHAR AR (Chaoan
Bisheng Decoration and Printing Co., Ltd*] ("Bisheng”], a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Haoweijia
sales agreement (the "Haoweijia Sales Agreement”) with
Haoweijia Food, pursuant to which Bisheng will sell packaging
materials to Haoweijia Food from Listing Date to 31 December
2012, renewable at the option of Bisheng for a term of three years
and subject to compliance with all applicable requirements under
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Haoweijia Sales Agreement,
Bisheng shall sell packaging materials to Haoweijia Food at
prices not lower than the prices at which Bisheng sells packaging
materials to independent third parties. The Haoweijia Sales
Agreement expired on 31 December 2012.

On 28 December 2012, Bisheng entered into the new Haoweijia
sales agreement (the "New Haoweijia Sales Agreement’] with
Haoweijia Food with terms substantially the same as those in the

Haoweijia Sales Agreement and a contract duration from 1
January 2013 to 31 December 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the sales to Haoweijia
Food under the New Haoweijia Sales Agreement was RMBO.1
million, which was less than the cap of RMB3,000,000 as disclosed
in the Announcement.

The Framework Purchase Agreement

On 11 December, 2014, Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. ("Yashili
(Heilongjiang)”) and Yashili (Shanxi], each a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the framework purchase agreement (the
“Framework Purchase Agreement”’] with Inner Mongolia Mengniu,
a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to which Yashili
(Heilongjiang) and Yashili (Shanxi) agreed to purchase and Inner
Mongolia Mengniu agreed to sell whole milk powder from time to
time from 1 December 2014 to 31 December 2016.

For the period from 1 December 2014 to 31 December 2014, the
purchase from Inner Mongolia Mengniu under the Framework
Purchase Agreement was RMB17.2 million, which was less than
the cap of RMB26,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$32,960,000) as disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 11 December 2014.

* For identification purpose
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Other than the connected transactions and the continuing
connected transactions set out above, in respect of which the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract of significance
has been entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders during the year
ended 31 December 2014.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were entered into:

— in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

— on normal commercial terms or better; and

— according to the agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company's shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this
annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
the controlling shareholders during the year ended 31 December
2014,
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Non-Compete Undertakings

The controlling shareholders of the Company has confirmed to the
Company of its compliance with the non-key competition undertakings
provided to the Company. The independent non-executive directors of
the Company have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed
that all the non-key competition undertakings have been complied with
by the controlling shareholders.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from
the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2014 and up to and including
the date of this annual report.

Management Contracts

Other than the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors” Service Contracts” above, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
year ended 31 December 2014.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands where the
Company is incorporated applicable to the Company.

Emolument Policy

The Group's emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications
and competence of individual employees and are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee periodically.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard
to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.
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The Company has previously adopted two share option schemes to
motivate and reward its Directors and eligible employees. Details of the
schemes are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes”
above and note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2014.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentages of basic salaries of the employees to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. The contributions are charged to the
consolidated income statements as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s total contributions
to the retirement benefits schemes charged in the income statement
amounted to RMB18.1 million. Details of the Group’'s retirement
benefits scheme and the basis of calculation are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's largest and five largest
customers were 0.7% and 2.5% of the Group's total sales respectively.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers were 17.6% and 38.6% of the Group’s total purchases
respectively.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2014 did a Director, his/
her associate(s) or a shareholder, which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have an
interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

A2 AEEE RN M IE B RS 8 A F
LEBMEEEREERER - % Fit 80
ABEERN EXIERERTE ] —BRRa 6
TR M LSS ©

BMEEENEE204FE12A3NBILEFER
WETMEE -

RKEREE

ARAIRPEZFARNEER SBFEK
FEENBERERRRBAFEMMKE -
TETFRAAAKBEEAFENETAD
Lo AR R AR M ET 8l R A B s F A o
AEBERERBENAENE-—BEEAR
BEFEMFH AT FEH R - ZFEHK IR RIE
B 5K I AR R AR A A 81 A0 AR BB R FE A B
RAE Gl s R AR

N6 B I A Rl R SA SN AE ]
HiEBARKBHAREE -

HELFENANBIEFE  AEBRIK
ERAMBORKREMNTEHBERIAEAR
#1811 BB T - NEB AR IKEFIE 8 KA
BHENFHBIRESHMBREMET

TEEFRHESD

AEBGAMAREFPEMEERES
A A S [ S E B RER0.7% 2 2.5% ©

AEEBRARAAHEBMENRELR
DRMEAREBERBBEEN17.6% 5 38.6% °

REZE2014F 128318 IEFEREAERE
BEEE EBMBAIBESAMAEER
NERAEBE% R ERANEEER AR
EPRMEEFTHE RS -



Closure of Register of Members

(i)

(ii)

For the purpose of determining the identity of
shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote
at the forthcoming annual general meeting

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 3
June 2015 to 5 June 2015, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on 5 June 2015, all duly completed and signed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30
p.m.on 2 June 2015.

For the purpose of determining the identity of
shareholders who are entitled to the proposed
final dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 11
June 2015 to 12 June 2015, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all duly completed
and signed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’'s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 10 June 2015.

Centre,

Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general

meeting to be held on 5 June 2015, the proposed final dividend will be

paid

on or about 26 June 2015 to the shareholders whose names

appear on the register of members of the Company on 12 June 2015.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management and
external auditors the accounting principles and policies adopted by the

Group and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2014.
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Auditors

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2014 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution for its re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not
less than 23.42% of the Company's issued shares pursuant to a waiver
granted to the Company by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
for the period from the Listing Date.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of short-term and long-term bank loans of the Group as at
31 December 2014 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. Other than such bank loans, the Group had no other bank
loans.

Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 45 to 59 of this annual
report.
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Summary Financial Information HMBERBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group 7k %2 B & £ 2014412 A31 8 1+ T 8 Bf By &
for the five financial years ended 31 December 2014 is set out on pages EMEBUNEENEABEBREH N KFER

215 to 216 of this annual report. E215F 2168 ©
On behalf of the Board REXEFE
Sun Yiping BRFF
Chairman FE

Hong Kong, 25 March 2015 B 201553 H25H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Ernst & Young K ® 5T A E 1 FT TelE 3% : +852 2846 9888
22/F, CITIC Tower BEARIRAEER Fax {8 H : +852 2868 4432
EY& 1 Tim Mei Avenue RERNE2E ey.com
I

Central, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Yashili International Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 214, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position and the Company's
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2014, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (continuep)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’'s preparation of consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

[n our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31
December 2014, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
25 March 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

SHERE

Year ended 31 December 2014 EHZE2014F12A31HIEFE

2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 3 ARMT T AR T T
Revenue A 5 2,816,434 3,889,999
Cost of sales 8 55 PR AR 7 (1,371,441) (1,809,888)
Gross profit EF 1,644,993 2,080,111
Other income and gains =N NS 5 125,511 26,206
Selling and distribution expenses HE R&HEFRAY (1,106,781) (1,393,790)
Administrative expenses TR X (193,151) (219,162)
Other expenses H th 7 2 6 (15,606) (11,654)
Profit from operations Feg =il 254,966 481,711
Finance income B 75 A 7 61,402 108,221
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 (6,683) (13,215)
Net finance income A 54,719 95,006
Profit before tax R B AR R 309,685 576,717
Income tax expense Fr 8% B 10 (60,856) (137.393)
Profit for the year FE=RF 248,829 439,324
Attributable to: BER:
Owners of the Company RAAGREREA 248,829 437,614
Non-controlling interests R AR R - 1,710
248,829 439,324
RMB cents RMB cents
ARES ARESD
Earnings per share attributable AARERRERA
to ordinary equity holders of EEER2R
the Company 13
Basic I\ 7.0 12.3
Diluted 'y N/A/TEH 12.2

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed
in note 12 to the financial statements.

P R R 4 R AR B 10 2% 1 2 BT 75 3R % I
12N RE -



HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SHEzERE

Year ended 31 December 2014 EZE2014F 128318 LFE

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREBT T
Profit for the year FERA 248,829 439,324
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 HE K=
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to ARNEHRENSES
profit or loss in subsequent periods: Bz K 2 EKE:
Exchange differences on translation of BONF R B AN Rk
financial statements of overseas subsidiaries hE=% (54,820) (13,613]
Reclassification of translation reserve to REEBINF R AR N
profit or loss on disposal of a foreign subsidiary TEBBEEARNRIER 9,510 -
Cash flow hedges: ReERnEED:
Effective portion of changes in fair value of FREHIAFTHHD
hedging instruments arising during the year AAEEE (8,388) —
195,131 425,711
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHWRELE
Attributable to: BER:
Owners of the Company RANRREFEF A 195,131 424,001
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR — 1,710
195,131 425,711
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

S i# il BAKIRE

31 December 2014 20145 12H31H

2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 3 ARMT T AR T T
Non-current assets IERBEE
Property, plant and equipment N 14 612,520 802,751
Construction in progress fEE TR 15 835,447 418,996
Investment properties REMHE 16 103,814 115,816
Land use rights =+ Hb {F A AE 17 77,564 216,465
Intangible assets B AE 18 2,700 6,137
Deferred tax assets EIENRIA A BE 20 115,585 84,575
Long-term pledged deposits R HEE TR 25 - 150,000
Long-term bank deposits RHISRITER 25 - 327,887
Other non-current assets BEMIERSEE - 7,117
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 1,747,630 2,129 744
Current assets REBEE
Inventories =8 21 717,901 886,229
Trade receivables 2 5 EW 22 43,498 32,068
Prepayments, deposits and BRFE Rk
other receivables H fth B W 7k 18 23 178,781 171,412
Other financial assets EmemEE 24 1,289,964 444,508
Pledged deposits RESEX 25 151,351 42,311
Cash and bank balances B4 MIRTT4 & 25 799,542 810,384
Total current assets MEEEBE 3,181,037 2,386,912
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 R 26 234,472 346,469
Other payables and accruals Hib RN R ETER 27 674,611 793,221
Derivative financial instruments THESRTE 28 2,027 =
Interest-bearing bank loans FRRITHE K 29 141,431 154,464
Current tax payable & P45 350 58,551 40,838
Total current liabilities VLR RETEE 1,110,892 1,334,992
Net current assets mEBEEFEE 2,070,145 1,051,920
Total assets less current EEH#HERRBARE
liabilities 3,817,775 3,181,664
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (conTiNueD)
S {7 B B AR R 2 )

31 December 2014 20149F12A831H

2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 3 ARMT T AR T
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Interest-bearing bank loans ST EIRITER 29 621,163 47,084
Derivative financial instruments PESMT A 28 7,618 —
Deferred income iR T W 30 7,397 12,085
Deferred tax liabilities BEFTS R EE 20 7,835 12,531
Total non-current liabilities e IN=E L 644,013 71,700
Net assets EEFE 3,173,762 3,109,964
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners of AAREE AEWN
the Company R
Issued capital B TR 31 305,532 305,532
Reserves i 32 2,868,230 2,804,432
Total equity DB 3,173,762 3,109,964

Mr. Zhang Lidian
R FISH e 4

Director

EF

Mr. Li Dongming

FRAKXE

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SHESZME

Year ended 31 December 2014 EHZE2014F12A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRRARERHARL
Capital PRC Share Other Non-
Share Share redemption statutory option capital  Translation  Contributed Hedging Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve  reserves reserve reserve reserve surplus reserve  earnings Total interests equity
RBEE  HEEE EfER

Bx RiER i R RERR R ERGE RMEHR ENERE REEA £ FEREE ER4E
Notes ~ RMBOOD ~ RMBOOD ~ RMBOOO  RMBODO  RMBOOD ~ RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBODO  RMBOD0  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO0
Wit ARETT ARBTR ARBTR ARETT ARBTL AREBTR ARETR AREBTL ARETR ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETR

[note 1) [note 320l [note 310v))  (note 32(iil [note 33) [note 32(v)]  [note 321il] note 28]
(W3 (a2l (ARSI (RREQ26) (K33 i) I s I .

Asat 1 January 2014 R20E1A18 305,532 712,158 818 136,307 - (41,282) (37,256) 1,367,204 - 666,483 3,109,964 - 3,109,964
Profit for the year E3:4:0 - - - - - - - - - 28,829 28,829 - 28,829
Other comprehensive income A2 ElE
Cash flow hedges, net of tax BeRBEH (RHR) - - - - - - - - (8,388) - (8,388) - (8,388)
Exchange differences on translation b F A ESNEHE

of financial statements of HHER

overseas subsidiaries - - - - - - (54,820) - - - (54,820) - (54,820)
Reclassification of translation REERNFLAR 3

reserve to profitor loss on HIMETEER

disposal of a foreign subsidiary & \RHE% - - - - - - 9,510 - - - 9,510 - 9,510
Total comprehensive income for 2 F WA

the year - - - - - - 45,310 - (8,388) 248,829 195,131 - 195131
Dividends approved inrespectof  BIERF A

the previous year - (131,333 - - - - - - - - (131,333) - (131,333
Appropriation to statutory reserves AT iR - - - 26,112 - - - - - (26,712) - - -
As at 31 December 2014 R2016E12831 8 305,532 580,825* 818* 163,019* - (41,282) (82,566)  1,367,204* (8,388)*  888,600* 3,173,762 - 3173762
Asat 1 January 2013 R2013F1518 302,601 1,682,341 818 107476 15,623 (18,279) (23,643 1,367,204 = 644,918 4,079,089 3287 4,082,346
Profit for the year FREH = = - - - - - - - 437614 437614 1710 439,32
Other comprehensive income EhzEks = = = = = = 13,613) = = = 13,613) = 13,813)
Total comprehensive income for 2 E WX AE

the year - - - - - - (13.613) - = 437,614 424,001 1710 42511
Dividends approved in respect of HARHAR

the previous year - - - - - - - - - (402432 [402,432) = 402,432)
Special dividend approved Bk e AR A - 00531 = - - - - - - - [(1005371) - (10031
Shares issued for exercise of RAX 77

share options 2931 35,188 = = (6818) = = = = = 31,301 = 31,301
Equity-settled share-based REEERH

payment transactions 25 - - - - 6,409 - - - - - 6,409 = 6,409
Transfer of share option reserve RABERETEEN

upon the cancellation of HEEE

share options - - - - [15,214) - - - - 15,214 - - -
Acquisition of non-controlling Wk RES

interest - - - = = (23,003) = = = - (23,003) 6997 (28,000)
Appropriation to statutory reserves & AV i & = = = 28831 = = = = = (28.831) = = =
As at 31 December 2013 W20135128318 305,532 712,158* 818* 136.307* = 41,282 (37,2560 1,367,204 = 666,483* 3,109,964 - 3,109,964

* These reserve amounts comprise the current year consolidated reserves of * ELRETEAKGHMBRARTNAEE

RMB2,868,230,000 (2013: RMB2,804,432,000) in the consolidated statement of financial & Bf % 8 A R 1 2,868,230,0007T (20134F : A R #&
position. 2,804,432,000 75



BIREMRIERERAS 2014FF8R 97

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SHREREE

Year ended 31 December 2014 EHZE2014F12A31HIEFE

2014 2013
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB ' 000
b AR%T T AREET T
Cash flows from operating RETHEERE
activities
Profit before tax IR 309,685 576,717
Adjustments for: FEIFR -
Depreciation and amortisation T8 I 5 93,973 85,637
Net loss on disposal of items of HEME BER
property, plant and equipment REHEREE 1,018 806
Impairment write-off of property, plant ME - BWER&EE
and equipment B R 18 2 (492) (1,092)
Provision for/(write-back of] impairment & 5 & H th f& 51
of trade and other receivables B E%ERE(EE) (75) 442
Provision for/(write-back of) inventories 1 & i {EI8 % (#E[E) 2,489 (142)
Equity-settled share-based transactions ~IXAEZE R H X MR 5 - 6,409
Interest income 8 A (31,225) (54,218)
Interest expense IBEN 6,683 13,215
Foreign exchange difference, net fE B H 5 (5,847) (10,990)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net RETARFR = (78,906) —
Gain on other investments H & & W (30,177) (23,569)
267,126 593,215
Decrease/lincrease) in inventories FERL,(Em) 161,672 (233,165)
Increase in trade receivables Z 5 e W BR ZAE N (12,427) (4,794)
Increase in prepayments,deposits and TERTRRIE - & I H eI
other receivables FRIE I N (42,433) (55,073)
Decrease/lincrease) in pledged deposits ~ {E&{E A FEREEH
related to letters of credit SRR ERITER
"L, (HE ) 41,373 (4,572)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, BHRMAR - EMEM
other payables and accruals RIEBMEEHA
1#0,CR 4) (68,575) 47,615
Decrease in deferred income i 3 WY 2 Rk (4,688) (6,542)
Cash generated from operating activities & & /EB TSR & 342,048 336,684
Income tax paid EATFTEH (77,591) (195,807)
Net cash flows from operating activities R& EEFEBREEE 264,457 140,877
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conrtinue)

SHRERERm@

Year ended 31 December 2014 EZE2014F12A31HIEFE

2014 2013
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB' 000
Ff 5 AR¥ET T ARBT T
Cash flows from investing RETHEERE
activities
Interest received B U F B 36,555 33,488
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BB K&
plant and equipment P15 I8 2,091 5,057
Proceeds from disposal of constructionin & &2 TI21E B TS 28
progress 42,067 -
Proceeds from sales of other financial & E fth & 5 & B P 1S ;B
assets 2,596,508 2,763,464
Receipts of other bank deposits at maturity £ i 88 17 17 5% EI| BB A I 3K 735,610 1,207,872
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries & F R RIKIEA 34 487,882 —
Payment of other bank deposits H 3R 1777 ;AT K (796,610) (788,758)
Acquisition of property, plant and BEWE WERSE
equipment (44,175) (23,798
Increase in construction in progress FEIZEBEAMNK (659,920) (231,462)
Acquisition of intangible assets BERLEE (2,335) (4,204)
Deposit for acquisition of land use right HBEE LM TE S - (11,421)
Acquisition of other non-current assets BB E EMIEREE E (17,842) (124,529)
Acquisition of other financial assets BEHMEMEE (3,432,000) (2,983,500
Deposit for performance bond related S {5 B - Hb {58 FA 4 4R B8 Y
to land use right BARZ S - (10,533)
Net cash flows used in investing activities IR EEE T AR E FHE (1,052,169) (168,324)
Cash flows from financing MEETHRERE
activities
Proceeds from loans EXFTSA 714,829 614,562
Proceeds from shares issued for exercise & 17 42 Ug 2| 9 ZUB
of share options - 31,301
Receipts of pledged deposits at maturity in £2 R 77 & FX 48 B8 & ZI| A 3K 48
relation to bank loans T UK 100,000 495,420
Payment of pledged deposits in relation  E24R 17 & 2 AR B8 /O K 1R 12 3¢
to bank loans B 3K (100,413) (383,550
Repayments of interest-bearing bank loans {8 & 57 B B 3 (155,693) (741,777)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U % > SR A% BR 25 - (28,000
Interest paid EENEESS (4,517) (4,887)
Dividends paid E AT IR A (131,333) (1,407,803)
Dividend of the prior year paid to a X D BRR AR FE
non-controlling shareholder % F - (19,800
Net cash flows from/(used) in METHHRES(FRAERS
financing activities FE 422,873 (1,444,534)
Net decrease in cash and cash REeERRECEBYRL FHE
equivalents (364,839) (1,471,981)
Cash and cash equivalents FHNERERBESEEY
at beginning of year 25 611,384 2,073,161
Effect of exchange rate changes ExgnHEeRES
on cash and cash equivalents ZENHNSE (7,003) 10,204
Cash and cash equivalents FRESRBEESEEY
at end of year 25 239,542 611,384
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
LS IFARRNE

31 December 2014 20149 12H31H

2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 3 ARMT T AR T
Non-current assets I REBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RFRAIRRE 19 2,066,843 2,180,626
Total non-current assets EMBEELT 2,066,843 2,180,626
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREeEEY 25 625 2,196
Total current assets MENEERTE 625 2,196
Current liabilities RBaE
Other payables and accruals H fth j& A~ 518 & e 5T B 27 11,553 11,088
Total current liabilities MEBBEES 11,553 11,088
Net current liabilities RBEEFEE (10,928) (8,892)
Net assets EEFE 2,055,915 2,171,734
Equity =
Issued capital B 217 R AR 31 305,532 305,532
Reserves #1E 32 1,750,383 1,866,202
Total equity R 2,055,915 2,171,734

Mr. Zhang Lidian
R &

Director

EF

Mr. Li Dongming
TRAKE
Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 1 Bl 5 6 2= Bl 51

31 December 2014 20145 12A31H

2.1

Corporate Information

Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company’) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 June 2010 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Chapter 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised] of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2014 comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).
The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of
dairy and nourishment products.

Basis of Presentation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”], which
comprise standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB”), and
International Accounting Standards ("IASs”] and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance relating to
the preparation of financial statements, which for this financial
year and the comparative period continue to be those of the
predecessor Companies QOrdinance (Cap. 32), in accordance with
transitional and saving arrangements for Part 9 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622], “Accounts and Audit”, which are
set out in sections 76 to 87 of Schedule 11 to that Ordinance. The
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except for derivative financial instruments and other
financial assets which have been measured at fair value. In
addition, these consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

2.1

REEHR
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Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.0O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (coNTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2014. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described in the accounting
policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises |i] the
assets (including goodwill] and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the

carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the

fair value of any investment retained and [iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

S 17 8 B R R B 5F ()

31 December 2014 20149F12A831H

2.1 25 E%E )

EHtEE

EHMBHRREEARARAREFAF
REZE2014F 128318 It FE KB
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ZEETOR  AEEESEHIFE
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XEkBAeREENRZBEAHER
T IAHEH -

MREBEMIBTNRA SRR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

S 1 8 B IR R B 5 )

31 December 2014 20149F12A31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new
standards and amendments in 2014. However, except for further
explained below regarding IFRS 9 (2013), which was early adopted

SR EREESZTEN
=)
AEBEER2014F & X ER AT H%E

BIRAEET - A BR T XFFt B BN
20144F 7 A1 B 12 A 5 B /Y B R B 7% 3R

on 1 July 2014, they do not have any impact on the annual

consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 10,
[FRS 12 and IAS 27

Amendments to IAS 32

IFRIC 21

Amendment to

[FRS 2 Amendment included

in Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendment to
IFRS 3 included in Annual
Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle

Amendment to IFRS 13
included in Annual
Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle

Amendment to IFRS 1
included in Annual
Improvements 2011-2013
Cycle

IFRS 9 (2013)

1 Effective from 1 July 2014
2 Initial application on 1 July 2014

Investment Entities

Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities

Levies
Definition of Vesting

Condition’

Accounting for Contingent
Consideration in a
Business Combination’

Short-term Receivables
and Payables

Meaning of Effective
IFRSs

Financial Instruments?
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HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures (continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
early adoption of IFRS 9, the adoption of the new and revised
IFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

Early adoption of 2013 version of IFRS 9

The Group has elected to early adopt IFRS 9 (2013 since 1 July
2014 under the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, which comprise
the following contents:

The chapters of IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part
of “phase 1:
and financial liabilities” of a comprehensive project to entirely
replace IAS 39 Financial Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification and

classification and measurement of financial assets
[nstruments:

measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial
assets into four categories, these chapters require all financial
assets to be classified on the basis of the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to improve and
simplify the approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of IAS 39.

As a result of the early application of IFRS 9 (2013), the Group has
changed the accounting policy retrospectively with respect to the
classification and measurement of financial assets.
classifying financial assets into four categories, the Group has
classified financial assets as subsequently measured at either

Instead of

amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both the Group's
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. A
financial asset is initially measured at fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at
fair value through profit or loss is expensed in the statement of
profit or loss. A financial asset is subsequently measured at

amortised cost or fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)
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Disclosures (continued)

Early adoption of 2013 version of IFRS 9 (Continued)

The classification and measurement category for each class of

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and

2.2

2
-
;

rE

FTHERBEEZEEN
B

Miﬁmﬂ@%%ﬁ
F 992013 F M 2N (&
RERERAREESREENDE

2 % B
)

financial assets at the date of initial application were as follows: Rt T
Measurement category Carrying amount
FTEER REE
Original New
Financial asset Original (I1AS 39) New (IFRS 9) (1AS 39) (IFRS9)  Difference
R (BB 3 (ERIE
R (EREstER (B EHEER S ER HEER
CREE SE395%) ELE ) E395%) L) =8
Notes RMB000 RMB'000
B & ARBTT ARET
Other financial assets (a] Available for sale at cost  Financial assets at fair 150,000 150,000 —
value through profit or
loss
Hith & @& E BRAGTERHIEE INAnBEFER
FABBECEREE
Trade receivables (b) Loans and receivables Financial assets at 26,859 26,859 —
amortised cost
B S ENGR B R EUGRIR RESER AT
PREE
Prepayments, deposits and ~ (b]  Loans and receivables Financial assets at 67,569 67,569 —
other receivables amortised cost
BNHE - -Rek EX KRR RS AT E
H At JE W50 TR PREE
Interest receivables (b) Loans and receivables Financial assets at 10,397 10,397 —
amortised cost
& WL A 2 B R A BREBEKATEL
TREE
Other financial assets (a) Loans and receivables Financial assets at fair 434,714 434,714 —
value through profit or
loss
Hih ¢ R & E ERREWRZIE NWRnBEEFZE
FFABBEIEREE
Pledged deposits (b)  Loans and receivables Financial assets at 26,100 26,100 —
amortised cost
REEHFR B % A REBENATEL
TREE
Long-term pledged deposits  [b]  Loans and receivables Financial assets at 150,000 150,000 =
amortised cost
RHEEATH B IR REHERAFTEZ
PREE
Long-term bank deposits (b) Loans and receivables Financial assets at 338,325 338,325 =
amortised cost
RERITEK B R A REHENAFELZ
EREE
Cash and bank balances (b) Loans and receivables Financial assets at 905,804 905,804 —
amortised cost
He RBITER B % MR REBHEKATEL
TREE
Total financial assets 2,109,768 2,109,768 —

BemEE




HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

Early adoption of 2013 version of IFRS 9 (Continued)

(a)

(b)

At the date of initial application, the Group’s unit trust
investments (which were previously classified as available-
for-sale investments under IAS 39) and short-term
investment deposits (which were previously classified as
loans and receivables under IAS 39) have been reclassified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The
adoption of IFRS 9 (2013) on these financial assets has had
no material financial impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group given that the terms of the
investments are relatively short.

Other financial assets continue to be measured at amortised
cost upon the initial application of IFRS 9 (2013).

The application of IFRS 9 (2013) on 1 July 2014 also has had no
impact on the Group's classification and measurement of financial

liabilities and hedge accounting given that the Group did not have

any financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or

loss nor any hedging transactions before 1 July 2014.

The Group has elected to restate prior period in accordance with
the transitional provisions of IFRS 9 (2013).

Except for IFRS 9 (2013), the Group has not early adopted any
standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but
not yet effective.

2.2
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2.3 New and Revised IFRSs and New Disclosure
Requirements under the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance not Yet Adopted

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

IFRS 9 (2014)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to IFRS 11

IFRS 14

IFRS 15

Amendments to IAS 16 and
IAS 38

Amendments to IAS 16 and
IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 19

Amendments to IAS 27

Financial Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

Accounting for Acquisitions

of Interests in Joint Operations®

Requlatory Deferral Accounts®
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers’
Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation

and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants’

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions'

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements®
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HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.3 New and Revised IFRSs and New Disclosure
Requirements under the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Not Yet Adopted
(Continued)

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of
2010-2012 Cycle IFRSs'

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of
2011-2013 Cycle IFRSs'

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of
2012-2014 Cycle IFRSs?

Amendments to [FRS 10, Investment Entities
IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Applying the Consolidation

Exception
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

5 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial statements
beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not applicable to the Group

The Group is in the process of determining whether these new
and revised IFRSs will have any material impact on the Group’'s
results of operations and financial position.

In addition, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622] will
affect the presentation and disclosure of certain information in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31
December 2015. The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the impact of these changes.
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2T EEHBERE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee [i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company's
statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that are
not classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Hold for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit or loss
or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is not within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate IFRS. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit [group of cash-generating units) is less than
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

E¥EREHNEE @

RERATHEEEEENBLESE
BR(FBEELERMMAR) AT KD
SHERRET - MBEBSEL B (KB
SESBRAR) K Ik E S IE R
EEE NRRREEBL DERY
7 B 14 S TN 7E 76 4 A R P 10

IREAEERREELEM (KRS
EEEMAR N8B0 REMH
DEBHER  AEBEMRLEXH
M BB BT EN B ERMND
B AREBNEAE EE5BBR
THENBEREMEEXKNRY
BEMRSELEMOREDFRET

fB

ARBEAE - 2ABEART
L2REZHEAERRLENARFR
SH HE-—HEEMERIXEE
—HAEEMBXNNER - AR(EE
AERRLEEELAEERRERL
EXEMS AEBEETEMSEIEFE
MBI T - BEMERA MO TS L
TEEMRBENX S X HEXEAMNM
EXTEMHEREANMS LETR
5 HEEMBRERAAAEBEFE
REMBL2LEEUFSELEMNZEH
REERHEEMBEETEE-

RAnBEFEFSREE BEZE
BhmE2EERBEERZEERR
REMAO T AEELEN = AR
h REBBEZEELERERRE
HARN&ERBOEMTIS2EEDN
DREERENSENEN -



HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined [(net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i]  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv]  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v]  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a); and

(vi) a person identified in (a]li) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful
lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Plant and buildings 13-47 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10vyears
Motor vehicles S years
Office equipment and others S years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the
direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use
in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual
value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of investment properties.
The estimated useful lives range from 27.5 to 50 years.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Office software

Office software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 5 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight line basis
over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

The group recognises financial assets at which the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value though profit or loss
is expensed Iin the statement of profit or loss.

This classification depends on whether the financial asset is a
debt or equity investment.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as debt
instruments at amortised cost, debt instruments, derivatives and
equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss and equity
instruments designated as measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (with gains and losses remaining in other
comprehensive income, without recycling).

A financial asset is classified as debt instruments at amortised
cost, if:

o the asset is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on
specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest.

All other financial assets are measured at fair value through profit
or loss, except that for investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, the Group may elect at initial recognition to
present gains and losses in OCI.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Debt instruments at amortised cost

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured
at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is
recognised in profit or loss when the financial asset is
derecognised or impaired and through the amortisation process
using the effective interest rate method.

Debt instruments, derivatives and equity instruments at fair
value through profit or loss

A gain or loss on a debt investment, derivatives and equity
instruments that are subsequently measured at fair value and is
not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss
and presented in the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group's management has elected to present
unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as long as they represent a return on investment.

The Group is required to reclassify all affected debt investments
when and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised [(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset; or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when there
is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has
been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, interest-bearing bank loans, other loans, bonds
payables and other financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. No
financial liabilities have been designated as fair value through
profit or loss by the Group.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period; and [ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

eRmEE @
BIETTE (@)

B A
MOIATERE B ERME R
RABEMEENSERASLE B
FRBFESBEA ELBERT
Bl AGIBE - ERBERIIBRRLE
BB R SRR MRS - % RS IR
RAGHBRRER -

BHEXNANEEBWENEMTERX
it (8 A N 8 B B A R AR R D B A
AR E - BERMNREHE S
ABHEBDZRNWBEKRAT -

HMBERERN
AEEBRTHOVHEREOTIRARE
BEHATRENBARE(EES T
BFt Rk —B) MERFA A
REABEEBLEBRNERNA
W-MBRERENERRAABEL
HETERNERBEI IR ANETT
HERERARBE - RERERR
AEBERTIMENKRSEFERH
ERAAQ: (IRREHRRBETRBE
EOREGFRAX SRR )& RE
ReBHRAHECEWMER) -

RIEEIAETHEE
ERBETHECRE EHNE
W BRI RS BB

HAENEMABRS —BIER—&
RAZBETRANERFTEN TR A
ERR XBREFRAENEREEEE
B R IARHHAE B TY AR VB R 1L HE
RRABEYHRAFEAE MIKREE
MEBRDRBRRPER -



HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts, currency collars and interest rate swaps, to
hedge its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss,
except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is
recognised in other comprehensive income and later reclassified
to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting only if all of
the following criteria are met:

o the hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging
instruments and eligible hedged items.

o At the inception of the hedging relationship, there is formal
designation and documentation of the hedging relationship
and the entity’s risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge. That documentation shall include
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item,
the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will
assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge
effectiveness requirements (including its analysis of the
sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how it determines the
hedge ratio).
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

J the hedging relationship meets all of the following hedge
effectiveness requirements: there is an economic
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging
instrument; the effect of credit risk does not dominate the
value changes that result from that economic relationship;
and the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same
as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging
instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that
quantity of hedged item. However, that designation shall not
reflect an imbalance between the weightings of the hedged
item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge
ineffectiveness (irrespective of whether recognised or not)
that could result in an accounting outcome that would be
inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

o fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in
the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an
unrecognised firm commitment; or

o cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability
in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probable forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in
an unrecognised firm commitment; or

J hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

Fair value hedges

The gain or loss on the hedging instrument shall be recognised in
profit or loss, or other comprehensive income, if the hedging
instrument hedges an equity instrument for which an entity has
elected to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive
income.
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HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

Fair value hedges (Continued)

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost,
the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through the
statement of profit or loss over the remaining term of the hedge
using the effective interest rate method. Effective interest rate
amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall
begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted
for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.
If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

The hedging gain or loss on the hedged item shall adjust the
carrying amount of the hedged item [if applicable] and be
recognised in profit or loss. If the hedged item is a financial asset (or
a component thereof] that is measured at fair value through profit
or loss, the hedging gain or loss on the hedged item shall be
recognised in profit or loss. However, if the hedged item is an
equity instrument for which an entity has elected to present
changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, those
amounts shall remain in other comprehensive income.

When a hedged item is an unrecognised firm commitment (or a
component thereof], the cumulative change in the fair value of the
hedged item subsequent to its designation is recognised as an
asset or a liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges

The separate component of equity associated with the hedged
item (cash flow hedge reserve] is adjusted to the lower of the
following (in absolute amounts]: (i) the cumulative gain or loss on
the hedging instrument from inception of the hedge; and (ii] the
cumulative change in fair value (present value) of the hedged item
(ie the present value of the cumulative change in the hedged
expected future cash flows) from inception of the hedge.

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is
determined to be an effective hedge [ie the portion that is offset by
the change in the cash flow hedge reserve calculated in
accordance with above mentioned) shall be recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred to the statement of profit or loss when the hedged
transaction affects profit or loss, such as when hedged financial
income or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast sale
occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset
or non-financial liability, the amounts recognised in other
comprehensive income are transferred to the initial carrying
amount of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability, the amounts recognised in other comprehensive
income are transferred to the statement of profit or loss in the
same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability
assumed affects the statement of profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised without replacement or rollover (as part of the hedging
strategy), or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for
hedge accounting, the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income remain in other comprehensive income
until the forecast transaction occurs or the foreign currency firm
commitment is met.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current or
separated into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying
contracted cash flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting) for
a period beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting
period, the derivative is classified as non-current (or
separated into current and non-current portions)
consistently with the classification of the underlying item.

o Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash flows
of the host contract.
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HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

Current versus non-current classification (Continued)

J Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The
derivative instruments are separated into current portions
and non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can be
made.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

J in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws] that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way
of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Dividends

Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the
payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") except for Hong Kong ("Mainland China”)
participate in a central defined contribution retirement benefit
plan managed by the local municipal government in the locations
in which they operate. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the companies’ payroll costs and are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central defined contribution
retirement benefit plan.

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid
under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past services provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payments

The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
lincluding directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued]

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in
employee benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms had
not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An
additional expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the equity-settled transactions or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where a share-based option award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph. Any
payment made to the employee on the cancellation or settlement
of the grant shall be accounted for as the repurchase of an equity
interest, i.e. as a deduction from equity, except to the extent that
the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess shall
be recognised as an expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”] are classified as a separate allocation of retained
profits within the equity section of the statement of financial
position, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a
general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
based on the assessment of its specific facts and circumstances.
As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as
the presentation currency of the Group. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the
exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the
hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These
are recognised in other comprehensive income until the net
investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and
credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary
items are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on retranslation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain entities comprising the Group
are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’'s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and own-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualified as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a
portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the
portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and all unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the unused tax losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits, which affects the probability of utilisation and the
tax rate to be used in the calculations. Details of deferred tax
assets are contained in note 20 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of
the receivables. This assessment is based on the credit history of
its customers and other debtors and the current market condition.
Management reassesses the provisions at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the impairment of trade receivables
are contained in note 22 to the financial statements.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of items
of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charges where
useful lives are different to those previously estimated, or it will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives
may differ from estimated useful lives; actual residual values may
differ from estimated residual values. Periodic review could result
in a change in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore
depreciation expenses in the future periods.
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Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has four
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Production and sale of Yashily pediatric milk formula
products — this segment includes the development,
manufacture and sale of Yashily pediatric milk formula
products and milk formula for pregnant women in the PRC
and overseas.

(b)  Production and sale of Scient pediatric milk formula
products — this segment includes the development,
manufacture and sale of Scient pediatric milk formula
products and milk formula for pregnant women in the PRC
and overseas.

(c)  Production and sale of nutrition products — this segment
includes the development, manufacture and sale of milk
powder for adults and teenagers, soymilk powder, rice

cereal and cereal products in the PRC and overseas.

(d)  Other operations include the production and sale of packing
materials which mainly serve the Group's internal use, and
the sale of surplus raw materials. The results of these
operations are included in the “others” column.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the senior executive
management team assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of “reportable segment profit”, i.e
“revenue less cost of sales and selling and distribution expenses”.
The Group does not allocate other income and gains, net finance
costs, expenses other than certain selling and distribution
expenses to its segments, as the senior executive management
does not use this information to allocate resources to or evaluate
the performance of the operating segments. Segment assets and
liabilities are not regularly reported to the Group’s senior
executive management and therefore information of reportable
segment assets and liabilities are not presented in these financial
statements.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) L REFTHER @
Year ended 31 December 2014
BZ2014F 128318 LEE
Scient
Yashily pediatric
pediatric milk milk
formula formula Nutrition
products products products Others Total
£ R e &
BHREE BEHRES
5 E W % E m EER H &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TrK AR TR ARETR AR%®TR
Segment revenue: DEUWA :
Sales to external fHE T HNEB
customers =P 1,832,919 437,896 533,834 11,785 2,816,434
Intersegment sales D E S — — — 108,820 108,820
1,832,919 437,896 533,834 120,605 2,925,254
Reconciliation: HER -
Elimination of 158 5 2B [E
intersegment sales k== (108,820)
Total revenue FEU N 2,816,434
Segment results DERELE 240,609 55,250 71,690 1,535 369,084
Reconciliation: HAR -
Finance income B 75 g A 61,402
Finance costs B 7 Bk A (6,683)
Unallocated other B B9 E At
income and gains LN & 125,511
Unallocated AOBHHE A
other expenses Seallun (239,629)
Profit before tax & &5 A% ) 309,685
Income tax expense FiBHAX (60,856)
Profit for the year F 5% T 248,829
Other segment Hth 5 & H
information
Depreciation P& N 3
and amortisation 49,421 24,843 6,708 3,200 84,172
Unallocated amounts RAPOBLRIE 9,801
Total depreciation & K o
and amortisation 4878 93,973
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K& EHER @)

4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4.

Year ended 31 December 2013
HE2013F12A3NBLEE

Yashily Scient
pediatric milk pediatric milk
formula formula Nutrition
products products products Others Total
FE L F iy
LYRESE BHIEH
I E W13 E =& H i =X
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBETT ARETT AREFTT ARETT
Segment revenue: DEBULA -
Sales to external $HE TN
customers =FE 2,660,731 660,511 546,240 22,517 3,889,999
Intersegment sales D EbfE e E — — — 142,305 142,305
2,660,731 660,511 546,240 164,822 4,032,304
Reconciliation: R -
Elimination of 155 5 BB E
intersegment sales HE (142,305)
Total revenue FER PN 3,889,999
Segment results D EELE 549,935 89,741 99,978 6,343 745,997
Reconciliation: R -
Finance income B 75 U A 108,221
Finance costs B 75 5 K (13,215)
Unallocated other Ko B E A
income and gains WA R W a 26,206
Unallocated R By E A
other expenses egun (290,492)
Profit before tax & 5 B S5 A 576,717
Income tax expense FriGBif (137,393)
Profit for the year F 2 m A 439,324
Other segment Hih 5 ZpE R
information
Depreciation e R
and amortisation 43,477 24,932 6,071 5,602 80,082
Unallocated amounts Aol A 5,555
Total depreciation e R
and amortisation 1B EE 85,637
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

Operating Segment Information (continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue is solely from domestic sales during the
year. No export sales were recorded in the years ended 31
December 2014 and 2013. The Group’s senior executive
management periodically reviews the geographic analysis of the
revenue derived from Yashily and Scient pediatric milk formula
products, which summarises the revenue by different tiers of
cities where the Group’s customers operate. The classification of
the tiers is set out below:

o First-tier cities generally include direct-controlled
municipalities, the highest level of cities under the direct
administration of the PRC central government, and
provincial capital cities, including but not limited to Beijing,
Shanghai, Nanchang, Chongging, Shijiazhuang and
Guangzhou. As there is no official classification, this
classification is determined based on the directors’
knowledge and experience;

o Second-tier cities generally refer to prefecture-level cities,
the administrative divisions of the PRC, ranking below a
province and above a county in China's administrative
structure, including but not limited to Dongguan, Nanyang,
Jiujiang and Foshan. As there is no official classification,
this classification is determined based on the directors’
knowledge and experience;

o Third-tier cities generally refer to county-level cities, the
county-level administrative divisions of the PRC, including
but not limited to Jinjiang, Yunmeng, Bozhou, Kunshan and
Luohe. As there is no official classification, this classification
is determined based on the directors’ knowledge and
experience.

4,

S 17 8 B R R B 5F ()

31 December 2014 20149F12A831H

K& EER @

ih & & B

AEEHMBKAZBZRERERNE  BHE
2014F X2013F12A31 B L FEHE
BREHOHEERR - AEEN S RT
BEBEAEFEHERBELTR KiERE
2 58 B2 75 40 4 BE on P EE AE A IR B 1
BUEST EFRRAEEREFE TR
EBEE T SHE MR A - &5
REI DT

s —HREM-—RKREFEEM AT
BhRBEFEREENRSE
BEH e REERT BEET
RRiEm -t BME FE-
AXRELREMN -ARREES D
B ZE0RBREZREEAND
MERETE

s  HREMTMIZESTEITRERSAM
A& RPEONTERRABEFER
ERRE BRETERRSE
Mg LI RFL- AREAE
TR BREIEHEEREH
MBRERERE :

s =HREMTIZEPEEATHES
MEREM BREEATRRET
T2 -=2MBIUWERM AR
BREETNE RENEHES
REBHEMNBRERETE
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) L RETHER @

ih & & B (@)

Geographical information (Continued)

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ Tt ARET T
Yashily pediatric milk HLREHRES
formula products TR ER
Revenue derived from B AR [E /Y A
— First-tier cities —— &M 189,385 273,561
— Second-tier cities — —fEm 673,297 1,032,870
— Third-tier cities and others —Z=BHmkEM 970,237 1,354,300
1,832,919 2,660,731
Scient pediatric milk formula HEEREYRES
products W Em
Revenue derived from KB MR E A A
— First-tier cities —— W m 29,120 69,962
— Second-tier cities — g 190,486 415,222
— Third-tier cities and others — =8B KkEM 218,290 175,327
437,896 660,511
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)
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5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as

5. WA -

Htb WA K W &

AEBEBRA - EMRA RS D

follows: T
2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®BT T ARBTF T
Revenue WA
Sales of goods EmiHE (a) 2,816,434 3,889,999
Other income and gains Hag A & W=
Government grants I #6 BY)
— Compensation for expenses —HEEAXHNME
incurred 1,663 1,370
— Compensation for —HEBEEENME
acquisition of assets 4,688 6,542
— Taxes refund — R 21,130 5,228
Compensation income fE A (b) 824 2,415
Rental income el A 9,620 8,622
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries BEFRAAWRE 34 78,906 =
Foreign exchange gains PE 5 Wz 5,847 —
Others Hib 2,833 2,029
125,511 26,206
Notes: Bt 3 -
(a) The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy and (a) AEBXZERFINEMREETMERE R

nourishment products. Revenue, which is also the Group’'s turnover,

represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers. Revenue excludes

sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

The Group's customer base is diversified and no revenue from transactions

with a single customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue

during the period.

(b) Compensation income mainly represented forfeitures received from

distributor customers for cross territorial sales that breached the terms of

distribution agreements during the year.

E-EXE ETEAKEMNERLA D
AEFHENERNFHEEE  RATE
EHED WM ERHESH

AEENFEPERZ (L REA - L&
FERBE-—RFNR M mROBAGE RS

EALETEMNI0%K A L

(b)  HWEUWAETZERNF ADLE R H 5%
HE AR PR RHFRIA -
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6. Other Expenses 6. HMBx
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
ART R ARBT T
Loss on disposal of items of BEWE BEKR

property, plant and equipment BEEEN 1,018 1,071
Losses on disposal of inventory FEMEEL (a) 5,048 297
Impairment of inventory FERE 2,489 -
Donations =L 2,674 7,450
Others Hth 4,377 2,836
15,606 11,654

Note: B oE
(a) Losses on disposal of inventory mainly represented losses arising from (a) FTERERELATERRREIEL  HER

stocktake loss, disposal of damped or deteriorated inventory and disposal of

packaging.

HMREEREENTERBRESRYEM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)
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31 December 2014 20149F12A831H

7. FR% AT R

£ B # BR B BT R A JD AR R4

7. Profit Before Tax

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting): m) THEIEEEEE
2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR T ARBTF T
Cost of goods sold B E KA 1,371,441 1,809,888
Depreciation of items of property, M WEREHEE
plant and equipment* e 14 77,050 69,250
Depreciation of investment properties & & E 16 4,258 4,253
Amortisation of land use rights o 150 R A B 17 5,653 4,597
Amortisation of other non-current HM3EmE & EHH
assets 4,840 5,533
Amortisation of intangible assets B AESH 18 2,172 2,004
Total depreciation and amortisation mEREHEBE 93,973 85,637
Minimum lease payments under EEMEEHE
operating leases of buildings =EHE£ 15,395 14,465
Auditors’ remuneration 12 21 B B 1,830 4,740
Employee benefit expense* EEBHE*
(excluding directors’ and chief (TEREEREFETH
executive's remuneration (note 9)): A B E B (T EE9))
Wages, salaries and allowances IT& - e KkER 312,080 340,091
Pension scheme contributions RIKSEEIHR
(defined contribution schemes) (T Za T 3) 18,140 46,582
Equity-settled share-based P& HE 45 A9 ST 15 B 2
payment expenses & — 6,409
330,220 393,082
Interest income FEWA (31,225) (60,308)
Foreign exchange gain, net BE 5 Uk a5 % 58 - (24,344)
Gain on other investments Hiig & r s (30,177) (23,569)
Total financial income BEE ON (61,402) (108,221)
Loss on disposal of items of HEWHE BMENMZFEIEEB
property, plant and equipment, net B BB F 5 1,018 806
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W AR FORE 22 381 415
Impairment of inventories FERE 2,489 —
Rental income on investment properties 1% & ¥ 2/ £ W A (6,002) (8,622)
*  Part of these costs and expenses were included in “Cost of goods sold” as * AOMZERANEACRSELLREEDN
disclosed above. [ s ERAR]F -
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8. Finance Costs 8. MFAAE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR T T
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable ARAFABEEED

within five years RITEREB TS 10,542 13,344

Less: Interest capitalised to construction B WERMEAERIRRN
in progress (note 15) L2 (B EE15) (3,859) (129)
6,683 13,215
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Remuneration

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration
The Directors” and chief executive's remuneration for the
years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013, disclosed pursuant
to the Hong Kong Listing Rules and section 78 of Schedule
11 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) are as

S {7 Bl 75 R 22 0ff 5T (@)

31 December 2014 20149F12A831H

9. EERARFHH

(a) =E R &M

BIEBEEE EMRARE SR RIEGE
RNEMENEBREENAFEES
TS REE 20145 X 2013412
A3BLEEE EBERLFNHEER

follows: HEemT :
2014
Salaries,
allowances, Performance Share-based Pension
and benefits related payment scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses expenses contributions remuneration
He R HXEFR RGBT BAKEEHE
e REYANES HRE 553 A FMam
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARBTR AR%TR AR®TRT AR®TR
Executive directors YTEE
— Mr. Zhang Lidian (viii) — SR 718 58 4 (viii) - 1,088 412 - 19 1,519
— Mr. Li Dongming (i} —FRBLAEN - 960 540 - 37 1,537
— Mr. Zhang Yanpeng — RIEME L& - 420 180 - 25 625
- 2,468 1,132 - 81 3,681
Non-executive directors FHTES
— Ms. Sun Yiping (i) — BFEFR L) - - - - - -
— Mr. Ding Sheng (i) —TEXE - - - — - -
— Mr. Wu Jingshui (i) - REKEEN - - - - - -
— Mr. Bai Yingvii) — B35 A (il - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
— Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben (v) — B A AN 150 - - - - 150
— Mr. Cheng Shoutai (v) - BFAEEWN 150 - - - - 150
— Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway [vi] ~ — Z=/ #1554 (vi) 150 - - - - 150
450 - - - - 450
450 2,468 1,132 - 81 4,131
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9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 9. EERBHFMNw
Remuneration (continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) ESRERFMH @
remuneration (Continued)
2013
Salaries,
allowances, Performance  Share-based Pension
and benefits related payment scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses expenses  contributions  remuneration
e 2l HEERR B EiKEEE
e REWNZ MRS F% i e Eok
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARKTR ARETRT ARETR
Executive directors HITES
— Mr. Zhang Lidian (viii) — SR80 5 A (viii) — 597 412 888 12 1,354
— Mr. Li Dongming [} —FRBLAEN - 296 194 - 9 499
— Mr. Zhang Yanpeng —REBTE - 486 180 51 12 729
— Mr. Zhang Likun (ii) — SR 380 5 A i) - 337 282 - 12 631
— Mr. Zhang Liming (il — SRAMBA L £ (i) - 325 281 - 12 618
— Mr. Zhang Libo (ii) — SR AR 5 A (i) - 429 380 - 12 821
- 2,470 1,729 384 69 4,652
Non-executive directors FHTES
— Ms. Sun Yiping (i) — R L) = = = = = —
— Mr. Ding Sheng (i) - TERAl = = = = = =
— Mr. Wu Jingshui (i) — RRKEELN - - - - - -
— Mr. Chang Herman — SR B 4 A i)
Hsiu Guo (i) - - - - - -
— Mr. Zhang Chi (ii) — 35t 58 4 i) = = = = = =
Independent non-executive BIHTES
directors
— Mr. Chen Yongquan (iii) — Bk R 5% 4 (i) 54 - - - - 54
— Mr. Yu Shimao (iv) — RUELE 65 - - - - 65
— Mr. Samuel King On Wong (iv]  — E& & 5 & (iv) 337 - - - - 337
— Mr. Liu Jinting (iv) — Bl E V) 61 - - - - 61
— Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben [v) — REREEN 19 - - - - 19
— Mr. Cheng Shoutai [v) - BFREEWN 19 - - - - 19
— Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway [vi]  — ZE 3 5 4 (vi) 14 - - - - 14
569 — — — — 569

569 2,470 1,729 384 69 5,221
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9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Remuneration (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

On 24 July 2013, Mr. Li Dongming was appointed as an
executive director. Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr. Ding Sheng and
Mr. Wu Jingshui were appointed as non-executive
directors. On 6 June 2014, Mr. Ding Sheng resigned as
a non-executive director.

On 13 August 2013, Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang
Liming and Mr. Zhang Libo resigned as executive
directors. Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu Guo and Mr. Zhang
Chi resigned as non-executive directors.

Mr. Chen Yongquan, an independent non-executive
director, passed away on 15 October 2013.

On 15 November 2013, Mr. Yu Shimao, Mr. Samuel
King On Wong and Mr. Liu Jinting resigned as
independent non-executive directors.

On 15 November 2013, Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr.
Cheng Shoutai were appointed as independent non-
executive directors.

On 27 November 2013, Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway was
appointed as an independent non-executive director.
On 5 June 2014, Mr. Bai Ying was appointed as a non-

executive director.

On 7 January 2015, Mr. Zhang Lidian was appointed as
a non-executive director.

9. EERBEFHN@

(a) EBRAEZFHFWN@

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

M2013F7 8248 » & &R B
EEWEZERITES &
FELL - TETENRS
KEEWEERIERITTE
EoR2014F6H6H - TE
SHEREIHENTES

oR F #0545 A4~ 5% F PR S A
MEREEEBTRITE
= oR B 2 A Mok ot St A
BAFNITES  H2013F
8HI13H £ -

B IENITE B KR L
HA20134E 10 A 15 B Bttt o

KU R AE  BWMEEEM
BISEELEBRTBLIEH
fTEE - H2013F11 A 158
A e

MR2013%E11 158 » EEE
EEFMEBTFREEREZE
BB IEHITES ©

MR2013F 11 A278 » =H&E
HEWET T EIBILIERTIT
=

201456 A58 © B B 5
ERRERIFEATES

M2015F1 A7 - 3R Fl 48 5%
EWEERBIERITES -
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9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Remuneration (continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees

9. EERBEFHN@

b) EEBESHEEE

Two (2013: one) of the five highest paid individuals were
directors whose emoluments are shown above. Details of
the emoluments paid to the remaining three (2013: four)
highest paid individuals who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company for the year were as follows:

&= #H AL 8EMA(2013
FOES FRARFOME
EHMEREXHE -AFEXM
TESB = (20134 : WAL) IR
RAEFHARRITRAERSH

A TH B ST :

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T T AREF T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 2B R E WA 2,988 3,019

Performance related bonuses HE¥EEFRBANES 1,327 2,365
Pension scheme contributions BINEFHEIHE R

(defined contribution schemes) (EBEEREED 58 76

4,373 5,460

The number of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

2 AR T 4RI R SFE E R IFEE
MEmFMHOEEHRBENT

Number of employees

EE&HE
2014 2013
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 /& T &
1,000,0007% 7T 1 —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 /& L&
1,500,000/ JT 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& T &
2,000,000 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001t E
2,500,000 7T — 1
3 4
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10. Income Tax Expense
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10. R BB X

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AR¥TF T

Current income tax BIHAFT 15 7 93,281 145,073
Adjustments recognised in the year for AENERAEFEH

current tax of prior years BV ER 75 78 8 B 2,024 2,349

Deferred income tax RIEFTISHL (34,449) (10,029)

Tax charge for the year REEMIBL N 60,856 137,393

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the PRC statutory income tax rate and the income
tax expense at the Group's effective income tax rate for the year is

FEEEA - LR A AR BAE
IERMERFENRSHRAS 817
BAKEERMGHRBERFENRE

as follows: HAS  HERWOT :
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T ARBTT
Profit before tax BR Bt Al s 7 309,685 576,717
At the PRC statutory tax rate of 25% =W BUA TE 5 X 25%
(2013: 25%) (i) (20134F : 25%) (i) 77,421 144,179
Adjustments recognised in the year for RERNERAETFEDN
current tax of prior years BV EA 756 18 38 2 2,024 2,349
Effect of non-deductible expenses DA HFL S ) 522 4,740 4,535
Effect of preferential tax rates on BETXHAAEMNTIER
current tax payable (ii) & (i) (981) (7,620)
Unrecognised temporary differences and ABEREREZERNIEEE
tax losses 52 13,105
Utilisation of previously unrecognised HANEREREREZHERER
temporary differences and losses (1,925) (9,190)
Withholding income tax BRI (12,500) 13,000
Effect of non-taxable income =0 ON0- 2 (512) (2,622)
Effect of non-taxable gains on disposal of BREFRAATEBRANTE
subsidiaries (16,835) —
Tax deductible loss on intragroup transfer ~ F R A REEZES| EH
of equity interests in subsidiaries BB — (20,343)
Others H fth 9,372 =
Tax charge for the year at the effective rate A FEZBERHEXTEH
MBS 60,856 137,393
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10. Income Tax Expense (continued)

(i)

(ii)

The effect of tax rate difference mainly represented the
effect of differences in tax rates among the Company and its
subsidiaries and the tax effect arising from differences
between the tax rate of 25% being applied in the
computation of the expected income tax and the rate for
recognising the deferred tax.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
passed by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16
March 2007 (the “New Tax Law"], the statutory income tax
rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January
2008.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the "BVI’], the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the
BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2014 is
calculated at 16.5% (2013: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

11. Profit Attributable to Owners of the
Company

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company for

the year ended 31 December 2014 includes a loss of
RMB6,670,000 (2013: a profit of RMB400,691,000) which has been
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note 32(b)).

10. A5 B B8 X ()

(]l TRARXNFEIEBREARA
REFRBZEAERTRT XL
T URGAEBEHMAEHRER
156 73 #9 25% 1% 2K £ B 52 4 XE % 1R
BF P 450 PR B9 75 2R N [R) P EE AR 9 A

B 488
A

BEEF+TEZEARRERRER
20073 H16H 1B @ HCH E A
REMBSERMBRE
A1) AEBEH EF ARG 82008
FIATBREEMERMEAE
25% o

(i) BREFNSHERRBREAES
(TRBRERZES] NRE KA
B AKBEREHSBEERR
BREZESHERERAEH -

NEBE201LFEF/EF SR BB
ARFE R ERR A %
H816.5% (20134 : 16.5%) B i =
EHIE e

M. XABEEAEERE

HEZ20U4FE1283B EEFE XA
AEEAEBEAHFBEREERA
APRAIVERERFLHENEEARE
6,670,000 7T (20134F = 7 @ A R %
400,691,0007t) (K 5E32(b)) °



HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

12. Dividends

The dividends for the year are set out below:
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12. RE

AEFOBRSHINET

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
ART ARBT T
Dividends: RE
Declared and paid during the year RET IR R Z AT
— Equity dividends on ordinary — & AR R ()
shares (i) 131,333 402,432
— Special dividend approved (i) — B HLER B R (1) — 1,005,371
131,333 1,407,803
Proposed: Bk :
— Final dividend — RMB1.57 cents —RHBRE-BRET BR
(2013: RMB3.69 cents) AR®E1575H
per ordinary share (ii) (20134 - AR®3.699) (i) 74,505 131,333

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

The final dividend of RMB3.69 cents per ordinary share in respect of the
previous financial year was approved by the Company's annual general
meeting on 27 June 2014. A final dividend of RMB11.31 cents and a special
dividend of RMB28.25 cents per ordinary share were approved by the

Company’s annual general meeting on 6 June 2013.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. This
dividend was not recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2014 but will be reflected as an appropriation
of share premium upon the annual general meeting's approval during the

year ending 31 December 2015.

Proposed final dividend per share of RMB1.57 cents times 4,745,560,296
shares, which include 1,186,390,074 subscription shares of Danone Asia Baby
Nutrition Pte. Ltd (“Danone Asia”) on 12 February 2015.

B

(i)

(ii)

=X

R2014F6A27TB AR RARIRRBAFARE £
HESKE—FRFERBREGRE
BARBES369% - R2013F6A6H KA A
BEEAF RS EHERPRE TR LB
ARBENND RERRE TR T BB A
R#2825% °

BIRFERARSEHARARRLEE
REFEFREHE - ZFR B RE2014
FRANBNEHM B REERRAEE
BEERBRREAFASHERRBRAEEE
2005F12A3NAEFEANKRERE D
g o

RORKHAREERARKE1L7TS TN
4,745,560,296 B[ 17 - B B 15201562 A
12 H Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd ([ 3
BESEN.) R AR 204 1,186,390,074 %
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13. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary

Equity Holders of the Company

AEEESRAAR
BERER

o
3»

The basic earnings per share for the year is calculated by dividing AEENSRERAZAFNTIBEF AR
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the NAEBERTA ABRGIERNASE

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

The diluted earnings per share was calculated by dividing the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during that year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares used in
calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share amounts is

NEBRTEBROMEFOHTE -

BREERNDIREBEFALRRAE
A ARG AR AR R
h%ﬁﬁﬂ%%%m¢WE¥ﬁ
hM%iﬁ@&F“F%E@E%%
BRRESTEXER S EBREA
REREBERTHOE BB IEF S EGE

s
= o
=

/r/r/—

HE SRR A R E R A 8 R A
METHRABEHENT -

as follows:
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARET T
Earnings: B :
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ARG ESRELRZF
holders of the Company, used in AAREBERFTEA
the basic earnings per share calculation JE& {5 A1) 248,829 437,614
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13. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary 13. A A B EEREKFEAE
Equity Holders of the Company (continued) HHNERERN @
Number of shares
gy g=|
2014 2013
‘000 ‘000
TR T A%
Shares: e
Weighted average number of STEEREXRRBFMAAN
ordinary shares for the purpose of 5 A% N RE 5
the basic earnings per share calculation 3,559,170 3,549,392
Weighted average number of ordinary BERAAMBEBEREREABITE
shares, assuming issued at no Wi EmREBEETZ
consideration on the deemed exercise T E AR I A T I B
of all share options during the period N/A 38 29,276
Weighted average number of ordinary AEEREERNMAAN
shares for the purpose of the diluted TR INtE T
earnings per share calculation N/A TEH 3,578,668
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. V¥ BERRE
Group rE
Machinery Office
Freehold Plant and and Motor equipment
land buildings equipment vehicles and others Total
WAER
BRI BERET HERRE BeE  HitRE &t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%TR AR%TR ARSTr AR¥TR AR%ETR
2014 20145
Cost: BUAS
At 1 January 2014 R2014F1/81R - 618,874 440,840 61,801 81,908 1,203,423
Additions NE - 3,609 12,188 13,400 14,978 44,175
Transfer from/[to) BHe/ (%)
construction in progress ~ fER2 T 12
(note 15) (B¥5E15) 45,577 23,237 12,782 (458) 5,642 86,780
Disposals RE — (307) (3,858) (4,697) (1,396) (10,258)
Disposal of a subsidiary BE—XFAA
(note 34) (Kt 5E34) —  (173,829)  (65,946) (2,479)  (10,842) (253,096
Transfer from investment  EHE B AW
properties (note 16 (B zE16) - 9,789 - - — 9,789
Exchange realignment B & 5 B (5,474) - - (16) (2) (5,492)
At 31 December 2014 R2014F12A318 40,103 481,373 396,006 67,551 90,288 1,075,321
Accumulated depreciation: it & :
At 1 January 2014 R2014F1 818 — (108,219) (196,586) (40,986) (54,881) (400,672)
Depreciation provided ERFTRD
during the year (note 7) & (&) - (23,196) (37,450) (13,477) (2,927) (77,050)
Disposals RE - 96 2,029 3,808 1,217 7,150
Disposal of a subsidiary BRE—RTAA
(note 34) (B &34) - 6,275 1,524 235 396 8,430
Transfer to construction ~ EREERETZ
in progress (note 15) (Pt 3E15) - - 515 373 - 888
Transfer from investment ~ EEHIKE
properties (note 16) W% (st 16) - (2,045) - - - (2,045)
Exchange realignment b R g & - - - 6 - 6
Impairment loss RERX - 151 341 — - 492
At 31 December 2014 R2014F 12318 - (126,938) (229,627) (50,041) (56,195) (462,801)
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2014 R2014F 12318 40,103 354,435 166,379 17,510 34,093 612,520
At 1 January 2014 R2014F1H1H - 510,655 244,254 20,815 27,027 802,751
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14. W% BERRZXE@®

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Group (Continued) KEE (&)
Machinery Office
Plant and and Motor  equipment
buildings  equipment vehicles and others Total
WAER
BiERET HMERRRE WENE  HARE il
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
2013 2013 %
Cost: B
At 1 January 2013 72013F1 518 468,226 365,963 58,520 71,618 964,327
Additions NE 1,297 9,098 6,930 6,473 23,798
Transfer from/(to) gEa/(2)EE

construction in progress T (M&15)

(note 15) 159,952 71,967 2,172 5,683 239,774
Disposals BE (2,135) (6,188) (5,821 (1,866) (16,010)
Transfer to investment BREREME

properties [note 16) (BzE16) (8,466) — = - (8,466)
At 31 December 2013 M2013F 124311 618,874 440,840 61,801 81,908 1,203,423
Accumulated depreciation: ZEiH#TE :

At 1 January 2013 M2013F1A1RH (85,862) (169,007) (41,598) (48,271) (344,738)
Depreciation provided during  F R FHRAITE

the year (note 7) (BEE7) (23,030) (33,654) (4,528) (8,038) (69,250)
Disposals BE 214 3,463 5,042 1,428 10,147
Transfer to constructionin ~ EEEHEETIE

progress (note 15) (Bf7E15) — 1,676 — — 1,676
Transfer to investment EREHEYE

properties (note 16) (MEzE16) 401 . = . 401
Impairment loss EAIEEEES 58 936 98 = 1,092
At 31 December 2013 R2013F 12 A31H (108,219) (196,586) (40,986) (54,881) (400,672
Net carrying amount: BREFE ¢
At 31 December 2013 7201312 A31H 510,655 244,254 20,815 27,027 802,751
At 1 January 2013 M2013F1A18 382,364 196,956 16,922 23,347 619,589
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

15.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment pledged to
secure the advances from local governments (note 27) is set out

14. % BERRZXE@®

RIS M 77 BUR (8 3K (B 3£ 27) i 8
MWE - BERRENEREEDT

below:
Group
AEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBTT
Carrying amount of pledged property, BEHEBYE  BERKRED
plant and equipment AR A 12,153 14,723
Construction in Progress 15. TE T2
Group
rEE
2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARMBT T ARBT T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—BA—HHEEE 418,996 124,275
Additions 30 688,081 537,796
Disposal of subsidiaries BEFRAA 34 (90,319) —
Transfer from/(to) property, plant wEA(2)VE - BE
and equipment B 14 (87,668) (241,450
Disposals BE (42,067) =
Exchange realignment PE R 3 B2 (51,576) (1,624)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+t-—_A=+—HHEAEE 835,447 418,996
Interest expense of approximately RMB3,859,000 was capitalised RELEEF RS RBE2014

to construction in progress for the year ended 31 December 2014
(2013: RMB129,000) prior to being transferred to buildings and

machinery (note 8.

FNRANBLEFE HEXRLEER
TEMFEEBALY A ARMS3859,000
JC (20134 : A R #129,0007T ) ( M 7%
8) °
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16. Investment Properties 16. IRE W
Group
rEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Cost: K
At beginning of the year REH 128,836 120,370
Transfer from/[to) property, plant and EEE(2)DE  BEREE
equipment (note 14) (MF7E14) (9,789) 8,466
At end of the year RER 119,047 128,836
Accumulated depreciation: REHE:
At beginning of the year T 1) (13,020) (8,366)
Charge for the year (note 7) FAHE FIEET) (4,258) (4,253)
Transfer from/(to) property, plant HEH/(2)WE BER
and equipment (note 14) R (P aE14) 2,045 (401)
At end of the year RER (15,233) (13,020)
Carrying amount at end of the year RERKREEE 103,814 115,816
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16. Investment Properties (continued)

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined by the
directors of the Company, based on market approach with
reference to market transaction prices of similar properties,
taking into account of other factors, i.e., characteristics of the
properties and locations, is estimated to be approximately
RMB163,738,000 as at 31 December 2014 (2013: RMB175,866,000.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

16. £ E Y % )

ARARNESZS2RBEUDNENTIER
SER TEEINEMHEZER  WZ
MENEE LB UHEETIHE
ZIRBYEN2014FE12A3MEH R A
BELH A AR 1637380007t (2013
& AR 175,866,0007T) °

RARBEBRERE
THXREHBTAEEREEDEN
DR EEGENEREE -

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2014 using

AR20146FE12A3MMBNAREBENIE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ERmMiEZ EARATEE EAFTAHEE

wE [N & oA
(E&-) (E&H) (E&=) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTRT AR®TR AR TR AR%TTR

Fair value measurement for: R 7 BEF & -

Industrial properties TEMEYE — — 68,611 68,611
Commercial properties [EEJERYES — —_ 95,127 95,127
Total A&t - — 163,738 163,738
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16. Investment Properties (continued) 16. RE Y )
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) PREBEEBRERE @

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2013 using
FAR2013F12A3N BN AR BENAE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2 (Level 3 Total
mBWS BEARAEE BEATAER
wE LN & B A BUR
(F&—) (F&o) (F&=) &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREKETT ARETT AREKETET

Fair value measurement for: AR BETE :

Industrial properties T — — 49,211 49,211

Commercial properties SESEE//E — — 126,655 126,655
Total aaf = = 175,866 175,866
During the years of 2014 and 2013, there were no transfers into or 014FE RBEHEAN AL BHE S E

out of Level 3. AF=ZMIEE=ZFREL -
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17. Land Use Rights 17. L #hfE AR

Group

rEE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Carrying amount at beginning of the year FYREER 216,465 130,432
Additions Pl — 90,630
Amortisation for the year (note 7) FAFTRE S (HEET) (5,653) (4,597)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) BETF A (FE34) (131,311) —
Carrying amount at end of the year FREEER 79,501 216,465

Current portion included in prepayments, BNEAER (D B IETET R - &

deposits and other receivables Ko E b & WK IR 1,937 -
Non-current portion SEENEREE 77,564 216,465
79,501 216,465

Land use rights represent prepayments of land use rights
premium to the PRC authorities by the Group. The Group's
leasehold land is located in Mainland China, on which its
manufacturing plants were located. The Group is granted land

use rights for a period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group was in the process of applying
for the title certificates of an aggregate net carrying amount of
approximately RMB88,968,000. As at 31 December 2014, the
Group has obtained land title certificates for all the land use

rights.

T MR AR E R T BT
BNMEHERELES - AKEH
MEXHURTE ZBELEERSE -
AEBMERTH L HERE - BHIS0

E o

R2013412 318 » AEE K £ B 3
%32 BR DR E 4 A R 188,968,000 7T K
T ARER R2014F 128318 -
NREBDRKREEM L AENL

HEERERE o
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18. BILEE

Group
AEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ Tt AREF T
Cost: R
At beginning of the year ik =] 15,420 11,216
Additions 90 2,335 4,204
Disposal of subsidiaries RE T AF 34 (3,799) =
At end of the year RE R 13,956 15,420
Accumulated amortisation: RItITE
At beginning of the year R EF 7] (9,283) (7,279)
Amortisation for the year A B 7 (2,172) (2,004)
Disposal of subsidiaries BETAA 34 199 —
At end of the year MNER (11,256) (9,283)
Net carrying amount: BREEE :
At end of the year REFXR 2,700 6,137

As at 31 December 2014, the intangible assets represented
purchased and customised software held by the Group.
Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in “"Administrative

expenses”.

Investments in Subsidiaries

M20145F12A31H - BILEE /RN
APREE R HNBARETA W
B BMLEEHHE I ATTTERE
3]

19. RFLRANRE

Company
¥ /N

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR T
Unlisted investments, at cost JELEMEE TR A 30,891 30,891
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEW F A Bl R IE 2,035,952 2,149,735
2,066,843 2,180,626

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors,
the amounts due from subsidiaries are considered as quasi-

equity loans to the subsidiaries.

BFRAACENBBELEER 25
REBREERR EFTRR BRT
R A RIAR G B T A A e 2 A g
HEWER-
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (continued) 19. RFRARINRE @
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are as follows: ARABTARKFBWT
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of equity
registrationand  registered/ interest attributable to
operations issued capital the Company Principal activities
AL, HEMER B DB EMGE
EREREXBE TRAHE kEBES TEEK
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
DNREB Ff & HE SF:3
Yashili International Ltd. BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding
(“Yashili (BVI)")
HEFEBEAR DA RERLEES 17T 100% - KREER

(I'Yashili (BVI) )

Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100%  Investment holding
("Yashili (HK)")

HEFEEEEERD A o 17&7T - 100% REZEK
(ML (FHE)D

Newou Hong Kong International (i) Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% Import and export of
Trading Co., Ltd. dairy products and
(“Newou Hong Kong Trading”) related materials

HREEREESARAA (i) BE 17T = 100% #HAFEmK
(FEEEES]) LiEk R Res

Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., New Zealand NZD87,672,733 - 100% Production and sale of
Ltd. ["Yashili New Zealand") dairy products

HEAHERILEERA A 7o e 87,672,733 - 100% HEREEILHM
(THE L7 (FrEa i) 1) ¥ Pa T

Yashili International Group Ltd. (ii) & (iii) PRC RMB826,105,300 — 100% Production and sale of
("Yashili (Guangdong)”) dairy products

HEREREEBRDA (i) i) allE AR - 100% “ERHEARR
(M A (EH) D) 826,105,300 7T

Scient International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100%  Investment holding
("Scient (HK)")

EEEREEERA R 5 1787 - 100% ®WEZER

(Mea (&#)])

Scient (China) Baby Nourishment (i) & {iii) PRC RMB 155,000,000 — 100% Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. ("Scient (China)”) dairy products

MR () B4 57 & &M (i) B i) H AR - 100% HERHEEI D
BRAR((HER(RE)]) 155,000,000 7T

Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (iii) PRC RMB20,080,000 — 100%  Production and sale of
("Yashili (Heilongjiang]”) dairy products

BRIKLTAIEARAF (iii) A AR = 100% HENHEEIEM

(TR (REI)]) 20,080,000 7T
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (continued) 19. RFRARINRE @
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of equity
registrationand  registered/ interest attributable to
operations issued capital the Company Principal activities
o EMERBE# AR EEGH
BRREXMBE TRAFE REF DL FEEK
Company hame Notes Direct Indirect
AAEH Ho & i k]
Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (iii) PRC RMB300,000,000 — 100% Production and sale of
("Yashili (Shanxi)") dairy products
IR TR EERA A (iii) Al AR = 100% HEMHEEI M
= IR 300,000,000 7C
Chaozhou Chaoan Bisheng (i) & i) PRC RMB10,800,000 — 100% Production and sale of
Decoration and Printing Co., Ltd. packing materials
("Bisheng”)
BN T R % [ 5 B S R B TS (i) % (iii) X AR — 100% HERHEEBEME
BRAR (MDD 10,800,000 7T
Guangzhou Yugian Import and Export (i) PRC RMB5,000,000 — 100% Import and export of
Trading Co., Ltd. "Yugian”) dairy products and
related materials
EMREZELAESER QA (iii) A B AR — 100% #HAFLEmK
(Ma#zl) 5,000,0007T ek R Res
Shanghai Yashili Food Co., Ltd. (iii) PRC RMB2,000,000 — 100%  Sale of food products
("Yashili (Shanghai]”)
LEELTHNRBBERAT (iii) I AR — 100% SHERM
(ML (L&)]) 2,000,0007T
Scient International (USA), Inc. United States of US$620,000 — 100% Investment holding
(“Scient (USA]") America
FEBERBEEREERA R XNE2ARE 620,000 7T — 100% IWEZK
(M2 (1) 1)
Chaozhou Chaoan Victory Trading (i) & {iii) PRC RMBS,000,000 - 100% Import and export of
Limited (“Victory Trading™) dairy products and
related materials
MMTHERFKESERAR () R i) Hh AR — 100% #HOIERR
(TFKE 5] 5,000,000 7T sl kv
Yahui [Maanshan) E-commerce (iii) PRC RMB10,000,000 — 100% Wholesale and retail of
Co., Ltd. ["Yahui (Maanshan]”) dairy products
BB (BRI EIEBERAR i) B AR - 100% IMRHPBHRTE
(T2 (B 10,000,0007T
Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) Trading (i) PRC RMB20,000,000 - 100% Wholesale and retail of
Limited (“Yashili (Maanshan)”) dairy products
HERAE (BRI EE (iii) GillE AR — 100% FHRBPFFRTE

ARAR (THLF(FERWL)]) 20,000,000 7T
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (continued) 19. RF R RAWRE @)
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of equity
registrationand  registered/ interest attributable to
operations issued capital the Company Principal activities
AR EMERBE# AR EEGH
BRREXMBE TRAFE REF DL FEEK
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
AEER Ff 5 Hi =
Scient Nurture International (i) Singapore US$1 - 100% Investment holding

(Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
(“Scient (Singapore]”)

B E B G AR A A (i) Epiikd 17T — 100% REZRK
(M3 B CRf hn3s) 1)

Auckland United Baby Nutrition and (iv) New Zealand US$100 — 100% Development and
Food Research Institute Limited. research of dairy
("Auckland Research Institute”) products

B RBHA BT ERERR (iv) AR 1005 7T — 100% ¥ % A 3
MEMERRA A
(TRHAAEMD

Yashili International Baby (iv) PRC RMB200,000,000 — 100% Production and sale of
Nourishment Co., Ltd. dairy products
("Yashili Nourishment”)

AR RS ' m (iv) B AR — 100% £ERHFHEAER
BRAR ((HLFEER]) 200,000,0007T

Shantou Newou Trading Co., Ltd. (iv) PRC RMB5,000,000 — 100% Import and export of
("Newou (Shantou]”) dairy products and

related materials
WEBETTHTERNE 5B R QA (iv) H B AR — 100% #EAIARGR
(MR ClisE)) 1) 5,000,000 7T LR s
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Yashili Hong Kong International Trading Co., Limited was
renamed as Newou Hong Kong International Trading Co.,

Limited in 2014.

Chaoan Victory Trading Limited was renamed as Chaozhou
Chaoan Victory Trading Limited in 2014.

Ltd. was
renamed as Chaozhou Chaoan Bisheng Decoration and
Printing Co, Ltd. in 2014.

Chaoan Bisheng Decoration and Printing Co,

These companies are wholly foreign-investment enterprises
established in the PRC.

These companies are limited liability companies established
in the PRC. The official names of these companies are in
Chinese and the English translations of the names are for
reference only.

Auckland United Baby Nutrition and Food Research Institute

Limited was established in New Zealand on 7 October 2014.

Yashili International Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd. was
established in Guangzhou, the PRC on 18 December 2014.

Shantou Newou Trading Co., Ltd. was established in
Shantou, the PRC on 16 April 2014.

S 17 8 B R R B 5F ()

31 December 2014 20149F12A831H

19. R F 2 AN EE @)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

R2UFEHRLTNESEEES A
RAREXARFREEERES
BRRATA

ROULEFLFEFNRESBERA
AERRHMMNTHALZENXE S
BRRA] -
R20V4F L FLBBEEANBA
PR A B & AR N T % & 0 B
KEHNBBRRAT -

E%/Tﬁﬂ¢l&4m%ﬁm

e S

ZERAR/RNPEKLNER
BERA - ZFRARMHEARME
EIEPX ﬁﬁ = XD%%E\'J1§T/\/
%o

BRMBEa 2R ESHRRBIFR
FrEMR AR R2014510A7H &
¥ E KA o

HETREBEDREEELRERA
AR 20145F12 A 18 B £ B E M
IERKIL o

ABET BN E 5 B R AR R 2014
FLA16BERBLIBEIERKL
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20. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax during the year are as follows:

20. IR B 1B

FRBERANEHMT :

Group
Arising from
undistributed
earnings of
Inventory Deferred Expense PRC  Cash flow
provision income  Tax losses accruals  subsidiaries hedges Others Total
TETFAE HERE
FEEE EZLhwE HEEE BAR#EA REFE £ Hith &5t
Deferred tax ETH&EEE RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
arising from: MEEZHEB: ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTRT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2014 R2014F1 /18 - 3,020 394 71,700 (12,500) - 9,430 72,044
Credited to the statement ~ MIEZ X
of profit or loss [note 10) T AR R
B (fi=E10) 622 2,130 5,268 12,528 12,500 - 1,401 34,449
Credited to equity (note 28) M4z
T AKETE
178 (BT 5%28) - - - - - 1,257 - 1,257
At 31 December 2014 R20145F
12A318 622 5,150 5,662 84,228 - 1,257 10,831 107,750
At 1 January 2013 R2013F1 /818 36 4,656 192 63,404 (18,000) — 11,727 62,015
Credited/(charged) to REER
the statement of profit SEA G
or loss (note 10) MR E IR
(HFzE10) (36) (1,636) 202 8,296 5,500 — [2,297) 10,029
At 31 December 2013 20134
12H318 — 3,020 394 71,700 (12,500) — 9,430 72,044
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20. iE 7E B 1 (@)

Group

KEE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREF T

Represented by: Ho B4 -

— Deferred tax assets —REFRIBEE 115,585 84,575
— Deferred tax liabilities —EEFIEEE (7,835) (12,531)
107,750 72,044

Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above tax losses and deductible
temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

BEEERYUAREERAEHRER
BAE - AR AR B B IRER R
AMREREER -

EIETIRE EW KRB T5IH B #ER -

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREF T

Temporary difference Lk — 36,667
Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) O HR B K e E AR ) A TE ES AR () 1,547 45,106
Total A&t 1,547 81,773

(i) the above tax losses are available for offsetting against (i)
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose for a maximum of five years.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the above items as it is not considered probable that tax
profits will be available against which the above items can
be utilised.

bt B IEE B A A AR A R E
EERARERWMNEBERZ A
f‘zo

b B IR IR E TR IR & E I &
TUER RRERAKENKA
AR IB G N AT B AIA £
BH-
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20. Deferred Tax (continued)

21.

The following deferred tax liability has not been recognised in
respect of the following items:

At 31 December 2014, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of the subsidiaries established in Mainland
China amounted to RMB980,477,000 (2013: RMB472,240,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB49,024,000 (2013: RMB21,362,000)
have not been recognised in respect of the withholding tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained earnings,
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries
in Mainland China and the directors have determined that these
profits are not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

20. 3E E B 1 (m)

FLATIHB M ARBERELCHEAERE

R20145 12 A31H » B 7E B K BE K
VHTARNADRMBEEE R
M ER A AR 980,477,000t (2013
& ANRMEL27,240,0007T) c B R AR
AEHEEERBEAENT A RN
ERR VYEEZCHENATRONG
RKaME T SHIE  WABERR
PR EBFERANEAESHMNTER
T2 A R 849,024,000 (20134 : A
R #21362,000) BEEHIEAE -

Inventories 21. &

Group

AEE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
Raw materials R 322,639 458,200
Finished goods X 178,900 191,233
Work in progress B i 190,117 202,245
Packing materials B K 25,417 26,456
Low value consumables KEEMER 828 8,095
717,901 886,229
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22. ES ERR

22. Trade Receivables

Group

AEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®¥T T ARET T
Trade receivables E 5 R 44,679 33,236
Impairment S A (1,181) (1,168)
43,498 32,068

In respect of the trade receivables, the Group has established a
credit policy in place: fixed credits are granted to supermarkets
and the periods range from 60 to 90 days; temporary credits are
offered on a transaction-by-transaction basis to distributor
customers who have been trading with the Group for many years
and have a good trading record and the credit periods range from
10 to 90 days. Special credit is granted to creditworthy distributor
customers when the Group promotes certain lines of products. All
the credits offered are unsecured. Full advances are required for
sales to other customers. The Group regularly reviews the aged
analysis of the trade receivables to monitor the credit exposure.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provision, is
as follows:

REZGERURNES  AEEEAE
BEHBE: mMBRMmIZREEN F0EN
BRETEEE: AR XLZNERRA
HAEERFILZFEEEROIRBAE
BRMLHEBEFRME N 102908
MEREE - WAEEHEX RS E
M ERARFNEHEERL I ESRE
AEE - FiEEENBERIFREFEE -
HETHMNRFZEREZ2HEN
Ko AEETHERNE S ERTNE
B NEREERR -

P HIR - A F0RR B RO IR UUR R
REZAHOREOMAOT

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARBEFIT

Within 3 months =@ A UK 39,024 28,782
3to 6 months =&=~EA 2,543 2,302
More than 6 months NE A A E 1,931 984
43,498 32,068
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22. Trade Receivables (continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

22. EG EW R @)

B HREBERENESHINT

At 1 January

Impairment losses recognised (note 7)
Amount written off as uncollectible

W1 H1H
ERERHRERR (HET)
B A~ BT 42 [2] T it S B KRR

At 31 December

Mm12 A31H

Group

AEE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T AR T T
1,168 883
381 415
(368) (130)
1,181 1,168

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB1,107,000 (31 December 2013: RMB1,168,000)
with an aggregate carrying amount before provision of
RMB1,107,000 (31 December 2013: RMB1,723,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers
that were in default in principal payments or were in financial
difficulties and only a portion of the receivables is expected to be
recovered.

i BEZRUEERRERERE AR
HRIERmAEAESARY1107,0007T
(2013412 H31H : AR #1,723,0007T)
718 B B & 5 e R AT IR M BB
A R #1,107,0007t (2013412 4318
AR #1,168,0007T) °

BERRERZEEERRERAS S H2
MEHRMBRBE2EFERH AR
HifEA — S EAARR A T U@ -
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22. EG EW R @)

YREHABERBEEREREZES
JEU R Z BREC DT AR T

22. Trade Receivables (continued)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables, that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired, is as

follows:

Group

rEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBTT
Neither past due nor impaired 3 K 780 B 3k R (B 33,668 28,782
Less than 3 months past due BE DR =18 A 1,430 —
3 to 6 months past due B =Z X (E A 42 2,302
6 months to 1 year past due BENEAE—F - 186
1 to 2 years past due BH—ZMF - 243
35,140 31,513

BE R 80 B 7 8 O (B 2 FE MR TR D B K
ETRERNNEFAR REEOH
I 48 #6 R 5RIA 2 "C 8% °

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there were no
recent history of default.

B HR B I B RE 2 FE W IR )
—UEBUERFER ZFEFEALAR
BABRENRZLE - RIEBERL
B EER/EFTIZFTERRER
BEE SREELEYESEANE
fEMERER R EARATIAZE WM -

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors are of the
opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

SN E 5 8 WK e 8 W AN 55 1 R Bt 05

The amounts due from related parties of the Group included in

the trade receivables are as follows: FIAATE -
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
A fellow subsidiary —XERFAA 2,028 =

Entity significantly influenced XEEZEMEEAEREN

by key management BEATENRF - 1,207
2,028 1,207

PR ERERR 2B RAEGT
AEEXTEZEFPHNBUEEHRE
EO

The above amounts are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.
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23. Prepayments, Deposits and Other 2. AR -HERHEMEW

Receivables N Ig

Group

rEE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR¥ETTT
Prepaid advertising expenses BRI ESRX 3,921 8,263
Prepayments for purchase of raw materials ¥ & & # £} &9 8 < 5% 2,797 1,369
Advances to sales offices HEBER S 7,166 2,694
Value-added tax recoverable FIRMEE 88,574 123,038
Deposit interest receivable & W E B A B 49,261 -
Others HAb 27,062 36,048
178,781 171,412

SIATER 3 B Rk H b B UKRIA K
FEUS BEEE 7T SRR T ¢

The amounts due from related parties included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are as follows:

Group

rEE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
A fellow subsidiary —XERFRA 4,674 =

Entities significantly influenced XEESREBASRM

by key management BEATZENAR 162 54
4,836 54

L EBRHSEERLLE  REE
EERBH -

The above amounts are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
have no fixed terms of repayment.
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24 EthEmEE

Group

rEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR T T

Commercial bank wealth RERTHMZREEmMI)

investment products (i) 1,139,964 444,508
Trust plan investment {ji) fEEsr BIIR & (i) 150,000 —
1,289,964 444,508

(i)

(i)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’'s commercial bank
wealth investment products were mainly financial products
purchased from banks with good credit rating and were
stated at fair value with expected annual interest rates of 2.8%
to 6% (2013: 5.1% to 5.8%). These investments were
acquired with original maturity of one month to one year and
were not allowed to be withdrawn prior to the maturity date
without the banks’ consent.

During 2014, the Group, as one of the beneficiaries, invested
RMB150,000,000 in an unit trust plan set up by a subsidiary
of the Company’'s indirect shareholder who can exercise
significant influence over the Company, a related party of
the Group. The Group's investment in the unit trust plan has
an expected maximum return of 9.5% per annum and the
maturity date is within 1 year, but the principal and return of
the investment is not guaranteed. The funding of such unit
trust plan was used in investment in a property development
company.

As at 31 December 2014, other financial assets amounted to
RMB?200,000,000 were pledged to issue the Group's letter of
credit (31 December 2013: Nil).

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

R2014F12A31H KAEENRE
X¥BRTHEREERTEANRR
THEEFLENRTEEL R
AAEBEIENEBE®R B
B FE F R 528%% 6% (20134 :
5.1%Z%58%)° B LK E A — (@
AR — 5 AR HREERT
MEERBEE -

R2014F AEB(EAZEA
2 — ) BA A B % 150,000,000 7T ¥
AN R R R (e A A A
HMERFE)N TR (KEH
B REEE ) B A — B EAL{E T
ABIETERE AEBEREMNE
A EMBRENBYE RS EFE
BEFEIS% —FRIE B
S FEFRYERE - ZBEMER
EMNESHARKEE —REH
ERZEAR-

R2014F 128318 KEE AH
EHACHEMEREMERE
E A K 200,000,000 (20134
128318 : ) -
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25. Cash and Bank Balances and Other Deposits  25. f& SRBTEHEBREME

FA
Group
rEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARET T
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREZEEY 239,542 611,384
Pledged deposits with banks PR I HY R 1T 77 3K 151,351 192,311
Time deposits with maturity of more FHBE A=A LN
than three months FHFER 560,000 526,887
950,893 1,330,582
Less: Short-term pledged deposits for o SRTTREE 2 72 B
banking facilities RBSFEK 151,351 42,311
Less: Long-term pledged deposits for W RITELE 2 R EA
banking facilities RBEBFK — 150,000
Less: Long-term bank deposits W REISRITER — 327,887
Cash and bank balances L NBITESR 799,542 810,384
Group
rEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Cash and bank balances I8 & MIRTT 4 5R
and other deposits R H Ath 77 5K 950,893 1,330,582
Cash and bank balances AT E®.IENR SR
denominated in: RITHEER
— RMB — AR 796,851 1,302,267
— Other currencies —HE% 154,042 28,315
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25. Cash and Bank Balances and other deposits 25. & RSB TE B R HEM 1z

(Continued) ESY (&)
Company
KA F]
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ Tt AREET T
Cash and bank balances B4 RIBTER 625 2,196
Cash and bank balances LATR %I & ¥ 51 {8 /)
denominated in: He MIRITHEE
— RMB — AR 4 1,467
— Other currencies —HEi gk 621 729

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. As at 31 December 2014, the effective annual interest rates
of short-term time deposits are approximately 3.08% to 4.675% (31
December 2013: 2.28% to 4.125%), which will be due within a year.
The effective interest rates of long-term deposits are
approximately 4.125% to 4.675% which are accounted for as
short-term deposits as they will mature within a year (31
December 2013: 4.675%). The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

Other than certain bank loans secured by time deposits
amounting to RMB150,413,000 (2013: RMB150,000,000), a deposit
of RMB938,000 (2013: RMB42,311,000) was pledged for issuing
letters of credit.

ARBAFFAIERALBASEMBER -
AT - AR AR o BOK B B S BE B IR AR 1)
REE EERNEEERE A&
BEASBERELETIERTHOR
T BARBENSEMER -

WROTHESEBITMBAEFTE R
2014F 128318 BHEHEFERNE
B FI R 4 53.08% F 4.675% (122013
F12H31H :2.28%F 4.125%) @ I #
R—FRIH - RPEHEFAOER
TFRH R BLI25%ELET5% B H
BR—FRESEHREFARSEESRT
FEE (FA201345 128318 ¢ 4.675%) °
RITHERLKEEBETRNIPEED
B EERITMRITHET -

BRTHETROEREABTHER
A K #150,413,0007C (20134 : A R
#150,000,0007C ) EITHER BB A
R #938,000 T 77 ;X (2013 F : A R &
42,311,0007) H1E A H A E A B MR
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26. Trade Payables 26. ES EIR

REEAH AEEREEXZA NN
EHRNKOKRESINAOT

An aged analysis of the Group's trade payables, based on the
invoice date, as at the reporting date is as follows:

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARET T

Within 3 months =8B AR 198,243 308,525
3 to 6 months —@EA=ZENEA 34,061 34,226
More than 6 months NE A A E 2,168 3,718
234,472 346,469

The amounts due to related parties included in trade payables are
as follows:

5N 5 B8 3K 4 FE 1 B 7 ) 50O
m -

Group

rEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBT T

Entity significantly influenced REESREEABEM

by key management BEAXERNRA 306 409
A fellow subsidiary —XERFRA 20,128 —
20,434 409

Trade payables, including amounts due to related parties, are
non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one month
to three months.

B2RNR BRENBERSTOR
B RTHEE—RR—EBAZ=M@
HARERE -
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27. HtERN R R ESTER

Group Company
rEH KAF
2014 2013 2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
izt | ARB TR | ARBT T | AR TR | ARETT
Advances from customers B P FE K 389,397 451,640 - =
Accrued payroll FEEtHr & 77,159 91,531 25 —
Interest payables JE 1~ %1 B 14,673 8,928 — -
Other tax payable H h & < B¢ 18 8,926 55,201 — —
Advances from local #h 5 B & K (i)
government 33,500 33,500 — —
Guarantee deposits WERE &)
RiE 2 47,597 40,227 — —
Customer loyalty program &P Bt 2 (ii) 13,203 — — —
Amounts due to subsidiaries &+ A &) LIHE — = 11,088 11,088
Others Hi (iii) 89,956 112,194 440 —
674,411 793,221 11,553 11,088
The amount due to a related party included in other payables and I N E b FE T sRIBFI R 5T B A BN FE
accruals is as follows: BAHE 7 A RIEAT
Group Company
rEE NN
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMTR | AR¥TIT| ARWTR | ARETR

Entity significantly influenced ¥ & 54 & &

by key management ABEINEXR
pEHAT ~ 16 —~ -
(i) Asat31 December 2014, a loan of RMB30,000,000 was from ()  MR20145F12R8318 - XK B E &
the People’'s Government of Ying County (31 December 2013: AR B A K %230,000,0007T
RMB30,000,000), which bore a fixed interest rate of 5.76% & 2 (201312318 : AR

per annum and was secured by Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co.,
Ltd.’s plant and machinery (note 14). There were no fixed
repayment terms for the advances as at 31 December 2014.

30,000,0007T ) © ¥ & & F F %
5.76%5t B - I LA 1L 78 3 £+ A 2L
XERRAINME R EHRA
(M 3E14) - 2014512 A31 8 %
LG E E B KA o
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27. HENRREFTER @

27. Other Payables and Accruals(continued)

(i)  Customer loyalty program i) EPFAHEE
Group
rEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBT T
At 1 January Rn—H—H —_ =
Additions N 73,401 —
Recognised as revenue during the year & R E R U A (60,198) —
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 13,203 -

(i)  Others mainly include construction cost payables.

The above amounts, including those due to related parties, except

bt FRR

HMETEBEEMNTER-

BREEERNBER N WK

T BEREEZARBIEHARE
30,000,000t 2 E RN BEEE - &
BEREETERS-

for the loan of RMB30,000,000 from the People's Government of
Ying County, are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have no
fixed terms of repayment.

28. pTEEMIT A

28. Derivative Financial Instruments

Group

FEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREF T

Forward currency contracts and EHEINES AR

currency collars i) ANEE TR BR A A1) 2,027 —
Interest rate swaps (ii) MEG S R (i) 7,618 —
9,645 —
Portion classified as non-current DERIERDE D 7,618 —
Current portion mE B 2,027 —
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28. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

The fair value of these derivative financial instruments are
determined by Westpac Bank, the counterparty of these hedge
arrangements, and reviewed by the directors of the Company,
based on contract value with reference to the forecast LIBOR and
exchange rate of USD against NZD.

(i) Forward currency contracts and currency collars — cash
flow hedge:

Forward currency contracts and currency collars are
designated as hedging instruments in respect of forecast
future contractor payments from October 2014 to June 2015
for the construction of Yashili New Zealand’s plant in NZD,
to hedge the cash flow change associated with foreign
exchange rate of USD against NZD. The balances of forward
currency contracts and currency collars vary with the levels
of expected construction payments and changes in foreign
exchange forward rates.

(i) Interest rate swap contracts — cash flow hedge:

Interest rate swap contracts, which start from September
2014 and mature in August 2017, are designated as hedging
instruments in respect of future interests of Westpac Bank's
bank loans with floating rates at one month LIBOR, to hedge
the cash flow change associated with LIBOR's change
during the period. The balances of interest rate swap
contracts balances vary with the levels of expected
withdrawal of bank loans.

Since the nominal amount of the forward currency contracts and
currency collars match the terms of the construction payment
commitment and the terms of interest rate swaps match the
terms of bank loan agreements, the hedged ratio is determined at
1 to 1. The main sources of ineffectiveness include counterparty’s
non-performance risks, which is considered to be insignificant. As
at 31 December 2014, a net loss of RMB8,388,000 was included in
the hedging reserve as follows:

S 17 8 B R R B 5F ()

31 December 2014 20149F12H831H

8. fTE€®mIAwum

BUEHRFINRZHFRAMEA
KFEFRT RREFAEBVLL2ETH
S LIBORM X JT3L ¥ PO W T [E Ry &
FHNERFEHELTETAENRA
BE -ARANEECEZLARA
BfE -

() ZEHSMNES KO RIME ETRE A
- ReREEH:

AEBBRIBINESG O RINE £
TRANETANT OB LEE
H) T8 5T 7R 2014910 A £20154F 6
ARFaME IRMEZLTLEIMRK
MESHTE  UREBHAFZTEH
TREMERELLMERNRS
MELH - RHINE S L RINE
ETRAELONREERE A TER

= 1 #0101 A A S ¢ 2 )
ML -

(i) FMEEHRAH-RSREEH:

AEBEEERBRA2014F9 A
E17FSANFETE B E AR
TE /4 B¢ S8 K FI| g8 75 K ¥ SR 1T
BEARFIEE—EAR fmFZEF
B X ERE R K ERRE K
FEBHENER TR  UEEE
LIBOREESHMERNIRES MEE
o FIEXFIBE LM R TEH
EBEXNIERSEOESHMEL -

ARERNEEAOREERE FTR
MEESHEEEINRERENEKRE
HEA RA Ris HAIEREIRETER
W IEREHE S - B2 O 4R
EAI: 1 - ERHEREZRERR S
HANTBHORE  ZER KRBT
B A R2014F12A318 » B F5
A K #8388,0007T B 5 A ¥ 5 f 8 -
EIRUNNE
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28. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

28. TTEE€® T B

Group
rEH
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB"000
AR®T T ARET T
Total fair value losses included SAAEHRENAAEE
in the hedging reserve BEBRKAE 13,032 —
Deferred tax on fair value losses (note 20) EE N 7 E{EE B8k HEH
B 3 XE A5 78 (B &£ 20) (1,816) —
Reclassified from other comprehensive HEMGZEREFENEE
income and included in construction EETRE
in progress (3,387) -
Deferred tax transferred to construction  #& iE %{ T 88 7% %= £ 12 T 72 (Fff 5% 20)
in progress (note 20) 559 —
Net losses on cash flow hedges RenEEHFEK 8,388 -

No ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss that arises from the
above cash flow hedges in 2014.

Details of hedge instruments and hedged items are as below:

BmE RS R EE AN E S
30 & AT A 20146 9 35 o

ENTARKERNBBRAAWT :

Fair value

or cash flow

Nominal changes for

amount/ Carrying effectiveness

Balance amount Accountname measurement

STEA MM

FFAAAREE

ZEEHE EHREL

EREE REE BRERNEB REEH

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTT AREET T AR T

Forward currency contracts & BRHNE S 4 & 367,140 2,027 Derivative 2,027
and currency collars SNEE £ TR Financial
=) Instruments
mESMT A

Forecast foreign currency TEEAMNIE S 367,140 N/A N/A 2,027
payment (T@EA) A3 A

Interest rate swap contracts ~ F| R F 4 %) 764,875 7,618 Derivative 7,618
Financial
Instruments
mESmIA

Floating interest bank loans /% &) F & $R 1T 764,875 621,163 Interest- 7,618
&K Bearing Bank
Loans

HERITRER



HErMERZERERAS 2014FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

S 1 Bl 55 ¥R 2% Pfif 5T ()

31 December 2014 20149F12H831H

o A /=
29. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans 29. G EWITHER
Group N EE
As at 31 December 2014 As at 31 December 2013
M2014512H831H R2013%12A31H
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB’'000
BEAER(%) DHEE ARETT | ERFER% DHER ARETT
Current B
Short term bank loans: G HIRTTE R
— Pledged loans —BERER LIBOR+0.85 to 2015 141,431 LIBOR+0.70 2014 154,464
(Z) LIBOR+1.3
Non-current R
Long term bank loans: RHRTER:
— Guaranteed loans —ERER LIBOR+1.55 2017 152,976 — — —
— Guaranteed and — R A LIBOR+1.65 2017 468,187 — — —
secured loans R
— Pledged loans —EHER - — — LIBOR+0.85 2015 47,084
621,163 47,084
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARET T
Bank loans denominated in RITER
— UsD — AETFE 762,594 201,548

As at 31 December 2014, a bank loan with an approximate amount
of RMB152,976,000 (31 December 2013: Nil] was guaranteed by
Yashili International Group Ltd. ("Yashili (Guangdong]”).

As at 31 December 2014, a bank loan with an approximate amount
of RMB468,187,000 (31 December 2013: Nil) was guaranteed by
Yashili (Guangdong), and were also secured in the form of a
General Security Agreement over all the assets of Yashili New
Zealand as at 31 December 2014 equivalent to RMB985,640,000.

Certain bank loans with an aggregate amount of approximately
RMB141,431,000 (31 December 2013: RMB140,974,000) were
secured by a time deposit amounting to RMB150,412,788 (31
December 2013: RMB150,000,000).

As at 31 December 2013, a bank loan with an approximate amount
of RMB60,574,000 was secured by commercial bank wealth
investment amounting to RMB64,000,000.

MN2014F 128318 A ABARK

152, 976000%(2013&12)% 3NH: E)
MEETTEFXAETHNEREEFRA

T(Fﬂﬁiﬂ(fﬁﬂ)zﬁﬁ%ﬁ°

MR20145F 128318 EEH A ARE
468,187, 000%[2013¢12H31 H: Z)HW
RITERBETFERIETER
Hﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ%aimmiuﬂma
{Eﬁzﬁi‘%/\ﬁﬁz%ww,ooo%ﬂ@%%
é@)‘é# BRBWHE T AEERZ

o

i )T}
3‘3

— LB SR KX A AR 141 431,0007T
(20135128318 : A KR % 140,974,000
J0) HI SR 1T B FRA A R #5150,412,788 7T
(20134124318 : A K % 150,000,000
JC) B HiTE FGE TR -

M2013FE12 A31H » & %E %

60,574,0007C #) iR 17 B X A

6400000075&’7%%%&17%%? & E MW
AT -
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30. Deferred Income 30. iE i Wz

Group rEHE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
As at beginning of the year FORER 12,085 18,627
Amortisation for the year &N E (4,688) (6,542)
As at end of the year FRE 7,397 12,085
Deferred income mainly represented the government grants BLEWG T EZERERBETME LA
received for the acquisition of a new plant and for certain TERMEIFIEREERERERERS
technical innovation and production line expansion projects. WBN#H - ZEHmBREHBEEN
These grants are deferred over the useful lives of the relevant AR A FHANIEE ARR - 020145 7
assets and the amount recognised as other income and gains in RREMBARKZ  eER/RARK
2014 was RMB4,688,000 (2013: RMB6,542,000). 4,688,0007T (20134 : A KR # 6,542,000

JT) e
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31. Share Capital 31. A&
Company AR
2014 2013
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
i 17 2 B H{E &5 & B HE
Notes ‘000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB'000
Ffd = TR AR®Tx T AR®EFTT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of FE®mEIIERL ()
HK$0.1 each FOREREi) 10,000,000 861,600 10,000,000 861,600
Ordinary shares, issued 2% T B&Z
and fully paid: ZER
Shares issued upon REHARET (ii)

a reorganisation Colign) 100 9 100 9
Capitalisation issue B AT (iii) 2,925,900 251,364 2,925,900 251,364
Shares issued FERRGDEE (iv)

by share offer BTG 574,000 49,312 574,000 49,312
Shares repurchased R 20114 (v)

in 2011 & 7 [ i (10,000) (818) (10,000 (818)
Accumulated share REt R R & 32(v)

options exercised 1THE 69,170 5,665 69,170 5,665

At 31 December R12A8318 3,559,170 305532 | 3,559,170 305,532

(i)

(ii)

The Company was incorporated on 3 June 2010 with
authorised capital of 3,800,000 shares at HK$0.10 per share.
As part of a reorganisation of the Group in preparation for
the listing of the Company's shares on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) in 2010 (the “Reorganisation”), the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased to
HK$1,000,000,000 (equivalent to RMB861,600,000] divided
into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each.

On 2 July 2010, as part of the Reorganisation, the Company
issued a total of 99,999 shares at HK$0.10 per share to
Yashili (Guangdong)'s stockholders, equivalent to RMB9,000,
as the consideration to acquire Yashili (Guangdong].

(i)

(ii)

AR R2010F 6 A3 8 & A
3 v A TE IR 7N 43,800,000 %
BEER0I0BTHRD A
NEBER010FBEBERRD A
BOREBBHEIZMERAD
AI([BERFT)) ER ETMETH
BAH(ERDH—BH  HERE
A% 7N 3% Z= 1,000,000,0005% 7T (A &
7 A R #861,600,0007T) © 9 A
10,000,000,000 A% & A% EI{E0.107 7T
HI AL AR o

R2010F 728 tEBEHMN —
o RARRAELHN(ER)E
RHEZRRETE 9999 E
R EEIE TR G - HER
AR®90007T - tEAA R R UEE
HETF (BER)RIEE o
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31. Share Capital (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s shareholders
passed on 8 October 2010, the authorised share capital of
the Company was increased from HK$380,000 to
HK$1,000,000,000; in addition, 2,925,900,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each were issued at par value to the shareholders
of the Company as at 8 October 2010 by way of capitalisation
of HK$292,590,000 (equivalent to RMB251,364,000) from the
Company’s share premium account.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 1 November 2010 ("IPQ”), with a total number
of 3,500,000,000 shares, among which 644,000,000 shares
(18.4% of the total number of shares of the Company) were
issued to the public, comprising 574,000,000 new shares
and 70,000,000 sale shares. The gross proceeds received by
the Company from the IPO were approximately HK$2,411
million.

On 10 June 2011 and 13 June 2011, the Company totally
repurchased its own ordinary shares of 10,000,000 at an
aggregate price (including transaction fee and commission)
of HK$18,728,000 (equivalent to RMB15,538,000), which was
deducted from reserves.

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the
issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the
nominal value of these shares. Pursuant to section 49H of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, an amount equivalent
to the par value of the shares cancelled of HK$1,000,000
(equivalent to RMB818,000) was transferred to the capital
redemption reserve. The premium and transaction costs
paid on the repurchase and cancellation of the shares of
HK$17,728,000 (equivalent to RMB14,720,000) were charged
to reserves.

31. B2 om)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

B IE A A AR E RKR2010F10
SHEBBMNAZER X2aH
& TE A% 7 $8380,0007% JT 1 N =
1,000,000,000/8 7T Lo - FEBYE AR
A A AR 1 5 (B BR 8 78 292,590,000%
JC (HHE A A R B 251,364,0007T) 1
B AR KRN FR20104610F8H 1%
Al {8 A) H A% 2R 3% 77 2,925,900,000 B
FIEEE TR L EAY -

A A AR D R2010F11 A1
BEBZMAMEM(ERARME
& ]) » 48 87/53,500,000,000% + H
AR 644,000,000 8% (15 &= & 7 B 2
BREMI18.4%) AIRARALHEIT:
H & B #£574,000,000 8% ¥ A% &
70,000,000 % 38 & Bz f0 ° A A &l Uk
M B RARBEENFTSRIAR
FE#9/42,411,000,0007 7T °

2011456 8108 & 201146 A13
H AR aHEOoBEEESFHNER
A% 10,000,0000% @ 2 EK (&5 F &
& N A& ) 418,728,000 JT (48
B AR #15538,0007T) 0 I B
REEERR -

CERMDEWEHE MAR A
HEBITRAINE A ER X Z
EOBERONEEBE - KBED
NGB FEOHEE » EHERH
& T {&1,000,000%8 T (HE AR
#818,000 7T ) 8 A % 17 [0 B8 % 15
FR oo Bt [ B8 KA 8H IR0 BT 2 AT 9
B &R 5K A 17,728,000 JT
(% B AR ¥14,720,0007T) 2 £
EER R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

32. Reserves

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page 96 of the financial statements.

S {7 Bl 75 ¥R 22 0 5T (@)

31 December 2014 20149F12H831H

32. & 1E
(a) "&EH

REBE 5 BIE = 2014F & 20134F
NRANBLEFENFESBERE
FEE2NNNUBHREREICEE D
R BEK -

Company (b) A2
Capital Share
Share Share redemption Contributed Translation option Retained Total
capital  premium reserve surplus reserve reserve earnings equity
B
BA  RGOEE #E HBRH EXFERE RERE RKREEFN ERLH
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTRL AR%TT ARETT ARBTR
(i) (ii) (iv) [note 33) (note 11)
(MFE33)  (BMEEE11)
At 1 January 2013 R2013F1 518 302,601 1,682,341 818 1,449,863 (238,850) 15,623 (2,224) 3,210,172
Total comprehensive FRNEE R
income for the year FGk ] = = - - (69,036) - 400,691 331,655
Dividends approved EFRFIH B
in respect of
the previous year — — — — — — (402,432) (402,432)
Shares issued for exercise 153 174
of share options 2,931 35,188 — — — (6,818) - 31,301
Special dividend e A 80 55 Rl
approved (vi) fi% S (vi) — (1,005,371 - = = = —  (1,005,371)
Equity-settled PR 45 B AR 1
share-based payments X FR 5% - - - - - 6,409 - 6,409
Transfer of share option ~ EEUH MR Z17
reserve upon R E
the cancellation of it
share options — — — — — (15,214) 15,214 —
At 31 December 2013 20134
12A318 305,532 712,158 818 1,449,863 (307,886) = 11,249 2,171,734
Total comprehensive FR2ENE
income for the year FLk) — - — - 22,184 — (6,670) 15,514
Dividends approved EERFHE
in respect of
the previous year - (131,333) - - - - - (131,333)
At 31 December 2014 R 20144
12A31H 305,532 580,825 818 1,449,863 (285,702) - 4,579 2,055,915
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32. Reserves (continued)

(b) Company (Continued)
Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses
over the par value of the shares issued has been credited to
the share premium account of the Company. Under the
Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in
the share premium account of the Company are distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Contributed surplus

As part of the Reorganisation, the shareholders of Yashili
(Guangdong) transferred their equity interests in Yashili
(Guangdong] to Yashili (HK) on 2 July 2010. A contributed
surplus of RMB1,367,204,000 was resulted from these
transfers for the purpose of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

In addition, for the purpose of the Company's financial
statements, a contributed surplus of RMB1,449,863,000 arose
from the issuance of shares by the Company in exchange for
the equity interests in the subsidiaries held by the
shareholders of these subsidiaries pursuant to the
Reorganisation.

PRC statutory reserves

PRC statutory reserves were established in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles of
association of the Company's subsidiaries in the PRC.
Transfers to the reserves were approved by the board of
directors.

Translation reserve
Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange

differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

32. R )

(b) &A T @)
I 3

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

P A4 (B

AT (FORR AR AR 3277 B 32 1A
HEHTRAMENRED
AR A E D i (B B o R
MEHERREEERT) A
AABAGERNE S A DK
FTARAIRR - HEEBEZED
KA EBHIE  RARAREE
HEEERBEERBERESD
FHZER -

BERas

R20106 7828 £ B E 4
B— 2 FEEH(ER) &R
MREEEERETF(ER)
ME=EERBELTNET S
AEBTEEHUMBHRERPHE
ZEHREELEBRBARE
1,367,204,000 7T °

o RAR R HK G
REAARAETRRENSE
RFrAARREFRAFEA
MEGELEHRRBRARYE
1,449,863,0007T °

o BDE E R

REDAERE I REABSE
BRARERARARAFEF
RAMEBEERAANRTL - [
RENERDESENESES
HEAE -

BE 34 % 48
BEREEEEBRE BN XS

B B 75 3R R T E A RO P A INE
ER e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)
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32. Reserves (continued)

(b) Company (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Share options exercised (v)

During the year ended 31 December 2013, pursuant to the
Company's share option schemes (note 33), share options
were exercised to subscribe for 36,224,090 ordinary shares in
the Company at a consideration of HK$38,688,000 (equivalent
to RMB31,301,000), of which RMB28,370,000 was credited to
the share premium account. RMB6,818,000 has been
transferred from the share option reserve to share premium
account. After the cancellation of 52,088,266,000 shares of
those unexercised options acquired by the Offeror Parent (note
33), there were no unexercised share options pursuant to the
Company’s share option schemes as at 31 December 2013.

Special dividend approved (vi)

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the directors
recommended a special dividend of RMB28.25 cents per
ordinary share, which amounted to RMB1,005,371,000.

32. R )

(b) &R T @)
BsE : (48)

31 December 2014 20149F12H831H

Bt X A4 174

B ZE20135F12A31B IEFE -
B R & AN X R B9 RORE &t &1 (B
FE33) T M ALK - 5l R E
36,224,090 & A A & i@ A%
K {8 /38,688,000 7T H &
» A K #31,301,0007C - A
A K # 28,370,000t 5 A B 19
B - AR %6,818,000T B B
Bfn < B E B E RO
B EEHARBERRITEDN
52,088,266,000 1% HA 42 12 (Bff &
33)  BLE2013F12A318 - 2
ERBE DA RIS BT
MR ERERE -

5 B B B BB

B ZE2013F12A31R IEFE -
EEZRREFHIRESRE
BIRARK2825D BeER
A E#1,005,371,000 7T °
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33. Equity-Settled Share-Based Payment B.REEEROGIARS

Yashili (Guangdong) adopted a share option scheme on 1 January
2009 (the 2009 Employee Share Option Scheme”] to invite certain
eligible participants to take up options (the "2009 Employee Share
Options”) to subscribe for the shares of the to-be-listed company
at an exercise price of RMB0.85 per share. Totally 9,360,000 share
options were granted and 2 directors of the Company and 148
employees of the Group accepted the 2009 Employee Share
Options.

On 1 August 2010, Yashili (Guangdong) further granted 3,597,600
share options (the 2010 Employee Share Options”) to 31 eligible
employees of the Group for subscribing shares of the Company at
an exercise price of RMB11 per share (the "2010 Employee Share
Option Scheme”). Both the 2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options
will be forfeited when the grantee ceases to be an employee of the
Group for reasons other than death, illness or retirement.

The 2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options originally granted by
Yashili (Guangdong] to the grantees were exchanged into the pre-
IPO share options of the Company on 8 October 2010. Accordingly,
12,957,600 share options under the 2009 and 2010 Employee
Share Option Schemes were converted into 94,975,662 share
options of the Company with substantially the same terms and
conditions, except that the respective exercise prices were
adjusted on a proportionate basis, being RMBO0.11 in respect of
the 2009 Employee Share Options and RMB1.84 in respect of the
2010 Employee Share Options. The conversion of the share
options was considered as a modification which did not result in
any incremental value in respect of the fair value of the share
options at the date of modification. Each of the pre-IPO share
options has a vesting period of two months to fifty months,
commencing from the listing date. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company and
is settled gross in shares.

On 29 August 2011, the Company further granted 48,148,214 share
options (the “2011 Employee Share Options”) to 39 eligible
employees of the Group for subscribing shares of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$1.5 per share (the “2011 Employee Share
Option Scheme”). The 2011 Employee Share Options will be
forfeited when the grantee ceases to be an employee of the Group
for reasons other than death, illness or retirement.

W+ F(EE) R2009F1 818 % 49
12 B B8 % 4 51 21 ([ 2009 4F 12 B B8 A% 42
ED) UBRERTHAERKRSESE
ERENRE([2009FRBREBERE])
NIRRT EESRARBSSTTRE B
FETRARIMNKRG - BE B RER
9,360,000 * FAA QA B/ 2 = = K& A
EE N 148518 BEM2009F & BB
-3

L FCER) R2010FE8A8 18 #
—$HMAEBENZAEREER N
3,597,600 % A% #E ([ 20104 1€ 8 B %
D URTEESRAREIN TR
BAQA /KRGS ([20104F 8 8 BB I
5T 21 1) o 20094 }20104F (& 8 B8 A% 4%
R AERZ AR S - BREKEKRIA
NN EBRTBABANEENESKE
9{0

L (ER) R R FF AR /2009
F 2010 & B BE R 2010610 A
SHERBAARANB A AAEE
A B8 A% #E o & Itk - 2009 4 K 20104 &
BB EITE T 8912,957,60017 BE iR
BRBRBERGRARGHEL R A
94,975,66217 728 A B H B AX #E - AR 8
T TR B F LA 8 2 - 20094 &
EfEkEAEAR®INIT  M20104F
EEBREAARBKIS8IIT - KA
IREWRIE—IBIBE]  ZIEFTALTE
BEBEREA L EBERES B E®
BEZM - SEXAFMABEEABERE
MEEHE LR ERM@EAEZER +
BATE - SERERL TIHEEAEF
REBARR — T BRI AR D EE
4= o

AN QA R2011FE8H29H #E — F R A
SBHE EEREE KT 48,1482141H
ERE(20NFREBRE] iR
TEESRISBTREBARDRNRG
(20nEFEREBBREE]) 20115
EEBREHBERAZARGH B
B BRIRUINNERTBEAAEED
EEREL-
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33. Equity-Settled Share-Based Payment WBW.RELEROGZINAREZ @
(Continued)
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share 20144 20134 12 A 31 A B8 Ik #E 1) &
options as at 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows: B RMEEHITEENT
2014 2013
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number of | exercise price Number of
per share options per share options
&R in#E i IR R & & pn#E 5 A 1
FPTEE Eg= FEITEE %A
RMB RMB
AR AR
At 1 January M1ATRA — — 0.80 91,010,740
Forfeited during the year ~ ZAN4F R EE 1T - — 1.01 (2,698,384
Exercised during the year ~ AR 174#E — — 0.93  (36,224,090)
Cancelled during the year ~ ZREBUH R 1TH#E — — 1.01  (52,088,266)
At 31 December W12 H31H — — — =
The Group recognised an expense of RMB6,409,000 in 2013 (note 7), R2013F - K & mRARK
including an expense of RMB3,305,000 in respect of 52,088,266,000 6,409,000 (FIsX7) A - HAp B
share options cancelled by China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FERPBESREIEER D EEE M
as an acceleration of vesting. There were no unexercised options R AT ¥ #952,088,266,000 17 HA # i 0 iR
pursuant to the Company’'s share option schemes mentioned B E R A K®33050007T R
above as at 31 December 2013, the balance of the share option 2013 12A31H  EEREBE AR RE
reserve of RMB15,214,000 was transferred to retained earnings. M ETHOREREE  ARK

15,214,000 C IR R HARE B E 8 A Z{R
BRE -
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34. Disposal of Subsidiaries

(i)

Disposal of Yashili (Zhengzhou)
Nourishment Co., Ltd.

On 5 January 2014, two subsidiaries of the Group, Yashili
(Guangdong) and Yashili International Group Limited (“Yashili
(HK)") (together, the “Seller”) entered into an equity transfer
agreement to sell 100% of the equity interests in Yashili
(Zhengzhou) Nourishment Co., Ltd. ("Yashili (Zhengzhou)’]
to Aspen Ventures Ltd. (the "Purchaser’],
founded by China Mengniu Investment Co., Ltd.,
subsidiary of the Company's holding company, and
WhiteWave Hong Kong Ltd., a third party, for a consideration
of RMB376,655,000, payable in cash by the Purchaser to the
Sellers on the date of completion of the Transaction.

which was
a fellow

On 18 February 2014, the Company’'s shareholders have
approved the related proposal in an extraordinary general
meeting. On 2 April 2014, the transaction was completed
and Aspen Ventures Ltd. started to control Yashili
(Zhengzhou)'s operating activities.

6. BEF L

(i)

BEEMRLTF(EMN) EE
@A R A T

R2014F 1A REB®HM
RTAal HEHA(ER) HEHE
THRBEBEEEABR QA A H
THR(BEB)D)(EBIEF]ETAL
frEERBE RMAPBERSFER
BERAR(—RARFERA
A KR R F 2 &) kWhiteWave
HongKong Ltd. (88 = 77 ) #t A X
YHMAEERARNBEEEKERR
AaEl(TE 7)) & 54 A (E6)
BERABERAD(HELTF(Z
ML) B100% R - REABAR
#376,655,0000c ' HE AR X 5
FHZREABBURESAE S X
(s

|

KX 5 EMN20145FE2 188 B A&
ARBREFHRSARZEBEB R
2014F4 2B AWER H T
WEANBEEEFR QB FAE
5l 7 = F) (BB M) B 48 & TE & o
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31 December 2014 20149F12H831H

3. BB F 28 um)

RKRBARREN LR FRANEE

34. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

The book values of assets and liabilities of the above subsidiary

disposed of were as follows: MBENREEBERAT :
2 April 2014
201448 2H
Notes RMB'000
Bt ARBTT
Net assets disposed of: REFEE:
Cash and cash equivalents e RIBITHE S 7,897
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 14 244,666
Construction in progress EETE 15 83,959
Prepayments, deposits and ERNR - Fek
other receivables H fth & W X I8 87,286
Land use right + b fsF A A 17 44,457
Intangible assets BIEEE 18 3,600
Inventories FE 4,166
Trade receivables Z 5 e WK 984
Trade payables Z S EMNRK (166)
Interest-bearing bank loans T ERITER (40,000)
Other payables and accruals HthENRREER (115,715)
321,134
Satisfied by cash consideration IR & A% E 376,655
Excess of cash consideration over net assets R & ¥ EBEKEEFEE
disposed of B B 595,521
Reclassification of translation reserve to profit & & /&N T QA &) B By INE T &
or loss on disposal of a foreign subsidiary HEEARNRES 9,510
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BEFAEE 5 65,031
The cash inflow arising from above disposal bR EELMNIB L i
is as follows: W
Cash consideration received WEIH R HE 376,655
Less: cash and cash equivalents of the W Ll FARIMES R
above subsidiary ReEEY (7,897)

368,758
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3. EE F 28 @)
i) EEHRTANNEHEREER

34. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(ii) Disposal of Yashili International Investment

Limited

On 26 August 2014, a subsidiary of the Group, Yashili
International Ltd. ("Yashili (BVI)", the “Seller”]) and a related
party of the Group, Zhang International Investment Ltd.
("Zhang International”, the “Purchaser”], entered into an
equity transfer agreement to sell 100% of the equity
interests in Yashili International Investment Limited to
Zhang International, for a consideration of RMB213,445,000,
payable in cash by the Purchaser to the Seller on the date of
completion of the transaction.

On 26 August 2014, the Company's shareholders have
approved the related proposal in an extraordinary general
meeting. On 19 September 2014, the transaction was
completed and Zhang International started to control Yashili
International Investment Limited’s operating activities.

R 2~ 7]

MR20145E8A268 » AN & & ) —
RFRARETFBEEAERA A
(BT#ELEABVI] - [EH]) ER
SENEBS  RKERKEES
RAR(BIREBRE] - TEH]
Rl EEEHTE  RWEKRKH
RHERTFBEBEEERRAQ
AMI00% M E REAARK
21344500070 HE AR HH
B XEBHUNBREREH X
fif o

AR FHR2014FS8H20BHA R
AIREFIARERAZBRB ¥
2014F9R 9B NER F TR -
I B ok 5K B BR 5 46 42 ) 7E o+ I =
B EBR AR EETEE -
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31 December 2014 20149F12H831H

34. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued) 34. BB F 2R
The book values of assets and liabilities of the above subsidiary WEEMELFRARMNEEMERERN
disposed of were as follows: BREEENT
19 September 2014
2014 9H19H
Notes RMB'000
k=g ARBT T
Net assets disposed of: REFEE:
Cash and cash equivalents e RIBITHES 94,321
Construction in progress EETRE 15 6,360
Land use right & Hb 5 A #E 17 86,854
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B 3k « # & K H b & U 3B 12,716
Other payables H A JE AT K (681)
199,570
Satisfied by cash consideration NBEE&REE 213,445
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BEFRARKE 5 13,875
The cash inflow arising from above disposal Ll R B EL£RIE LR A
is as follows: R
Cash consideration received W eIk e B E 213,445
Less: cash and cash equivalents of the B M FRAAINRE R
above subsidiary ) (94,321)
119,124
35. Pledge of Assets 35. EEIK#
Details of the pledged assets are included in note 14, note 24 and FHABREEFERNFE ERNTH

note 25 to the financial statements.

WRMEE14 - B RE24 BB RER5 ©
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36.

37.

Operating Lease Arrangements

As lessee

At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of buildings
were payable as follows:

36. KEHEZHE

EREBEA

RBERE TAREEERERT
BB BRI M R R R K B K
BT

Group rEHE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBTT
Within one year —F K 9,600 10,334
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EERLF(BREEEMSF) 6,226 9,336
15,826 19,670

Commitments 37. A& iE

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note
36, the Group had the following capital commitments as at the
end of the reporting period:

PR aESorF i & S M EAES - R
BEMR  NEBONEARAENT :

7

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBTT

Contracted, but not provided for: BT B REE
Land and buildings BB E MEEY 185,287 550,291
Plant and machinery W AR 11,485 21,510
196,772 571,801

Authorised, but not contracted for: B HEEKRET L
Land and buildings BEREREEY 106,475 422,226

303,247 994,027
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

38. Related Party Transactions

(@) The Group had the following material transactions with
related parties during the years ended 31 December 2014

S 1 Bl 55 ¥R 2% Pfif 5T ()

31 December 2014 20149F12H831H

3. LR Z

(a)

ANEFENE ZE 20144 K 2013412
A31 8 IEFE %R R 7 17 A

and 2013: TEARS :
2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AR¥T ARET T
Sale of packing materials HEBRME (i) 127 1813
Sale of raw milk powder materials HERBED (ii) 1,734 —
Purchase of preserved fruit products B B )R R&E (i) 522 2,133
Purchase of milk powder products BENHE® (ii) 17,203 -
Purchase of starch and sugar, etc. BERD EE (iii) 5,172 —
Rental of property and plant HEMERKE (iv) 3,031 3,031
Entrusted loan and interest income ZEAEZRFE WA (ii) 128,291 —
Provide advisory service REZEARS (ii) 333 =
Purchase of trust plan BERETED (iii) 150,000 —
Purchase of plastic spoons and covers fE & ¥ %152 & & 1 (ii) — 7,560

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
above related party transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms during the ordinary course of business.
The directors have confirmed that the above transactions
will continue in the future.

(]  These represent related party transactions with
entities significantly influenced by key management.

(i) These represent related party transactions with fellow
subsidiaries.

(i) These represent related party transactions with a
fellow subsidiary of the parent’s main shareholder.

(iv] This represents a related party transaction with an
affiliate of a close family member of a director of the
Company.

ARAEERR ALBEBT X

ZIm— REEGET > L HE

BEREGRETET EFCHE

RNEXRZHENRRAEE

T

)] REIEZSHREBAER
MEKRFEN R B R R B
R

(] BRERRFAIARKEET

%5

il AESEVBANHEE
S EE NG T
ELE

(iv) BREARR-REZNEA
FLH) B BB~ ) A BE B 5 A2
%0
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38.

39.

Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties
Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are
set out in notes 22, 23, 24, 26 and 27 to the financial
statements.

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel of the group
Key management compensation is detailed in note 9 to the
financial statements.

* The above transactions also constitute connected transactions as defined in
the Listing Rules.

B.EAEAIRZ @

(b) 2[R TS B9 KB I 4 R
7 B 52 B B U7 R (B A6 4 RE I
WA B WRM E2 23 2>
261227 »

() AEBEFTEEEAEN
B <=
ETBEBABNAMFRRY S
WRMIFES -

* E 32 5 1 8 A T AR B AT 5T RE # B B 22
5o

Financial Instruments by Category 9. REFETHWEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERR SEcRTEAENEBRE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: m
31 December 2014 2014512 H31H
Group Company
rEE XA F
Financial
assets at fair Financial Financial
value through assets at assets at
profit or loss amortised cost Total amortised cost
AR nEE
STEEHSE LU 8% B 28 LA 85 BY 25
STAEBEEHN TER TR
cREE TRMEE a5t cREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T ARBT T ARBTR ARBT R
Financial assets cREE
Trade receivables 2 5 FE WK — 43,498 43,498 -
Prepayments, ER® - He
deposits and K H th g Ui
other receivables I8 — 133,733 133,733 —
Other current H i RE < @t
financial assets BE 1,289,964 — 1,289,964 —
Pledged deposits PR HIRITF K — 151,351 151,351 —
Cash and cash RekBEE
equivalents =) — 799,542 799,542 625
1,289,964 1,128,124 2,418,088 625
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39. Financial Instruments by Category (continved) 39. IR E R - WL T A @)

Financial
liabilities at
fair value Financial Financial
through profit liabilities at liabilities at
or loss amortised cost Total amortised cost
L nEE
STEEHZE LU 8 B 2 8 1595
FAER STEM STEM
NEmeE SREE CEil TREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR AR T AR T AR T
Financial liabilities TRAE
Trade payables B Z RN — 234,472 234,472 -
Other payables H bR
and accruals Bt & A — 185,722 185,722 11,553
Short-term 5 HRET B
Interest-bearing HRIT 18 X
bank loans — 141,431 141,431 —
Long-term REIET R
Interest-bearing |ITE K
bank loans — 621,163 621,163 —
Derivative financial MESHBITE
instruments 9,645 — 9,645 —

9,645 1,182,788 1,192,433 11,553
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39. Financial Instruments by Category (continued)

31 December 2013

Financial
assets at fair
value through

2013128318

Group
ZNE -]

Financial
assets at

9. REAETHEMT A

Company

ZN/NYS)

Financial
assets at

profit or loss  amortised cost Total amortised cost
KA REE
SrEAEED) VA8 84 B AR P83 909N
FFAEE FTEH TR
e EEE TREE & &F TREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARET T ARETF T ARBTFTT
Financial assets cREE
Trade and bills g 5 R
receivables P2 — 32,068 32,068 =
Prepayments, BN Re
deposits and R H Ath JiE U
other receivables E s — 144,515 144,515 —
Other current HhmE & @l
financial assets BE 444,508 — 444,508 —
Pledged deposits PR 6 #R1TFE K - 42,311 42,311 —
Long-term pleged RHEIZ R4l
deposits B 17 K - 150,000 150,000 —
Long-term bank deposits & B4R 1717 3K — 327,887 327,887 =
Cash and cash ReERBESE
equivalents =) — 810,384 810,384 2,196
444,508 1,507,165 1,951,673 2,196
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39. Financial Instruments by Category (continved) 39. HERI B oMW £ B T B @)

Financial
liabilities at fair Financial Financial
value through liabilities at liabilities at
profit or loss  amortised cost Total amortised cost
RRnEE
SFEAHZE I8 12309\ LA B8 8% B AR
FAABED FER FTER
TRAB CRAE &t TRAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T ARET T ARET T
Financial liabilities TEEE
Trade payables B FENR — 346,469 346,469 -
Other payables Hfh N K%
and accruals st B R - 194,850 194,850 11,088
Short-term EHEIET R
Interest-bearing RITE K
bank loans — 154,464 154,464 —
Long-term REIFT R
Interest-bearing RIT B K
bank loans — 47,084 47,084 —

— 742,867 742,867 11,088
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40. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of 40.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’'s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Az nBERR

AEENERMITANREERAAE
E A ABFROURAABENKREE:

Carrying amount Fair value
EREEE DNAEE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2014 2013 2014 2013
2014 F 20134 2014 F 20136
12A31H 12H31H 12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT ARBT T ARETTT
Financial assets SREE
Long-term pledged deposits & Hj# #17 3% — 150,000 — 148,572
Long-term bank deposits ~ RHEIEITER - 327,887 — 322,623
- 477,887 - 471,195
Financial liabilities CRAE
Interest-bearing bank loans STERTER 621,163 47,084 538,378 42,099

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade and

bills receivables, other current financial assets, trade payables,
financial assets included in prepayments and deposits, interest
receivable, and other receivables, financial liabilities included in
accruals and customers’ deposits, interest payables and other
payables and accruals, short-term bank loans approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of

these instruments.

ERHFAEFEHRENRESFED

HARBEEBS

& W

E -EZENXK

WERER S
&FEJ‘I&T%F ﬁﬁﬂulh@]ilﬁﬂ‘ié
CET AR R KRR

% JT%H&Z%U%&ET’@E&TH&ZMEM&%E

8 B B A FE A 3R
THAE MHFERITERNAR
BEEZEFEDEEMAR aRELS

BT ANKEBD

FABERERAREFPATE &
ARETERD

RN R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

40. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of

Financial Instruments (continued)

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to the
management. At each reporting date, the corporate finance team
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the management. The
valuation process and results are discussed with the management
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values.

The fair values of the non-current portion of pledged deposits,
long-term bank deposits, financial assets included in prepayment,
deposits and other receivables, interest-bearing bank loans have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

40.

S 17 8 B R R B 5F ()

31 December 2014 20149F12A831H

TEZAAREBERAD

A

MBEEaENYBEKE
ETERTAAABEFENK
RMEF VHBEREERREEER
ToEGEHmER RAMBEEKD
eI AEENEHYREERAR
HENTEBAEB REHEREEREE
BREMAE - BT P HMNFE YR
T HEBENMEREEEESFT
PR o

EREERBEBENAABENUZIA
BREXZ77 (REAERBFREERIN)E
AIRZ TZAR5EBAK Nl
ERBRBRI AL A AAREE-

AAARRDEEMEREFR KRR
TER GFABMNESR e kEM
EURENEBEE 7S RTEK
MARBEDRBRAMUENR  FER
AT EHANT AR ESH
MEFBPBEHARRR S RENT G
1 -
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40. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of
Financial Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

Group

AREERA
()

éblél%
g
AN

mTHR
BEE
S B [E
%P L

R

=

A
TEALASRBE/MITA

= .
82 -

g
q <

\m]ﬂl

I
>

S

= H
A<
" 5

>
S
N

%

g
>
<P

EBEFAENEE:

t
i

Fair value measurement using
ARBEFENER

As at 31 December 2013
20135128318

Significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3)

ERFAEE
BWAHEB(E=Z%48)

RMB’000

ARET T

Long-term pledged deposits
Long-term bank deposits

RHEMRERK
RHARITER

148,572
322,623

471,195
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40. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of
Financial Instruments (continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

Group

Fair value measurement using

AREEFENER
Significant Significant Significant
observable unobservable observable
inputs inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total (Level 2
BEX BEX ESDN
CIg R THBE A& 22
A BB WARE A BUE
(BE=FH) (B=Z4) a it | (FZE&R)
As at
31 December
As at 31 December 2014 2013
20134
M20145F12A31H 12A318
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR®TrR | AR®TET
Interest-bearing bank loans sFEIRITER 538,378 — 538,378 42,099
Derivative financial instruments 74 &gt T & 2,027 7,618 9,645 —
540,405 7,618 548,023 42,099

During the year,

there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities

(2013: Nil).

AER TREENTRAEBILEK

F—EZERANE_SHHNAALABEE
B o BEINFE=ZZHHEANEL
(20134 : &)
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41.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including
principally interest swap contracts, forward currency contracts
and currency collars. The purpose is to manage the interest rate
and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its
sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
fair value and cash flow interest rate risks, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the senior management of
the Company meets regularly to analyse and formulate measures
to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks. In addition, the
board of directors of the Company holds meetings regularly to
analyse and approve the proposals made by the senior
management of the Company. Generally, the Group introduces
conservative strategies on its risk management. The Group's
accounting policies in relation to derivative financial instruments
are set out in note 2.4 above.

41.

BEBREERERBER

AEEBRTETAINETIESHTA
BREFERTERREMER R
LEReEEBYREEARER - ZFE
MIANTIEENDNREIEEELZS
FEe AKEEAZERAEES
BEETMEMEREERAE ME
ZRERMFA R EKRZENE S EMNR
I8 o

AEBTHENER S  EBEBIEA
REMAN  AHNEAORIEL
TRAW -BEMEBTEEFERAE
£ 2 B TR AR E R B
s -

AEBERMIAEANTIZRRAA
REBEERREERENERR  SMNER
- EERRERBDESER —R
ME ARASREEESEEH AR
CENMEHERK EEAKEE
WA ZEFRR W ARAEFE
EHAREASIMEBERARF TR
EEEBREZMNEZ - —BRME A%
B 0 H | B R R BRENAR ST SRS o AR
SEERTEASRIANSFH RS
RNEXERE24-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

(a) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk
that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. With
its borrowings issued at fixed and floating interest rates, the
Group is exposed to both fair value and cash flow interest
rate risks.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage its
interest rate risk. The Group's interest-bearing bank loans
and short-term deposits are stated at amortised cost and
not revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest
income and expenses are credited/charged to profit or loss
as earned/incurred.

The Group's policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix
of fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this mix in a
cost-effective manner, the Group enters into interest rate
swaps, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified
intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate
interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon
notional principal amount. At 31 December 2014, after
taking into account the effect of the interest rate swap,
approximately 81% (2013: Nil] of the Group's interest-
bearing borrowings bore interest at fixed rates.

If there was a general increase/decrease in the interest
rates of bank loans with floating interest rates by one
percentage point, with all other variables held constant, the
consolidated pre-tax profit would have decreased/increased
by approximately RMB1,414,000 (2013: RMB2,015,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2014, and there would be no
impact on other components of the consolidated equity,
except for retained earnings of the Group. The sensitivity
analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and the Group has applied the exposure to
interest rate risk to those financial instruments in existence
at those dates. The estimated one percentage point increase
or decrease represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period
until the end of the next reporting period.

S 17 8 B R R B 5F ()
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N BKERBREEEERBEK

(&)

(a)

DABEERBEERERNE
0
AAMENEARZESRTA
B {8 {61 6 B 353 52 2 ) 7 ) 3R
HB R - 3R nEREER
RESHIAMKIASRER
R T 45 ) 5 2 BY 7 111 30 B A0
o iR IR EE RIZ BRI
B AEEERALBERR
SREFERR -

AEEBFTHESTEEEE LY
BAENERES AEBEF
KR NEBEFERITERRL
M IR SR A SIME - TR
SEMEM - FBHMERFBWA
& B X R ERER, 5] B A K B
XEFA/ BB -

AN E KB 2T A E E & FE
FEREFBAEANETEEFEMA -
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VAEEH ERAEEEETE
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SEHENBEMZBANERF B S
BB EBES IR R20145F
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41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily on
bank deposits, other receivables, trade payables and bank
loans of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily, the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rate as
compared to the United States dollar and the Hong Kong
dollar with all other variables held constant, of the Group's
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities):

N ERBREEEERBEK

(&)

(b)

Increase/(decrease] in

RMB exchange rate %

SINES [ e
AEBOINERREERE N
SNEBEHE 2 RITER > HiEI
R EBEHRERNRBEAUALRTE
FoRNBEERBARXZ 2NES
TSN EE - S| AR 2 EE
TERBTTRET -

TRINREMABEMEH T T
BEHNERT  ARBRIXTRE
TR BERAEHRMNAEE

(REBEERBRENAAEE
5 B 3 B) Y N & B BAT A B R

B/ 488 .
Fa.

Increase/(decrease)
in profit before tax

AR E * B B¢ AT A
AR % EA/CHBE)
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T AR T T

If RMB weakens against i A R 5,
the United States dollar ExizE (5) 11,945 12,689

If RMB strengthens against W AR X
the United States dollar XTftE 5 (11,945) (12,689)

If RMB weakens against i A R 5,
the Hong Kong dollar BT E (5) (304) =

If RMB strengthens against MARKER
the Hong Kong dollar BT HAE 5 304 —
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41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Exposure to the credit risk is monitored
by management on an ongoing basis.

Details of the Company’s credit policy is contained in note
22 to the financial statements.

Majority of the Group's customers have been trading with
the Group for years and the Group did not record significant
bad debt losses during 2014 and 2013. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of
credit risk of the trade receivables. The top five trade
debtors represented 64.8% of the total trade receivables as
at 31 December 2014 (31 December 2013: 46.2%). All the
trade receivables are due from customers with good trading
record and no impairment allowance is made against these
customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not provide
any other guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 22 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach to manage liquidity is to ensure, as
far as possible, that the Group, as a whole has always
maintained sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when
they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or damage to the
Group’s reputation.

S 17 8 B R R B 5F ()
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41. Financial Risk Management Objectivesand 41. i B EKREEEERBE

Policies (continued) (%)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) 7% 2y 1% & B ()
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at AEESHBEN2014%F k2013
31 December 2014 and 2013, based on the contractual FRANEBMREBBR(ZRER
undiscounted payments, is as follows: AFBENKEFE) AT :
Group rEH
Within
1yearor Tto2 2to5
on demand years years Total
—FRH
RER —ZEWME Z—ZEHF Mt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® ARE AR AR

T T T T
31 December 2014 20145123318
Interest-bearing bank loans &t 2 817 f§ 3K 161,767 132,033 498,077 791,877
Trade payables B 5 ENK 234,472 — — 234,472
Other payables and H th & 5 7 2
accruals EstE R 185,722 — — 185,722
581,961 132,033 498,077 1,212,071
31 December 2013 2013412 A31H
Interest-bearing bank loans &t /2 3R 17 & & 156,153 47,436 = 203,589
Trade payables g 5 R 346,469 - - 346,469
Other payables and H i fE AN 3R &
accruals st & A 194,850 — — 194,850

697,472 47,436 = 744,908
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

(d)

(e)

S 1 Bl 55 ¥R 2% Pfif 5T ()

31 December 2014 20149F12A831H

N BKERBREEEERBEK

(%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) 7% 2y 1% & B ()
Company KA FE
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
20145 20134
12A31H 12H31H
Within 1 year Within 1 year
or on demand or on demand
—FRH —F R
RER BBk
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBTT
Other payables and accruals HEtEMNRNESER 11,553 11,088
Capital management (e) EXREE

The Group’'s objectives for managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group uses different measures including adjusted net
debt-to-equity ratios to monitor its capital. Net debt is
calculated as total loans and borrowings, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position less cash and
bank deposits (excluding frozen bank deposits). Total capital
is calculated as equity holders’ funds [i.e., total equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company), as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

AEBEEREANBERBRER
SEFBENRES  UAKRREHE
EBMATREDR MG &
MR BICE NGB AR KE AKX
7 o

AEEERATRER BFELH
BFEGHEDSLE UERHEE
AR o SFAE R LA B 6 B R AR 3R B
TN B E R A SO R & K IRTT
T3k (1 B ¥R & B IR1T 77 50)
AESL - BEXRNAS I BN
MERATOBRERBEAE S (]
ARARRERB AREBER)

HEBH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conminuep)
S 17 Bl 55 ¥R 2 Pfid 5F ()

31 December 2014 2014%F12A31H

41. Financial Risk Management Objectivesand 41. i B EKREEEERBE

Policies (continued) (&)
(e) Capital management (Continued) (e) EXEHE @)
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AR T T
Interest-bearing bank loans (note 29) B IR 1T 18 FK (P 5% 29) 762,594 201,548
Less: S
Cash and cash equivalents (note 25) He RIReEBY (M:E25) 239,542 611,384
Short-term bank deposits (note 25) 5EHIRIT I R (MF7E25) 560,000 199,000
Long-term bank deposits [note 25) = BARITF R (B RE25) — 327,887
Pledged bank deposits (note 25) R 6 8R 1777 K (B aE 25) 151,351 192,311
Net debt BEFH (188,299) (1,129,034)
Total equity attributable to owners RRRIREREE A
of the Company JElL = R 3,173,762 3,109,964
Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio KRR FESERE X (0.06) (0.36)
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject Eima AR A H ERF R FH

to externally imposed capital requirements. BEXBRPIMNBIEMEEARER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)

42. Events After the Reporting Period

(1)

(2)

On 30 October 2014, the Company, Mengniu International
and Danone Asia entered into the Subscription Agreement
pursuant to which, among other things, Danone Asia has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 1,186,390,074
subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$3.70 per
subscription share. The subscription shares allotted and
issued to Danone Asia will be subject to the Lock-up
Undertaking.

The share subscription has been approved by the Company
Shareholders in an extraordinary general meeting on 28
November 2014.

On 11 February 2015, the Company received all the share
subscription proceeds of HK$4,389,643,273, and Danone
Asia has completed its shareholder’'s register on 12
February 2015.

On 25 March 2015, the Directors proposed a final dividend of
RMB1.57 cents per share. Further details are disclosed in
note 12.

S 17 8 B R R B 5F ()

31 December 2014 20149F12A831H

L2. REHHZEIER

(1)

(2)

2014510 H30H * KA R - 4
BB RIERRDMELT T RER
R EeE D MNE Mg
HRERE BXRQFCKIEHE
A = B 3 K % 171,186,390,074 %
RERD - REERASRRE
% 15 3.707%8 JT o A7) 2 Bt 2 M Ac B
REEITHREBRD X 5 HE &
# HY PR il ©

N2014E1 A28 R ARED
ERRNRBRREREFNAE L
HEAE o

MR2015FE 28118 » KRR 7 U E
% 20 A% 7 7R B8 5X4,389,643,273 7%
JC v #Z R M 201542 5128

ST BB -

MR2015FE3H25H EFE &K
BHRBRESBRARKEISTS -
B RN E12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)
S 17 Bl 55 ¥R 2 Pfid 5F ()

31 December 2014 2014%F12A31H

43. Comparative Figures 4L3. BT
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform ETUREEDNEETRIE UFE
with the current year's presentation. REZEHREA -

44. Approval of the Financial Statements La. #t BT B 3R &
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue EE2 2 R205F3A258 #E K&

by the board of directors on 25 March 2015. T BB RS IR R -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below.

The table below sets forth our summary income statement information

h i Bl

MERLBERYBEBRERAERERZARE
BEIEAVRFEEAMIEE BER
BEMENT -

TR AEERATIHENRERME

for the periods indicated: & x
RMB million ARBEHETT 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Turnover ] 2,954.4 29578  3,655.1 3,890.0 | 2,816.4
Cost of sales HHE A (1,272.6)  (1,419.5)  (1,693.4)  (1,809.9)| (1,371.4)
Gross profit FE A 1,681.8 1,538.3 1,961.7 2,080.1 1,445.0
Other revenue AN 61.2 28.7 37.6 26.2 125.5
Other net (loss)/income Hith (B18) M F58 (0.6) (0.2) (0.4) (0.8) -
Selling and distribution expenses % & 48§45 (957.5)  (1,061.9)  (1,222.7)  (1,393.8)| (1,106.8)
Administrative expenses TR (182.8) (185.5) (202.1) (219.2) (193.2)
Other expenses HAth 5 2 (12.1] (6.6) (15.1) (11.6) (15.6)
Profit/(loss) from operations RN (&) 590.0 312.8 559.0 480.9 254.9
Finance income B 75 W A 11.9 65.1 89.7 108.2 61.4
Finance costs B 75 B R (13.0) (2.7) (2.8) (13.2) (6.7)
Net finance income/(expense) FEEBUWA (B X) (1.1) 62.4 86.9 95.0 54.7
Profit/(loss) before income tax BR BT 15 B4 AT & 7,
(E18) 589.5 375.4 646.3 576.7 309.6

Income tax expense B X (86.3] (67.0) (175.8) (137.4) (60.9)
Profit/(loss) from continuing SEICEEE R

operations (E18) 503.2 308.4 470.5 4393 248.7
Discontinued operation R
Loss from discontinued IR BRI

operation (net of income tax) (F0BR P53 20)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERM/(EE) 503.2 308.4 4705 439.3 248.7
Profit/(loss) attributable to LT ALTDIEEF

(E18) 502.4 306.3 468.5 437.6 248.7

Non-controlling interests FE1E R HE o 0.8 2.1 2.0 1.7 —
Profit/(loss) for the year FE=HMN/(EE) 503.2 308.4 470.5 439.3 248.7
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (coNTINUED)
D F IR @)

The table sets forth our summary balance sheet information as of 31 T 3 & %I A< & & 7 20104F - 20114 ~ 2012

December 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014: F 2013 FE N2014F12A3IEMEEAE
AMEBEER

RMB million ARBEHETT 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Non-current assets EmEEE 992.5 1,039.5 1,568.8 2,129.7 1,747.6

Current assets MENE E 3,488.2 3,604.1 4,001.0 2,386.9 3,181.0

Current liabilities mEEE 696.2 806.3 1,450.9 1,335.0 1,110.9

Net current assets/(liabilities) REEE/(&fE)
FRE 2,792.0 2,797.8 2,550.1 1,051.9 2,070.1

Total assets less current BEERREERE
liabilities 3,784.5 3,837.3 4,118.9 3,181.6 3,817.7
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